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HIGHLIGHTS
e

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—4F

RMB Million RMB Million

For the Year Ended 31 December BE+t-A=+—HLEE ARS¥EERT N RN

Revenue WA 92,593 88,141

Gross Profit EF 32,690 32,390
Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company (2B AR R B HE 5 A% B &)

b 5,303 5,026

Net cash flows from operating activities HEEBEENFTRESRE 8,333 7,545

Earnings per Share (RMB) BRANMARER)

— Basic — &K 1.342 1.274
— Diluted — #E 1.336 1.267
e In 2022, outdoor consumption and consumer traffic in stores * T _—F PINHBISS  KMESER
were impacted by external factors. The dairy industry also HESNHEE  MzEHTEBEERRE
experienced a challenging operating environment and cost TH RERBA LR - RILESRELERE
pressure from the global rise in inflation and raw material MRASENZERE - AEEREHE
costs. Committed to the strategy of “Creating a new (BRI —EFRFIEE HTsEEEER
Mengniu” and the pursuit of high-quality growth, the Group RES - MEREEARERE - ROEARE
proactively confronted the external challenges and BRELAANERIE B EBEKX
demonstrated strong growth resilience in its core EERW > mENERHEN  FEERRBR

businesses. Innovative businesses achieved significant WEEEEER-

breakthroughs. This has resulted in enhanced brand power
and steady, high-quality business growth.

. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the ® BEe-_2-_—_F+-_A=+—BHILtFE"

Group amounted to RMB92,593.3 million (2021: AEBERAAARKEISIEIEIL(ZE
RMB88,141.5 million), representing a year-on-year increase ——F: AR¥S81.415(8T) - HJ:I:J:ﬂ'
of 5.1%. Attributable to various measures to reduce cost 51% ° XN FE A I 'ﬁlﬁ}l&lﬁﬁﬁi?ﬁ &
and enhance efficiency, operating profit of the Group BEEEFBEAARKES4232B L (Z T = —
amounted to RMB5,423.2 million (2021: RMB4,861.6 F: AR%48.616f87T) Htttﬂﬁ 6%
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 11.6%; WEREERAB5I%(ZTE=Z—F :55%) ¢
operating profit margin was 5.9% (2021: 5.5%), IR TT40ES  UHE T - —F TH4F
representing a year-on-year increase of 40 basis points, and FILL A SR A 160E 2 ¢ NN AR AR R B
a significant year-on-year increase of 160 basis points in the EAE R L& 115.5% = A R #53.03018 7T
second half of 2022. Profit attributable to owners of the ZT=—F : AR¥50.255187T) °

Company increased by 5.5% year-on-year to RMB5,303.0
million (2021: RMB5,025.5 million).
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With industry-leading performance during the year, Mengniu’s
global dairy ranking improved to 7th, and it is the youngest
among the top 10 enterprises. The Group also insisted on
pursuing a long-term brand strategy, continuing to maintain
the legacy of the “born to excel” spirit and promoting
Mengniu’s brand awareness and reputation through
important sporting events such as the Winter Olympics, the
Women’s Asian Cup and the FIFA World Cup, further
strengthening the branding power and brand value. In the
2022 Kantar BrandZ™ ranking of the most valuable global
brands, Mengniu’s brand value grew by 15% year-on-year,
ranking first in China’s dairy industry in terms of brand value
growth.

During the year, the Group proactively confronted external
challenges, and focused on promoting product innovation,
brand upgrades and channel development. Revenue from
liquid milk increased by 2.3% year-on-year to RMB78,269.3
million. In particular, Milk Deluxe and Mengniu pure milk as
well as Shiny Meadow fresh milk maintained strong growth,
and the chilled product business maintained its leading
position in the market.

During the year, the Group’s ice cream business recorded
strong growth that outperformed the industry, with a
revenue of RMB5,652.4 million, representing a significant
year-on-year increase of 33.3%. The four major brands,
namely Suibian, Mood for Green, Deluxe and Ice+ focused
on product innovation and upgrades, and successfully
created crossover products such as “Moutai Ice Cream”,
which was well received by consumers and became one of
the hottest products in the market.
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HIGHLIGHTS
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The Group actively capitalized on the growth opportunities
in the cheese industry, with a focus on developing
children’s cheese sticks, casual cheese snacks, domestic
table cheese, butter and specialty cheese products for
professional catering. The Group also collaborated with
Milkground, a leading cheese enterprise in China, to explore
the high potential cheese market in China and globally.

During the year, the Group remained committed to the culture
of quality. Nine of its major product categories have met the
EU standards and the factory of Shiny Meadow obtained
the dual certifications of the Global Food Safety Initiative
(GFSI), demonstrating the Group’s unwavering commitment
to delivering world-class quality products to its consumers.
In addition, the Group introduced the self-developed
“aerospace bacteria strain (fiXE#K)”, and further enhanced
its technologies for improving grass cultivation, cow
breeding and milk production. By implementing the “smart
quality” digital management for the entire industry chain,
Mengniu became the only enterprise in the industry to win
the title of “National Quality Benchmark (ZEIE £1Z18)
during the year.

In 2022, Mengniu unveiled its “GREEN” sustainable
development strategy and the dual-carbon strategic goal,
committing to achieving the goal of “reaching carbon peak
in 2030 and carbon neutrality in 2050”. Mengniu’s
sustainable development strategy and practices received
wide recognition during the vyear. Its MSCI ESG rating
improved to an A grade, the highest rating in the Chinese
food industry, and Mengniu was included as a constituent
stock in major sustainable development indexes such as the
Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index Series for the
third consecutive year.
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT MIX
(FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER)
RMB Million

78,269.3

= /
L
Liquid Milk Ice Cream
TREEY) PR

Annual Report 2022 :gzzfﬁfﬁﬁ“

HIGHLIGHTS
me

BREmBD2BWA
(BE+=A=+-ALEE)
AREEET

76,514.4

]
W
Milk Formula Other Products
Tip HhEm




{1% {
h B

i) 'ﬁ U[
REHAN

- HNBEBHAY




-.______'_- /

———
——
m—

NS

0 /,}L E_m¢
& ——T

-

o

—T 1] 1 JINVDNC




h
% " China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited & ES 49, %5k A 5

UHT Milk and Milk Beverages Fresh Milk
PLANT MAP — A -
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2021911 B TR Ui Burra Foods 8B L 3 m FRt = E it
A raw dairy materials production base in Australia was added after completion of the acquisition
of Burra Foods in November 2021
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MAJOR AWARDS
AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FBEBIRIRIESE

MENGNIU GROUP
Included in the “Global Dairy Top 20" list published by
Rabobank for the fourteenth consecutive year, ranking 7th
globally

—  Mengniu’s MSCI ESG rating was upgraded to A, the highest
rating in China’s food industry

— Based on its “smart quality” practice across the entire
industry chain, Mengniu was honored with the industry’s
only “National Quality Benchmark” title

MENGNIU S BRANDS
Listed as one of the “Most Valuable Global Brands” by
BrandZ™, Mengniu ranked first in the industry in terms of
brand value growth rate

—  Won the “Quality Brand Award” at the People’s Daily Online
19th People’s Quality Awards

—  Won the Most Influential Sports Marketing Brand Award of
the Year of ECO SPORTS (ECOSBEFERAR L NERE &
8 on b £2)

MENGNIU S PRODUCTS
Milk Deluxe Organic won the gold product award at the 34th

BIOFACH Germany (ZEIBR E#E RIEEE) and the 15th
BIOFACH China (BB E# R RiEES)

— “Development and Application of Key Technology of
High-end Milk Ice Cream of Deluxe” won the Second-Class
Award for Technology Progress from the Light Industry
Council

—  Shiny Meadow was awarded the Monde Selection Gold
Award (&R @ EFFE X2 S 48) for 2022

—  Yoyi C won “No. 1 Brand Power in China’s Yogurt Drink
Industry” in the 2022 China Brand Power Index (C-BPI)

MENGNIU’S SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
—  Ranked first in the “ESG Vanguard 50 Index”

—  Won the first “Inner Mongolia Charity Award”

—  Obtained the honorary title of “National Unity and Progress
Demonstration Enterprise”

—  Won the “Green Development Award” at the 17th People’s
Enterprise Social Responsibility Awards

— Received the CDP 2022 Leaping Progress Award

Annual Report 2022 —F - _FF#§{
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z nm - @)f %Jlenges in 2022. External
|srupt|ons to offﬁne channels and consumption scenarios,
coupled with intensifying global inflation and rising raw material
costs, created both internal and external uncertainties in the dairy
dustry. During the year, thanks to the efforts of its entire staff
i the support of its partners, the Group firmly promoted the
ic goal of “Creating a new Mengniu”, actively tackled the
llenges of the general environment, comprehensively reduced
sts and increased efficiency, and achieved high-quality business
growth. Overall revenue, operating profit and operating profit
margin recorded year-on-year increases of 5.1%, 11.6% and 40
basis points, respectively, achieving the operating profit margin
target set at the beginning of the year. In the 2022 “Global Dairy
Top 20” list published by Rabobank, Mengniu’s ranking rose two
places to seventh, reflecting its enhanced global competitiveness.

During the year, Mengniu’s core fundamental business showed
strong growth resilience, its innovative business achieved
important breakthroughs, and its branding, products and channels
recorded excellent performance. In the room temperature product
business, UHT pure milk showed strong growth and Milk Deluxe
greatly widened its competitive advantage, with Mik Deluxe
organic pure milk ranking first in terms of market share. The
chilled product business continued to focus on the recovery of
category value, and has held the top market share in the industry
for 18 consecutive years.

Annual Report 2022 —E - _F £ F
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CEO’S STATEMENT
M

The fresh milk business continued to lead the market as its
profitability improved. Shiny Meadow achieved strong growth that
was significantly higher than the market level, ranking first in high-
end fresh milk and continuing to expand its market penetration.
Its sub-brand, Xiaoxianyu, gained popularity among women and
teenage customers. The ice cream business recorded record-high
revenue and outperformed industry growth levels. Cooperation
with  Moutai Group and Shanghai Disneyland resulted in the
successful launch of best-selling products that were well-received
by consumers. In terms of cheese, Mengniu is seizing
opportunities for rapid growth in children’s cheese sticks, cheese
snacks and butter for both family consumption and professional
foodservice channels, and it has cooperated with Milkground, the
leading cheese company in China, to become the absolute No. 1
in China’s cheese market.

In the milk formula business, Yashili capitalized on the opportunity
of the “New National Standards”, and several of its infant milk
formula products have been approved for formula registration. At
the same time, Yashili continued to enhance the market share
and profitability of its milk formula for the middle-aged, the elderly
and children. Bellamy’s adhered to the brand positioning of
“Pursuing Organic, Naturally Organic” and vigorously expanded its
portfolio of high-end organic milk formulas and complementary
food products for long-term development.
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The Company’s brand building efforts are based on a consistent,
long-term brand strategy. Over the past two decades, Mengniu
has developed and expanded its presence in the field of sports,
achieving great results. 2022 was the “Big Year of Sports”,
featuring highly anticipated and exciting events like the Beijing
Winter Olympics, the AFC Asian Cup and the FIFA World Cup.
Mengniu seized these opportunities to create successful sports
marketing models throughout the year. The organic integration of
the “born to excel” brand spirit with sportsmanship allowed the
Mengniu brand to shine on the international stage, enhancing its
brand awareness, influence and reputation. According to Kantar’s
“Qatar World Cup Top 10 Brand Marketing” list, Mengniu ranked
first in the marketing effectiveness index, surpassing other
internationally renowned brands. Based on the Company’s brand-
building efforts, in the 2022 Kantar BrandZ™ ranking of the most
valuable global brands, Mengniu’s brand value ranked first in
China’s dairy industry with a year-on-year growth rate of 15%. In
the future, Mengniu will continue to surprise the market and
consumers in the field of brand building.

Mengniu is committed to sustainable development and actively
works to meet its social responsibilities. During the year, we
unveiled our “GREEN” sustainable development strategy and the
dual-carbon strategic goal, and committed to achieving the goal
of “reaching carbon peak in 2030 and carbon neutrality in 20507,
giving full play to our role as an industry leader in the field of
sustainable development. Mengniu actively collaborates with global
partners through platforms such as the United Nations Gilobal
Compact to contribute to addressing climate change and other

Annual Report 2022 — 2= —FF#{ F
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CEO’S STATEMENT
M

major ESG issues at home and abroad. Based on its sustainable
development efforts, Mengniu’s MSCI ESG Rating was upgraded
to “A” the highest rating in China’s food industry, and it ranked
first in the “ESG Vanguard 50 Index”. Mengniu was also included
as a constituent stock in major sustainable development indexes
such as the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index Series,
reflecting the wide recognition of Mengniu’'s sustainable
development practices and demonstrating its status as a
benchmark for sustainability in the industry.

Mengniu insists on pursuing independent innovation, focusing on
technological breakthroughs in improving grass cultivation, cow
breeding and milk production. During the vyear, Mengniu
cooperated with China Space Foundation to introduce two
aerospace bacteria strains, opening a new stage of integration
between the food industry and aerospace innovation. In addition,
Mengniu’s continuous project called “EU Benchmark Products”
made new breakthroughs, and its nine major product categories
have all been upgraded to meet EU standards, continuing to
create a world quality benchmark.

2023 marks the third year of the “Creating a new Mengniu”
strategy. After embarking on this strategy and overcoming
difficulties in the past two years, 2023 represents a critical
moment for breakthrough. Although the external environment has
brought many challenges over the past three vyears, the
experience and strength accumulated during the period have
made us more calm, stable and resilient. Furthermore, we are
more clearly moving towards high-quality development of both
scale and profits, with an aim to achieving comprehensive
transformation and upgrade. Looking forward, Mengniu remains
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optimistic about the Chinese economy and the consumption R € W EKE 2GR E  AIFE - Al
power of the Chinese market, and is confident in the sustainable 7 * & {t] A% L ERE)S|ZE - A2 T E— (@
growth that will be enabled by the dairy industry’s nutrition and JHEZZEH  BEBE(LH  FESEH  #ER
health attributes. Mengniu will firmly promote quality growth A X{LEEK - & E (LMW [FIRSTE | im 2 51 KA
strategies and product innovation, capture the growth i 2EERXREG2KHFHOHIE—RILE -
opportunities brought by the recovery of offine consumption S4-EXFHEFHEEFA - 3B H I FE [t
scenarios and strive to return to a strong growth trajectory. With 57 - ABHBEI¥NREAHEEEELEA
“brand, innovation and digitalization” as its core driving engine, EEf °

Mengniu will strive to become the “FIRST Mengniu”, a world-class

dairy enterprise with global competitiveness that is beloved by

consumers, more international, socially responsible, culturally

strong and digitally transformed. Mengniu will firmly promote

industrial upgrade, lead Chinese dairy products into the global

market and make greater contributions to the long-term

sustainable development of China’s dairy industry.

Jeffrey, Minfang LU EHN
Chief Executive Officer B

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023 BE ZTZ=F=H=+hH
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the challenges from the macro environment adversely
impacted outdoor consumption and sales channel operations in
China with declining consumer traffic in stores and reduced
logistics efficiency. Total retail sales of consumer goods in China
across all industries amounted to RMB43.97 trillion, a slight
decline of 0.2% year-on-year. Sales of dairy products were not
immune from this downward trend. Meanwhile, the dairy industry
also faced cost pressure from the global rise in inflation and raw
material costs.

With the strong advocacy of the Chinese central government and
various government departments, Chinese consumers’ awareness
of milk consumption continues to increase, driving continuous
growth in dairy consumption. During the year, the National Health
Commission released the Dietary Guidelines for Chinese Residents
(2022), which recommended increasing the daily per capita intake
of dairy products from 300 grams to between 300 and 500
grams. In addition, the State Council and the Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs have promulgated national policies
such as the Plan to Promote the Modemization of Agriculture and
the Initiative to Improve Competitiveness of The Dairy Industry
under “The 14th Five-Year Plan”. These policies aim to promote
the high-quality development of the Chinese dairy industry by
strengthening the construction of dairy bases, optimizing the
product structure of dairy products, guiding the dairy industrial
chain and supporting the improvement of dairy product
processing, among other aspects of policy support and guidance.

During the year, Mengniu actively responded to the challenging
external environment by strengthening its business fundamentals.
The Group implemented measures to reduce cost and enhance
efficiency. In addition, the Group capitalized on opportunities to
promote consumption upgrade and focused on product
innovation, marketing innovation, service upgrade and channel
expansion. The Group consistently enhanced its products,
branding, services and channels, resulting in steady business
growth. In particular, the Group’s room temperature pure milk
brands, including Milk Deluxe and Mengniu, maintained robust
growth, while the chilled yogurt business remained the market
leader. The fresh milk business division outperformed the industry
in terms of annual sales growth, with Shiny Meadow achieving
rapid growth that far exceeded the market level. The ice cream
business also grew sales at a rate far higher than the overall
industry.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In response to the impact of external challenges on offline
channels and the trend of channel transformation, Mengniu has
taken steps to expand its omni-channel operations and
accelerated the development of new retail channels such as 020
delivery to meet consumer demand for convenient shopping
through multiple channels. With its comprehensive supply chain
and extensive sales channels, Mengniu took the lead in initiating
the new business mode of community group purchase and
secured an uninterrupted supply of fresh milk, satisfying the milk
demand of Shanghai families as a main supplier in Shanghai in
the first half of the year. This initiative significantly enhanced
Mengniu’s brand popularity and reputation in the East China
regional market.

Mengniu insists on pursuing a long-term brand strategy,
maintaining the legacy of Mengniu’s brand IP assets and the
“born to excel” spirit. During the year, Mengniu promoted its
brand awareness, reputation and global influence by focusing on
China’s aerospace development and major international sporting
events such as the Winter Olympics, the Women’s Asian Cup and
the FIFA World Cup, as well as by making use of digitization,
diverse and creative content and resource integration in its
innovative brand communication and marketing activities. In the
2022 Kantar BrandZ™ ranking of the most valuable global
brands, Mengniu’s brand value grew by 15% year-on-year,
ranking first in China’s dairy industry in terms of brand value
growth. In the Global Dairy Top 20 published by Rabobank,
Mengniu rose two places and ranked 7th, distinguishing itself as
the only Chinese dairy enterprise to achieve an improved ranking.

Business Division Performance

Liquid Milk Business

Room Temperature Product Business

In 2022, despite the impacts on outdoor consumption, store
channel and logistics efficiency caused by the challenges from the
macro environment, room temperature pure milk demonstrated
strong demand resilience and maintained satisfactory sales growth
as public awareness of nutrition, health and immunity continued to
increase during the year.
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In 2022, Milk Deluxe continued to strengthen the brand’s “better”
proposition and enhanced its brand value through continuous
efforts in product innovation, brand promotion and
communication with consumers. During the vyear, the overall
market share of the Milk Deluxe brand and the market share of
Milk Deluxe organic pure milk continued to increase. Milk Deluxe
organic pure milk took the lead in terms of market share,
solidifying the position of Milk Deluxe as a high-end brand.

Just Yoghurt focused on breakthroughs in differentiation and
meeting the growing demand of consumers for “pure” and
“additive-free” products. The Group developed a new generation
of healthy yogurt products characterized by low sugar and low
calories and offering “low-calorie and delicious taste”, leading the
trend of room temperature healthy yogurt products. Just
Yoghurt’s sales performance of new products was further
boosted by the implementation of new marketing approaches,
including online precision marketing, aiming to enhance the
product value, attract target customers and expand the brand
assets. In addition, the Company enriched its yogurt offerings by
introducing a new generation of yogurt snack under the brand
Just Yoghurt Yummy Yoghurt, which became best-sellers on
various e-commerce platforms.

In 2022, Fruit Milk Drink focused on the launch of red grapefruit
Sijichun (P9Z=%) with smiley packaging and promoted the slogan
“milk becomes more delicious with tea aroma and fruit pulp” to
support the continuous growth of new products. Moreover, in line
with the market trend of milk beverage and to more effectively
meet the needs of consumers in lower-tier markets, the basic
series was upgraded thoroughly by improving the promotion of
health attributes on product packaging and increasing the amount
of fruit pulp, providing consumers with products of higher quality
and better value. To expand its consumer base and market
coverage, Fruit Milk Drink upgraded the PET Floral and Fruit
series and launched new milkshake yogurt beverages, including
neroli pomelo with aloe vera and jasmine with green grape in
December 2022, to attract young Generation-Z consumers with
an enhanced product experience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the FIFA World Cup, the room temperature product
business division carried out a variety of innovative World
Cup-themed online and offline marketing activities, which helped
drive the growth in brand influence and product sales of the
Mengniu and Milk Deluxe brands. A range of World Cup-themed
products were launched, including limited-edition packaging
featuring the 32 qualified World Cup teams and the customized
FIFA edition Milk Deluxe “DreamCap™”. These products were
well-received by customers, with one million boxes sold. In terms
of online marketing, content marketing was used to strengthen
interaction and communication with consumers. These efforts
have enhanced the brand strengths and sales of the Group’s
room temperature liquid milk products, leading them to capture
the top positions in both online sales and overall market share.

As a result of the external challenges posed to offline channels
and the growing trend of online shopping, the Group continued to
expand its new online channels during the year. The Group’s
room temperature liquid milk products secured the largest market
share for room temperature liquid milk in the e-commerce market.
The total number of online members recorded a break-through
growth from over 30 million at the end of 2021.

The Group also continued to promote the RTM strategy, optimize
channel structure, expand market coverage and strengthen
channel management. Moreover, the Company promoted
cooperation with distributors leveraging the “Penetration into
Towns and Villages” platform to develop village-level markets and
seize opportunities for business development in lower-tier
markets. During the year, the room temperature business unit
developed business with over 780,000 outlets through the
“Penetration into Towns and Villages” platform.

Chilled Product Business

During the year, despite the sluggish overall performance of the
chilled yogurt industry due to significant external challenges, the
Group continued to enhance the nutrition and health attributes of
its chilled products, and a number of the Group’s leading brands
and products ranked first in the chilled product industry in terms
of market share for the 18th consecutive year. During the vyear,
the chilled product business division focused on optimizing its
operations and enhancing supply chain efficiency, resulting in a
significant improvement in profitability.
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During the year, Yoyi C upgraded its packaging and adopted
proprietary probiotics developed in China for all products.
Champion’s Every day’s Fresh Yogurt and the Zero Sucrose
Yogurt series achieved double-digit sales growth with increasing
market shares. In terms of new products, during the year the
Group launched the first healthcare yogurt in China, the
Champion Jianzihao (£ 5%) immune booster series, to address
consumers’ growing concerns about immunity. The newly
launched Yoyi C zero sucrose product series has been well
received by consumers. In response to the environmental
protection policy and in line with its commitment to achieving the
dual-carbon objectives, the Group also introduced its first
label-free products, the Yoyi C zero sucrose product series with
eco-friendly packaging.

In terms of brand marketing, the Yoy/ C brand positioned itself as
“probiotics tailor-made for Chinese people”, launching the brand
promotion theme of “China is red” and the documentary “A
Journey of Probiotics Discovery” to promote its brand value and
further enhance its brand awareness and popularity. Leveraging
the Olympics season, the Group appointed Eileen Gu as the
spokesperson of Mengniu’s Zero Sucrose Yogurt series. The
Group also executed both online and offline promotions through
new media platforms during the FIFA World Cup, resulting in
significant brand attention and an expanded customer base.

Fresh Milk Business

In 2022, Mengniu’s fresh milk business continued to lead the
market in terms of business growth. Its high-end brand, Shiny
Meadow, achieved rapid growth far above the market level and
maintained the top market share in the high-end fresh milk
market.
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To cater to female consumers’ demand for low-fat products, a
4.0 low-fat fresh milk under Shiny Meadow was launched in
March. Furthermore, in June, we launched a sub-brand,
Xiaoxianyu (/]\E¥i5), targeting youngsters with its unique selling
point of yummy light fresh milk, mainly sold in convenience
stores. The newly launched products exhibited exceptional growth
in sales and market shares. In our effort to explore “Fresh Milk+”
opportunities, the Group collaborated with Ovaltine, launching
cocoa malt milk beverage, and developed new business models
through specialty channels such as tea houses and cafes to
expand the consumer base. Moreover, as the global official
high-end fresh milk brand of the 2022 FIFA World Cup, we
launched limited edition products with jersey numbers of football
stars printed on the packaging, resulting in significant
year-on-year growth in e-commerce sales during the period. We
also continued to promote the Modern Meadow brand with the
images of stars, namely Lionel Messi and Kylian Mbappé.

With our accelerated expansion and development of omni-channel
operations, the fresh milk business performed well in various
channels, ranking first in China in terms of sales share in the
systems of Sam’s Club, Hema, Yonghui Superstores and Aeon.
Sales on leading e-commerce platforms such as JD.com, as well
as new retail channels such as Pinduoduo and Meituan, also
achieved rapid growth year-on-year and maintained a leading
market share.

Milk Formula Business

In 2022, the difficulties arising from external environment,
combined with the declining birth rate in China, intensified the
challenges faced by the infant milk formula industry. Nonetheless,
high-end organic milk formula and infant complementary foods
and snacks still showed structural growth opportunities.
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The new national standards for infant milk formula issued by the
National Health Commission in 2021 were officially implemented
on 22 February 2023. Under the recipe re-registration system, the
first batch of infant milk formula products that passed the formula
registration in 2017 were required to submit new applications in
2022. Meanwhile, the transformation from the production of infant
milk formula to the production of full-life-cycle professional
nutrition has become the general trend of the future development
of the milk formula industry. Catering to the growing awareness of
nutrition and local parents’ increasing concerns about the nutrition
and health of children over 3 years old, major brands have
launched milk formula products for children over 3 years old in
order to capture the extensive consumption demand and extend
the product life cycle. Additionally, in line with the trend of aging
population, milk formula for the middle-aged and the elderly is
expected to become the major driving force for the development
of the adult formula industry.

Milk Formula Business of Yashili

The milk formula business of Yashili International Holdings Ltd.
(“Yashili”, stock code: 1230.HK, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Yashili Group”), in which Mengniu held approximately 51% equity
interest during the year ended 31 December 2022, achieved
revenue of RMB3,738.2 million in 2022.

In 2022, Yashili remained committed to the development of its
two major product categories, namely infant milk formula and
nutritional products. In terms of infant milk formula, Reeborne
Enzhi (2 &) infant milk formula, the world’s first product using
MLCT and new OPO structural lipids, and Reeborne Jingzhi (=)
infant milk formula, the world’s first product using desert organic
raw milk, have both obtained the approval for formula registration.
During the year, Yashili became the first' milk formula company in
China to have its products assessed and certified under EU food
standards (SGS)?. In terms of nutritional products, Yashili
continued to offer Yourui, M8 children’s milk formula, 1.88M
children’s growth formula milk powder (— X /\J\ 52 & 5k K i 77 1)
), Huicongming (2JI88F) and other products, catering to the
nutritional needs of the middle-aged and the elderly, children and
students.

Notes:
! Refers to the Yashili Group.

2 In compliance with: (EC) No 1881/2006, (EC) No 2073/2005 (Only
for items involving modified milk formula).
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Yashili continued to strengthen its sales channels for infant milk
formula and nutrition products. It advanced channel development
by enhancing the channel coverage and extending channels in
lower-tier markets, and collaborated with renowned domestic
mother-and-baby chain stores and regional chain stores, with a
focus on the key provinces of Anhui and Henan. Additionally,
Yashili concentrated on deep channel cultivation and established
premium stores to consolidate its channel foundation. To stabilize
sales orders and boost channel confidence, the Group introduced
in-can codes for offline stores. Yashili also implemented
community marketing, pop-up events and livestream e-commerce
at stores to enhance digitization and innovative marketing.

Bellamy’s Business

Bellamy’s has adhered to its “Pursuing Organic, Naturally
Organic” brand positioning and actively expanded its portfolio of
high-end organic products. In 2022, despite the pressure on its
sales, Bellamy’s steadily promoted its strategic measures. During
the year, Bellamy’s launched three milk powder products. To
cater to the nutritional needs of children over 3 years old,
Bellamy’s launched the Chinese labelled and the English labelled
version of organic kids milk powder, with a focus on improving
immunity and promoting bone growth. In addition, Bellamy’s
launched the new GOLD+ high-end infant formula, formulated
with the unique Di-GeniX symbiotic blend which can help improve
the intestinal immunity of infants, further promoting the high-end
transformation of the brand.

Bellamy’s has also developed local supply chains for
complementary foods. During the vyear, Bellamy’s launched
organic rice cereal featuring water-soluble ferrous iron, which is
recommended by the WHO, to promote better absorption of iron
by infants and toddlers. Bellamy’s also launched three new
complementary foods product series, namely organic 2.5cm baby
noodles, organic milk rusks and organic puffs, forming a
comprehensive product portfolio of complementary foods.
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Ice Cream Business

In 2022, the Group’s four major ice cream brands, namely
Suibian, Mood for Green, Deluxe and /ce+, achieved rapid growth
that outperformed the industry by focusing on product innovation
and upgrades. During the year, Suibian capitalized on the trend of
milk tea, popular desserts and chocolate ganache, promoting
sales growth through new products including the “Qisigiaoxiang ®
Redianfengwei (& B I35 78 « Z B E IK)”, “Qiaobingyingshili e
Tainpincuitong (T9/KEEE 77 o & S E(E)” and “Pinzhisigiao ® Ruanxin
(& BIT e #E) During the year, Mood for Green
focused on product matrix development and introduced the
low-sugar red bean flavored ice cream with condensed milk, as
well as the new plant-based ice cream “Zhiging (HEY) 7, featuring
flavors such as basil and apple and lemon mate tea, further
expanding the brand portfolio. Deluxe, taking advantage of the
latest trend in Chinese culture and oriental ingredients, launched
a variety of new products including the “Zhushijin (%k#H48)”
persimmon and pumpkin ice cream, in order to create the
“national brand (BI=5%) 7 of high-end ice cream. /ce+ introduced
taurine-flavored ice frost, a functional product specially developed
to cater to the national fitness trend, which further promoted
product innovation.

series.

In addition, the ice cream business division introduced various
popular crossover ice cream products during the year. The Group
collaborated with Moutai Group to launch “Moutai Ice Cream”, a
perfect combination of Moutai and milk. The “Moutai Ice Cream”
was well-received by the market and became one of the most
popular crossover ice cream products. Based on its strategic
collaboration with the Shanghai Disney Resort, the Group
introduced a custom-made IP product, LinaBell-themed ice
cream, which received positive market feedback.

In terms of brand promotion and development, the Group
launched a World Cup-themed ice cream series under the
“Suibian” brand during the 2022 FIFA World Cup in Qatar. These
were the only ice cream products sold at World Cup venues,
which significantly enhanced the brand image and product sales.
Moreover, by collaborating with the famous game IP “Genshin
Impact”, “Suibian” provided an innovative, immersive and
cross-dimensional experience to deliver delicious taste and fun,
thereby driving sales growth.
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The ice cream business division continued to strengthen the
development and expansion of both online and offline channels,
with a focus on enhancing market coverage and channel
efficiency. Rapid sales growth was recorded on e-commerce
platforms. Efforts were also made to expand into corporate group
buying, catering, scenic spots and other scenarios. In addition,
the instant home delivery business was further developed to
boost sales and raise market share on 020 platforms.

Cheese Business

In 2022, the State Administration for Market Regulation
promulgated the “New National Standard” for processed cheese
and cheese products, creating a new path for the innovation of
cheese products in China that meet international standards, and
resulting in a stage of rapid growth.

In 2022, based on the new brand positioning of “Mengniu
Cheese — Excellent Cheese made with Excellent Milk” (544
B —14F 4 4% o 4 W ER) |, the Group upgraded the packaging of all
product lines to provide consumers with more professional and
valuable cheese products.

The Group enriched its selection of innovative cheese products by
introducing additive-free children’s cheese sticks with no artificial
flavors. The Group targeted young consumers with the casual
cheese series “Zhishifenzi (Z 7 F)’, and strengthened the
trendy and youthful image of the casual cheese snack series by
leveraging the popularity of Eileen Gu.

Benefiting from the rising trend of home baking, the sales of
domestic table cheese and butter products of the Group grew
steadily. As the sales volume of Mengniu’s signature £ €264 (Ai
Shi Chen Xj) series of domestically produced butter products
continued to increase, the Group made efforts to develop
specialty products for professional catering under the £ =8 (Ai
Shi Chen Xj) series to expand application scenarios such as
baking, tea beverages and Western cuisine.

As for channels, the cheese business division actively expanded
into new retail channels such as 020 home delivery, community
group marketing and live streaming during the year. It leveraged
on Mengniu’s channel advantage in room temperature business to
develop sales channels for cheese in lower-tier markets and
expand the coverage of terminal point of sales.
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At the end of November 2022, Shanghai Milkground Food Tech
Co., Ltd. (600882.SH) (“Milkground”) announced the completion of
the tender offer by Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), following which Inner Mongolia
Mengniu held a total of approximately 181 million shares in
Milkground, representing 35.01% of the then total shares of
Milkground. Milkground was included in the consolidated
statements of Mengniu from 30 November 2022 onwards.

Milkground is a leading cheese company in China, with the
premier research and development team and the largest
production capacity in the country. At present, its cheese
products and children’s cheese stick rank first in terms of market
share in China. Through cooperation and the sharing of
resources, both the Group and Milkground will be able to fully
utilize their respective advantages. Together with Milkground, the
Group aims to expand its business into the domestic and global
cheese market, which has enormous potential.

Quality Management

In 2022, the Group continued to implement its three-year plan for
quality management under the core concept of “consumers are at
the heart of all our decisions”, and enhanced the Quality
Management System 3.0 by emphasizing quality culture, quality
design, consistent systems, standard management as well as the
optimization and improvement of key processes.

During the year, the Group successfully secured seven system
certifications, including ISO9001, HACCP, GMP, FSSC22000,
BRC, IFS and SQF, for 60 factories with a 100% passing rate.
The Group paid particular attention to acquiring two system
certifications, namely BRC and IFS, for five factories in the fresh
milk business division. The Group also obtained post-sales service
system certification for the room temperature business and basic
system certification for two factories, and continued to push
forward the certification process for student milk products and 14
organic products. With the goal of producing world-class quality
milk, the Group aimed to develop “EU benchmark products” by
upgrading nine of its major product categories, including
pasteurized milk, fermented milk, sterilized milk, formulated milk,
beverages, milk powder, infant formula, cheese, and chilled
drinks, to meet the EU standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mengniu remains committed to the culture of quality. The Group
established and implemented the “1332” quality culture strategy,
which aims to achieve sustained excellence in quality culture by
strengthening awareness, reinforcing behaviors, and deepening
systems based on quality culture positioning, organizational
support, and incentive support. The strategy is built upon the
foundation of the Group’s corporate culture and the 4Q quality
system. In 2022, Mengniu achieved an overall A+ rating in the
BRCGS Culture Excellence Assessment, continuing to lead the
industry with the highest international rating.

Milk Source Management

In 2022, the Group collaborated with its upstream milk source
partners to strengthen the foundation of the dairy industry. With
its continuous commitment to the “deployment of business layout
and sharing of value chain”, Mengniu facilitated the “precise,
efficient and green” development of China’s dairy industry in
terms of “technical upgrade, digital innovation, feed cost
reduction, procurement integration, financial support and
synchronized growth”, striving to achieve the strategic goal of
“Creating a new Mengniu”.

With the support of the Nine Policies and Measures for Promoting
the Revitalization of the Dairy Industry ({9 5 x BN (S SR 5
#8)) in Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, the Group devised
the “10,000-tonne milk” plan and accelerated the establishment of
its milk source bases in accordance with the development of the
dairy industry park project of China. The primary focus was on the
whole chain development “from grass to milk”.

The Group has always been committed to incorporating social
responsibility into its business foundation and integrating
sustainable development into its corporate DNA. As part of its
green sustainable development, the Group has executed
numerous innovative initiatives. The Group introduced the Arla
Garden advanced dairy farm management system, which
established a professional quality and safety management system
for dairy farms that adheres to international and local laws,
regulations and standards for livestock breeding. Additionally, the
Group developed an admission system for dairy farms consisting
of a multi-layered and multi-dimensional management mechanism
to standardize milk source management through stringent
requirements for legal regulations, dairy farm construction and
dairy cow breeding.
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In addition, the Group issued guidelines for dairy farms to
enhance their carbon emissions management, animal welfare and
animal drug management. Through online training and on-site
guidance, the Group helped dairy farms adopt green and
low-carbon farming practices, utilize manure and eliminate
equipment with high energy consumption, high emissions and
high pollution. During the year, dairy farms also received guidance
on the replacement of coal-fired boilers, the adoption of
water-saving measures, and the use of clean energy to reduce
carbon emissions.

Corporate Digital Strategy

2022 marked a crucial year in the Group’s digital transformation. In
line with the high-level digital transformation blueprint, each
business unit formulated a “consumer-oriented and data-based”
core strategy, and implemented strategies in four aspects, namely
“Consumers Going Online, Channels Going Online, Supply Chain
Going Online and Management Going Online”, so as to further
facilitate the implementation of the digital strategy.

With respect to “Consumers Going Online”, aiming to maximize
customer lifetime value (“CLV”) for the omni-channels of all its
brands and products, Mengniu strived to establish a
customer-oriented digital operation system, which covers the
entire customer life cycle. In response to the individual needs of
members as well as the overall needs of families, a membership
system covering all online users was basically formed, resulting in
over 2 billion customer interactions during the year.

Regarding “Channels Going Online”, the Group developed the Qilin
Platform to support the digitization of the ice cream business
division and improve the terminal business management
performance during the year. Furthermore, the Group introduced
an e-commerce enterprise resource planning system (“ERP”) and
digital tools to strengthen terminal sales business management
and execution, supporting refined operation management of
different channels and sales growth.
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In terms of “Supply Chain Going Online”, the Group developed a
customized fence monitoring and positioning data analysis system
for the transportation of room temperature products, which
facilitated the monitoring of the whole transportation process and
intelligent industrial park management. Smart warehouses were
established, allowing for the monitoring, control and traceability of
all business processes including inventory receipt, delivery and
product storage. This has enabled the integration of warehousing
and transportation, further enhancing the operating procedures.
Mengniu has also expedited the development of digital production
and promoted the digitalization of factories across its five major
business divisions, namely room temperature, chilled products,
fresh milk, ice cream and cheese products. The room
temperature Ningxia Factory, in particular, was established as a
pilot project to fulfill the World Economic Forum’s “Lighthouse
Factory” standards. This project has achieved breakthroughs in
Mengniu’s digital and intelligent production efforts, setting a new
benchmark for smart production in the dairy industry.

With respect to “Management Going Online”, the Group
established a smart talent system for human resources
management, and developed a human resource system with
digital functions to support employee growth and business
development while meeting diverse management requirements,
thereby further enhancing the Group’s digital and intelligent
human resource management. Regarding legal affairs
management, the Group utilized new generation information
technologies such as artificial intelligence and big data to promote
the integration and implementation of smart compliance, internal
control and legal risk management.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The sales channel operations were impacted by factors including
the decreasing demand for outdoor consumption, declining
consumer traffic in stores and reduced logistics efficiency.
However, as consumers’ health awareness continued to increase,
and the Group proactively explored various online and offline
channels, the revenue of the Group amounted to RMB92,593.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB88,141.5 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
5.1%.

Gross Profit

Due to the decline in milk formula and milk beverages
businesses, increase in the average price of raw materials and the
increase in depreciation expenses arising from the addition of
factories and production equipment, the Group’s gross profit for
the year amounted to RMB32,689.8 million (2021: RMB32,389.9
million), and the gross profit margin decreased by 1.4 percentage
points to 35.3% as compared with last year (2021: 36.7%).

Operating Expenses and Operating Profit

As the Group focused on cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement during the year, the selling and distribution
expenses decreased by 4.9% to RMB22,347.3 million (2021:
RMB23,487.6 million), accounting for 24.1% of the Group’s
revenue (2021: 26.6%). Product and brand marketing expenses
during the year decreased by 23.8% to RMB5,495.1 million
(2021: RMB7,207.9 million), accounting for 5.9% of the Group’s
revenue (2021: 8.2%). The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in offline marketing and promotion activities in the midst
of market challenges.

Administrative expenses increased by 26.0% to RMB4,441.9
million (2021: RMB3,524.3 million), accounting for 4.8% (2021:
4.0%) of the Group’s revenue, up by 0.8 percentage points,
which was mainly due to fair value amortisation of share-based
payment component of the convertible bonds issued under the
specific mandate in November 2021 which is non-cash nature.
Other taxes and surcharges included in other expenses amounted
to RMB477.4 milion (2021: RMB516.4 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 7.6%.
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During the year, total business operating expenses, including
selling and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and
other taxes and surcharges, amounted to RMB27,266.6 million
(2021: RMB27,528.3 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 1.0 percentage point. Attributable to various
measures to reduce cost and enhance efficiency, operating profit
(gross profit less business operating expenses) amounted to
RMB5,423.2 million (2021: RMB4,861.6 million), representing a
year-on-year increase of 11.6%; operating profit margin was
5.9% (2021: 5.5%), representing a year-on-year increase of 0.4
percentage point.

EBITDA and Net Profit

During the year, due to the increase in the overall revenue of the
Group and increase in operating efficiency, the Group’s earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”)
improved by 14.3% to RMB9,120.5 million (2021: RMB7,980.3
million) with EBITDA margin at 9.9% (2021: 9.1%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company increased by 5.5%
year-on-year to RMB5,303.0 million (2021: RMB5,025.5 million).
Basic earnings per share were RMB1.342 (2021: RMB1.274), up
by 5.3% year-on-year.

Income Tax Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, income tax expenses of
the Group totaled RMB1,317.5 million (2021: RMB904.5 million),
representing a 45.7% increase year-on-year. The effective income
tax rate was 20.3% (2021: 15.4%), up by 4.9 percentage points
year-on-year, which was mainly due to the withholding taxes of
RMB228.0 million arising from the planned distribution made by
domestic subsidiaries.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the capital expenditure of
the Group (net of cash inflows of RMB1,204.1 million from
acquisition of Milkground) amounted to RMB5,073.5 million (2021:
RMB12,134.6 million), representing a decrease of 58.2%
year-on-year. Of the total, RMB5,064.5 million was spent on
building new production facilities and modifying existing ones as
well as related investments, and the investment in equities
amounted to RMB9.0 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREFIRZAIR

Working Capital, Financial Resources, and Capital
Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded net
cash inflow from operating activities of RMB8,333.1 million (2021:
RMB7,544.7 million), representing an increase of 10.4% as
compared with last year, which was mainly due to the increase in
sales income and operating profit.

As of 31 December 2022, outstanding interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group increased to RMB39,108.6 million
(31 December 2021: RMB27,033.0 million), of which
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings repayable within one
year amounted to RMB9,094.7 milion (31 December 2021:
RMB4,265.5 million). More than 90% of the interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings were bearing interest at fixed rates. The
increase in internet-bearing bank and other borrowings was mainly
due to the strategic financing and the reserves for repayment of
foreign currency debt due in the future, which resulted in an
increase in other financial assets.

Net borrowings (total amount of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings net of cash and bank balances) of the Group as of
31 December 2022 were RMB26,342.8 million (31 December
2021: RMB15,816.1 million).

The Group’s total equity as of 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB50,051.8 million (31 December 2021: RMB41,999.4 million).
Its debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings over total equity) was 78.1% (31 December
2021: 64.4%).

Finance costs of the Group were RMB1,125.3 million (2021:
RMB743.1 million), or approximately 1.2% when expressed as a
percentage of revenue (2021: 0.8%), representing an increase of
0.4 percentage point year-on-year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRODUCTS

Leveraging its rich resources and international-leading
technologies, Mengniu continued to innovate around product
differentiation and premiumization, leading the industry with
superior products and driving sales volume growth. Mengniu put
forward and adopted the DTV (Design to Value) concept, which is
a consumer-centric product development concept that aims to
design products that meet the needs of consumers, while
simplifying product complexity to reveal the true value of its
products, driving Mengniu’s sustainable development. The
principal businesses of the Group are liquid milk, ice cream, milk
formula, and cheese products, with their performance during the
year outlined as below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERZ AR

Product category Financial performance Highlights
Emm BRA B
Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB78,269.3 million (2021: RMB76,514.4 million), accounting for 84.5% of
RRETS Mengniu’s total revenue (2021 86.8%).
H&A%AEM?& BB (ZT=—F : ARKET65.1448T) - IEEFRUIAKIB4.5% (=
T —%F :86.8%) °
UHT milk The Milk Deluxe 3.0 era began following the launch of its
UHTZG products in upgraded “DreamCap™” packaging in 2019. In

May and June 2020, the upgraded organic pure milk and
pure milk of “DreamCap™” containing 3.8g of natural high
quality milk protein and 125mg of natural calcium per 100ml
were launched. Satisfying the health needs of consumers, the
Milk Deluxe organic pure milk has been awarded dual
certifications for organic products from China and the
European Union. Such achievements further reinforced the
premium position of the Milk Deluxe brand. In 2021, Mik
Deluxe launched the “Better Organic” desert organic pure milk
and CBP high-calcium pure milk. The “Better Organic” desert
organic pure milk uses limited raw milk from Ulan Buh Desert
| oasis and contains 3.8g of protein per 100ml. The CBP high-
{ueRs {nenr . calcium pure milk contains 135mg of calcium from high-quality
- " milk source per 100ml and has rich Vitamin D that can
i d promote better absorption of calcium. In January 2022, Milk
i =1 Deluxe launched 4.0g desert organic pure milk which contains
R 4.0g protein per 100ml of milk, bringing a new nutrition
’ upgrade to our product.
HaaRN —_E—NFHEEIE | HRBEER RS mHF
30K - ZE-FTFHAENA  BLE %5”%&3‘&&5#100%
FEAIBRARAABEIER - 12562 AAS B RIRA
AT RS m a3 - BhAF é%ﬁ&%%ﬂatw)}i«‘
B EEREERERE Lxlﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁéﬁm&ffaﬁx E—F
REFmAN MMM c — T - —F  FaftmBELlE
R | AR BRAE I SRBRE SEHFDEA MR -
100m|§§3.89§5’j§ LA&CBPE%ZW% F100mIE A
Ah

S Gl T

135mg{§g\§tﬁﬁ CEENEARDEE B RESRK -
— T _—%—§ #TA“TEHMOQ’J‘/EH%#WF% & 100m!
B409ERE  EBFAR

Mengniu’s comprehensive UHT pure milk line includes
Mengniu pure milk, high-calcium milk, low-fat high-calcium
F: milk and skimmed milk. In August 2020, Mengniu’s Nutritious
and Mellow Enjoyment pure milk series was introduced. The

=L
' product contains 3.3g of protein per 100ml and has a very

BE=-E aEAs

=HEr

rich taste.

SEUHTEG DB FEF - &5 - KIS GE M
PR NEER  —T_FFN\A R4 mEEREZ RS
MER  F1002ASH33REALE ARFEHE -

Key Products:

—  Milk Deluxe

—  Mengniu pure milk
— Student’s Milk

— Future Star

Egﬁguu:
A

— R4

— FE4EEY

— RXKE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Product category Financial performance Highlights
EmmE BERA B
Room Temperature Yogurt In 2022, Just Yoghurt focused on breakthroughs in differentiation
Ky 1 ¢/ and meeting the growing demand of consumers for “pure” and
“additive-free” products. The Group developed a new generation of
’ healthy yogurt products characterized by low sugar and low calories
and offering “low calorie and delicious taste”. During the year, the
' Group launched a new product, namely the PET bottled Just
Eﬁ_ Yoghurt with blueberry flavor. At the same time, the Group enriched
1]

the product portfolio of Yummy Yoghurt, offering a new generation of
spoon-eating yogurt with a range of fun and delicious flavors in new
packaging.

TR CF AGFNERCRE IRREEERS 4] [ERM]
Bk TEN-KRERBBEY - AW EERER FTIEAE
Bl FN ARERBATRRDESREAKES HPEDRH
m e Btoh - BEMRERNER e E  HOK  TEN R
nEBFZHAZRNTR -

Key Products:
Q= QN Q5 — Just Yoghurt light flavor yogurt

T FEEUEANE REEEAENE

B 0 B — Just Yoghurt fruit pulp flavor yogurt
’) ' /) — Just Yoghurt Yummy Yoghurt
Sl &{; N —  Just Yoghurt Just Yoghurt

L. un B = . =

BHEM:
- HEEBIEY

— ~ WEREEKES
s - HABERY
i > — wEEED
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Product category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE BBRERE Bm

Room Temperature Milk Beverage In 2022, Fruit Milk Drink focused on the launch of red grapefruit
HEEAH Sijichun (F9Z%) with smiley packaging. The slogan “milk becomes

more delicious with tea aroma and fruit pulp” was promoted to

highlight the milk’s characteristics and support the continuous growth

of new products. Moreover, in line with the market trend, and to

meet the needs of consumers in lower-tier markets, the Group

- thoroughly upgraded the basic series by improving the promotion of

' health attributes on product packaging and increasing the amount of

fruit pulp, providing consumers with products of higher quality and

better value. New products such as Fruit flower flavored yogurt drink
and Suan Suan Ru yogurt-flavored drink were also launched.

R CFERNGREETEIROAMNEE  BRIXFER

K- SBERRIER - R{ICFDMBY  IAFRFEREK AR K

SEIBEILKHTISBY  EFmEBEAT NI HEENTR &

BRIAAMIMEFAR  RAERORERBUENRE - ENRT

BE KIEBEFABERNUEBLNER  THEEZHTERYD

T OBEIABRRAE M-

L

*?iiﬁ!

Key Products:

—  Fruit Milk Drink high-end colorful fruit pulp series
—  Fuuit flower flavored yogurt drink

— Suan Suan Ru yogurt-flavored drink

BHEM:

— ERHBHEGRATFI 00 F5
- EBERHERYEBL i

— EBEAAR X5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Product category Financial performance Highlights

ERRE BERE B

Chilled Yogurt To continuously support the “Three Reduction and Three Health (=
BB

& =f£)” campaigns launched by the Chinese government and to
fulfill the increasing demand for lower sugar intake among
consumers, Mengniu further expanded its line of zero sucrose and
low-sugar yogurt products in 2022. During the year, the Group
launched xylitol yogurt with zero sucrose, made with 100% raw milk
source, and containing high quality protein, high calcium and 10
million probiotics per 100 grams. These ingredients are beneficial in
regulating the digestive system. In addition, Champion launched
Jianzihao advanced immunity bottle products, leveraging the
functions of “regulating intestinal flora and enhancing immunity” to
gain a competitive advantage.
ARBERBERIZA=RIBRERAH  HRHEEEBRERNE
BER — - _FRELRORRRY ARRIIERR -FAH
AEBRLNBRFOMNE o BB - 100% 447 MR - 2BEER
B 55 BARBA1ECFUER @ BEBREBRERE - AR - A&
BrhEmAdRrRiiaregnl RERRAGBHERMERER
N1&hEe  KRKHEFES -

Key Products:
—  Champion
— Mengniu Zero Sucrose Yogurt

EHES -
— g

— FTOFERY
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Product category Financial performance Highlights

Emm MBRE B

Chilled Milk Beverage
188 7, Bt A

The Group’s new series of Yoyi C zero sucrose products stand out
in their product category for their refreshing taste. In addition, the
Group launched a zero sucrose Yoyi C product with eco-friendly
packaging, which is Mengniu’s first label-free product in line with its
environmental protection policy and represents the Group’s
commitment to achieving the dual-carbon objectives. Advanced green
technology was employed to reduce the usage of plastics and ink
while improving the packaging structure for easier recycling.
AEEEMHEZC OFENG  WERNORELRERRERB
Fmd o REBEEL TEZC OFRRRE  RRFHELD
EXERRER FEERRREE  BIERITY BAIEK
& RO ERMmENER  YRCEMEBES DU -

sgl

REC
Teron

ErEENRANS
- P Key Products:
— Yoyi C
— Yoyi C LC-37
D S e e
L 5 W BEHEM:

C tulnlmu - fEﬁ\_u{C
& TREC CIT — ##CLC-37
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Product category Financial performance Highlights
EmmE BBRE B
g;;%h Milk To provide customers with superior nutrition, Shiny Meadow

upgraded its fresh milk quality with the 4.0 series product portfolio,
which has experienced robust growth. In addition, Shiny Meadow
launched a line of 4.0 low-fat products to meet the growing demand
for health and wellness-oriented products among female customers.
It also established a sub-brand called Xiaoxianyu (/)\E£:Z) to fulfil the
needs of teenage customers looking for “affordable nutrition”, and
enrich the “lite” milk product offering in convenience stores. In

.Ef;” W“'# : ;; 4?*1 =4 .I-'::-n i addition, the Group explored “Fresh Milk+” opportunities by
I e b et developing new beverage products. In particular, the Group
collaborated with Ovaltine to successfully launch a cocoa malt milk

beverage.

TFHEESIBEDAL  HhB40RY] AEEEREFSREEE -

= HAOEMESHTERERNAR XRENRBEZEHRESE -
HHA0KMEER  WEHFEARHFREEHE mREEAIE

L B EEXERAEINFTK - RS SNEE  fREMENRER -
' 8 B REERRIED+ S BAFKRASES  KHBRESH

e e e
i:ilg; SRR TTESFAMS -

Key Products:

—  Shiny Meadow fresh milk

—  Xiaoxianyu fresh milk (/)8 ZZ8£4E47)
Jor —  Modern Meadow fresh milk

L1 {ﬁ
: e — BHER:
- g 8 ; — GAEERLED
S E e —  EEHEY
— i Mg gE gty G
e IR gnoe o g5 - BRMEECS
S Jo =
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Product category

Emm

Ice Cream
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance

MBRE

Highlights
B

Revenue from the ice cream business amounted to RMB5,652.4 million (2021: RMB4,240.2 million), accounting
for 6.1% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2021: 4.8%).

WA B AR #ES56.52418

T(ZB=—

FANRE424026870) - EEFBRARGBI%(ZT=—F : 4.8%) °

Suibian made significant breakthroughs in developing a new generation of
chocolate ice cream products based on insights into popular milk tea trends,
breaking away from the traditional layered structure to introduce cocoa and
milk tea ice cream with a classic shape. In addition, Suibian introduced a new
range of dessert products by combining popular dessert flavors into its ice
cream products, with dessert crispy cones as one of its major series. During
the year, other major Suibian products included the soft ice cream series
made with chocolate ganache, and the cross-over ice cream with crispy
coating and jam series, tailor-made for the “Genshin Impact” IP.
BEHRBH—RORNKCLRESR BEEERNGE BLANER &
BE TAMMERS IR - £ A A F IR RRAEN - B2 RRITH ;A
KEMBE RS  TEER(HRNRE  ENEEHRRE RS - BEFR
EFHBNEMERRELTOR MR SEBENIERN ARERSPAE
THHNBRRERT -

Mood for Green strengthened its brand proposition of “A Bite of Nature (—H
KBA) 7 by fuly upgrading and launching a low-sugar formula for
condensed mik and red bean flavored products. It also expanded to the
high-end market with the “Zhiging (%) * ice cream series, offering new
natural flavors such as basil and apple, and lemon mate tea.

AEOERATRRAAIRBER  WHREHTEE8ENER - FRI)

BEZIELRRTS  EHEHEYER  BEBEXRZANENHOK -
ZE[-AARBAIM@MEIR-

As a new generation high-end ice cream brand, Deluxe upgraded and
transformed its brand during the year by introducing a “national brand (B %
$7)  of high-end ice cream products. The Group collaborated with Moutai
Group to launch “Moutai ice cream”, made with pure raw milk and Moutai-
flavor liquors, which has become one of the best-selling products in the
market. The Group also started a strategic cooperation with Disney and
produced customized IP products for the LinaBell character.
BPHEZERFN—REHAEMRRE - FRESmETRER  TEAF%]
momAORM - B RS [ AR ] - M ENEF RS ERER
AFRE GERRBRRER  TEREBTENERSE  SHERERE
ARAHENREIPER

Key Products:
Suibian

—  Deluxe

—  Mood for Green

—  Mengniu lce+

i%§m3
lg{t l*l(

- ZHEZEZ

- HEDE

- Rtuk+
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERZ AR

Product category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE BERA B

Milk Formula Revenue from the milk formula business amounted to RMB3,862.0 million (2021: RMB4,949.1 million),
ik accounting for 4.2% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2021: 5.6%). The revenue of the milk formula

business mainly included the revenue from Yashili and Bellamy’s.
WABARKEIBE0ET(ZT-—F : ARB49491ET)  ERFBUMAKL2% (ZT = —F :
5.6%) c MNEBUA T EBERBE BN KA K EBHIKA -

Yashili Yashili's products are classified into two categories, namely infant
L7 milk formula and nutritional products. Its milk powder, organic milk
powder, and goat milk powder comprehensively cover the super
high-end, high-end and mid-end markets.
BIMNERDRENZTEANHIRREEGMARE  F9H 5
WInm - TN E2ABEESN B PREZERMS -

Reeborne is a high-end infant formula brand of Yashili. Its products
include Reeborne Enzhi (B Z) and Reeborne Jingzhi (& £) , which
were among the first batch of products in the Chinese dairy industry
to pass the New National Standards. The Reeborne Enzhi (B ZE)
series is the first Reeborne product that contains innovative MLCT
structured lipids and a new OPO component. The related research
results addressed the issue of the Chinese infant formula industry’s
long-term reliance on foreign imports of fat core materials. The
Reeborne Jingzhi (% &) series is the first Reebome product
produced using high quality organic raw milk from desert areas. Its
milk source, organic OPO and products have obtained dual
certifications from China and the European Union. Reeborne also
offers a range of other products. Its signature product, Reeborne
Kieember, is manufactured in Yashili's New Zealand factory and
imported directly from New Zealand. Reeborne organic milk powder
has passed the WIT organic certification, while Reeborne TruYn goat
milk powder selects high-quality small molecule goat milk protein.
HEEERLNETEREYREA DN mE  HTERERITEA
REBBHESERSMNAEELERZE] R HHEEIEZ] RS -
AT BRI E 2 B E R NAIETMLCT &8 05 R T B OPORK D HE S -
MR TR R B RE T H B 22 B M) 2 e O B R R R AR A B /M P
MER REURFBEEZREREABEDEEREFINER -
HIR - B#OPO - EmFHEFEMB BN EERRE 7 &1
THHEREEREERTHFIARNIBRNREREEVNHEER
mERIER] BEERWTERREN B EHRTNY - ARk
BEBE NS FFABEONHELETNEIFNHE -
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Yashili has also launched Yourui (#&i%) based on the physical
characteristics and nutritional supplement needs of the middle-aged
and the elderly, M8 children’s mik formula (M852 %t 75 3L #3)
targeting the nutritional needs of children over 3 years old,
Huicongming (Z128) milk powder for students, Zhengwei Mofang
(IEBREE77) designed for young women’s beauty and skin care needs,
and fruit oatmeal which aims to meet the nutritional needs of women
aged 18 to 35.

AN - T MERERBEFEZFARTBREREEHAT RFRL
163 - BFIST SN ERENE BT RMMABAMBRER F 14 -
SENMHERE  SRFELUERETROEKRES - $H18%E355%
FERUERAPEEFTRNKRERSER °
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B

Bellamy’s In 2022, Bellamy’s launched three new milk powder products,
¥k including the Chinese labelled and the English labelled version of

-

BELLAMY'S
ORGANIC

K
BELLAMYS
ORGANIC

LD "
1
BioLamys

MR
LGN 1R

organic kids milk powder for the nutritional needs of children aged
over 3 and the brand new Bellamy’s GOLD+ high-end infant milk
formula. The organic kids milk powder of Bellamy’s uses 1% rare
organic milk source and is designed with a special formula of “three
key ingredients for growth”, namely “active” lactoferrin, FOS
prebiotics and high /S -glucans content to help pre-school children
stimulate self-protection and promote healthy growth. Specially
designed for children in the critical period of growth, Bellamy’s
organic kids milk powder is supplemented with a nutritional
combination of “high calcium + vitamin D + high quality protein” to
help children strengthen their physique.

RO CF RARKBEERNNH R EheREHERULERE
EERFRORERBERIREHZERRINY - AR E¥ A AKGOLD+
EESHEBEPREFTNH B AAAFREZERRDHERER1%
URAERDNR  FhIERaR=8 kK- EH]FEEE  FOSH
ETRBEES-AERE BORANZESEREN  RRERRERL
fERE<Fi - HHERNEREFARONTE B RAAAARR
ERRNMEZFIANT [2E+#4R20+mBEEQ/E8Hs B
BRERERE -

Bellamy’s also introduced the first Chinese-labelled organic milk rusks
with a formula containing organic wheat as an innovative nutritional
element, enriching the selection of products for babies during the
teething process. Moreover, Bellamy’s launched the first Chinese-
labelled organic sprouted rice puff, with organic wheat content
reaching 95% for the first time.

AARTMER T E—FPURBENERBNRET K BREE
B RIEREREIFTMARR 88T RAABEMER TR
EmERE o N AAAEEE -—RP XREEANBHEH T K
BE - BRRIFREEBEAREI

Key Products:

— Reeborne

—  Yourui

— M8 children’s milk formula (M85Z B % 43 #)

— 1.88M children’s growth formula milk powder
(— RN EEK RIS I345)

— Bellamy’s organic milk powder

— Bellamy’s organic baby rice

BHEM:

- B

- K

- MSZEEE I

- RN EEXRETIH
— RAKFHTH

— RAKBFHKRY
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Cheese Based on the new brand positioning of “Mengniu Cheese —
78 Excellent Cheese made with Excellent Milk” (54§ B ——4F - 45 o 4F
IES) |, the packaging of all product lines was upgraded. The Group
enriched its selection of innovative cheese products by introducing
additive-free children’s cheese sticks. Other key products include the
Zhishifenzi (2 30 7 F) casual cheese series targeting young
consumers and Ai Shi Chen Xi (£ FC/< %) butter for catering.

AREEARERFNB 2N REEL : [RFNE — G415« 574
Bl ET2REREETEENETAR - AKREZTHORMN R
ERE  S|ANRERERAN c ENSREMERENFREES
AZORRENRZ A2 FRY - UREFDREARESFERS -

Key products:

— Mengniu high calcium cheese stick

— A/ Shi Chen Xi (B [LE#) children’s cheese stick
— Ai Shi Chen Xi (& [L/R#) shredded mozzarella
—  Zhishifenzi (Z=0 5 F) casual cheese

BHEM:

- FTtEBIBE

- ERRBREEE
- ERRBEHENLE
— ZADFHEE

PRODUCTION £ E

Mengniu deploys its production capacity according to the SHBREMEEHNRERERBMBREN HE—
potential of relevant markets and its product strategy. As of Z-_F+-A=+—H SFR2BLREL
31 December 2022, Mengniu had 41 production bases in China, EEi411E » XD RIRENEETERA L EEM
two production bases in Indonesia, two production bases in 21 FSRMRAELEEMW2E  FHUBEBRALE
Australia and one production base in New Zealand, respectively.  E i1l - FEEGEA L B1 201 B (— T~ —F
It had a total annual production capacity of 12.91 milion tons + =8 : 1,166E8f) -

(December 2021: 11.66 million tons).
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, in alignment with the United Nations sustainable
development goals and the “Creating a new Mengniu by 2025”
strategy, Mengniu unveiled its “GREEN” sustainable development
strategy and the dual-carbon strategic goal. Mengniu is
committed to “reaching carbon peak in 2030 and carbon
neutrality in 20507, and has put forward specific and
industry-leading stage-by-stage goals for reducing the carbon
emissions intensity per ton of dairy products. To steadily progress
towards carbon neutrality throughout the entire industrial chain,
15 specific carbon reduction measures will be adopted in six
major aspects, namely production, raw milk, packaging,
transportation, products, and carbon offset.

During the vyear, the Group continued to promote the
implementation of its sustainable development strategy. The
Group built a responsible supply chain that meets international
standards and became the first dairy company to join the
responsible business platform Sedex. Mengniu’s Supplier Code of
Conduct ((EAEFERETTAZ%ER])) was refined to optimize the raw
material sources management system and improve suppliers’
carbon management.

In addition, the Group made efforts to obtain sustainability
certifications, with three factories obtaining the German TUV
Rheinland landfill-free waste management system certification and
two factories applying for the AWS international sustainable water
management standard certification. One factory has passed the
group standards of “Evaluation Standards for Zero Carbon
Factory” ([ Zfix TR (B &0 | EEE1R%)) , and the packaging
of two products has obtained the certification for easy-to-collect
and easy-to-recycle plastic product designs.

The Group also continued to enhance its ESG management work
by establishing an office to promote sustainable development
work, setting up a specialized ESG key issue work group, and
organizing regular ESG training for senior management and
employees to enhance the consensus on sustainable
development.

In 2022, Mengniu’s sustainable development strategy and
practices received wide recognition. Its MSCI ESG rating
improved to an A grade, the highest rating in the Chinese food
industry, and Mengniu was included as a constituent stock in
sustainable development indexes such as the Hang Seng
Corporate Sustainability Index Series. The Group ranked among
the top 30 Hong Kong stocks in terms of ESG performance, and
ranked first in the “ESG Vanguard 50 Index” (R{ESG e 5L $%50
EE) .

ERERZ AR

ARFERE

ZEICF  REHEBABEAFERREE
HA—Z-_A[BAI— @IS BE - M
B3R [GREEN] B RS & [ Ak 8RS | B 1Z - &G
[2030F fiiE g ~ 20505 Hxp A - WiEd 7 A5
BEATENEBILRMERENHREERBEZ
KB ELEE R - 8K B Em - K
SHARNREHEISIEEERKIEE  BPERE
EEEEHPA -

FR - AKRERFEHEEVSERREBAT B
BREBKEZRAETHERE KABRMAER
ER%F B Sedex FAMILD - WHARABM(RE
HEBITRER)  KEBLCREHPREEE
Bl - BRI R E IR TAE

FE  AEEREGELEATFERE CH3KRT
BESERTOVERRENERY TIHIEERE
ERE 2R IBMRIBAWSHE IR Al 15 B K E 1B 1R
HRE T AR THESER IR ERSE]
BRFE)RE 2HERBRESENERSZE
W BERTIERE -

AREBEMFFERITESGE R TE - #IL A #54E %
ERIGEERAE RUESCGEHBREEERR
TR IHSRERE 2REIFARFENL
FESGHEHI - IRIT 2 BRI IHEERAE -

RO CH RAMAURERREBRNERES
%777 * MSCI ESGRIRBITZEAR - RPER
mMITERSAH  NEBEAHEEROEEHR
SR RFEEREER DR - RFEERERESG
FIFTOP30 - fiL JE [ R (PESG » 5L $850%5 2 15
o
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'MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERZ AR

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of
approximately 47,329 employees (2021: 44,629 employees) in the
Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong, Oceania, and Southeast Asia.
During the year, the total cost of employees (including the
salaries of directors and senior management personnel) amounted
to approximately RMB8,657.5 million (2021: RMB7,476.1 million).

In 2022, the Group continued to implement its strategic blueprint
for “Creating a new Mengniu”. To ensure the efficient
implementation of its strategies, the Group focused on developing
core organizational capabilities. This included building a talent
development system to accelerate the establishment of a future-
oriented team in six aspects, including building a team of leading
management talents, cultivating operational professional talents,
developing top-notch young talents, introducing scarce high-end
talents, stimulating breakthrough innovative talents and retaining
international management talents, with the objective of achieving
the “FIRST” mission. Furthermore, the Group strengthened the
digitization of talent management during the year. A smart talent
system was set up to provide strong support for talent
recruitment and development. The Group also upgraded its job
grading system, expanded career development channels for
employees and provided employees with training to enhance their
core skills based on the Company’'s development needs.
Additionally, the Group released its employer value proposition
(EVP), “Come on! Let's be awesome together” ([ | —#E4F]) ,
aimed at reshaping its employer brand and highlighting Mengniu’s
young, open and innovative employer brand image to attract
talents from the global dairy industry.

In order to promote its five-year strategic goals, the Company has
developed a comprehensive remuneration system that links
business performance with a people-oriented approach,
emphasizing the co-development of the enterprise and
employees. The Company adjusted its salary strategies, optimized
incentive policies and upgraded the “Mengniu Life” (4FLife) welfare
system to cover the entire employee life cycle, with the goal of
continuously improving employee satisfaction. In 2022, 5,533,245
restricted shares and 44,977,913 share options were granted to
employees participating in the Company’s share award scheme
and share option scheme, respectively.

ADER
R-Z-—F+-A=+—R0 FEERFEX

e BB RKFMEEBEEATHEEAREY
MS%%(_;_*E 44,629%) - FRNIEE A
BAR(BRIEEERSREEBASH ) NAARE
86.575BIL (ZE=—F : ARBET74.7611ETT) ©

TR F  AEEREERTIBEEA—EAFFS]
WERER - AREBES VO - BEZRZ
DHA R RE EEITEATERER  EER
HARAROATGMA BEITEEFREEA
T HBEKENEEAT KRREEEFA
A BIARBERE S A A BB R A A
T HEBEBEERBEAT AATE  WHBER
HS[FIRSTIE%® - B RE - AEBEFANZEM
AT BEERETIESR  BUBBEAT RS A
ATERRBERIEHAE DI A LBHRE
Z - HEBIHRERE BEQARERE K X
LIS ORENER  YEBREIRE aE%
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Moreover, as the first enterprise in China’s dairy industry to
qualify for vocational skill level self-certification, Mengniu
proactively implemented skilled personnel improvement plans to
build a team of skilled personnel to drive the quality development
of the dairy industry. Adhering to our mission of building a
high-quality personnel ecosystem for the dairy industry, our global
dairy industry talent training center provided high-quality training
covering the entire industrial chain of the Chinese dairy industry,
focusing on popular topics such as digitalization and application
of smart technologies, the dual-carbon strategy and the
development trend of the dairy industry. A total of 800,000
talents participated in the trainings.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Reference is made to (1) the announcement dated 6 May 2022
(the “3.5 Announcement”) jointly issued by the Company, Star
Future Investment Company Limited (the “Offeror”) and Yashili,
and (2) the announcement dated 9 March 2023 (the “Fulfiment of
Scheme Pre-Conditions Announcement”) jointly issued by the
Company, the Offeror and Yashili.

As disclosed in the 3.5 Announcement, on 6 May 2022, the
Group entered into a series of agreements with certain
subsidiaries of Danone S.A. (together referred to as “Danone”).
Pursuant to which, Danone will dispose 20% interest in all chilled
business companies jointly held by Danone and the Group to the
Group (the “Chilled Business JVs Acquisition”), the Group will
dispose 100% equity interest in Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd.
(“Dumex China”) to Danone (the “Dumex China Disposal”), and
Danone will dispose 25% equity interest of Yashili to the
Company (the “25% Yashili Acquisition”).

The Dumex China Disposal was completed on 2 March 2023.
Upon the completion of the Dumex China Disposal, the Company
and Yashili had ceased to hold any interest in Dumex China and
Dumex China had ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and
Yashili. Accordingly, the financial results of Dumex China will no
longer be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and the Yashili Group. Following the completion of
the Dumex China Disposal, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Co., Ltd. had paid RMB200 million to Danone in accordance with
the relevant master equity transfer agreement for the Chilled
Business JVs Acquisition.
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BREFIRZAIR

The completion of the 25% Yashili Acquisition took place on
9 March 2023. As a result, as of the date of this report, the
Company holds an approximately 76.04% interest in Yashili.

As further disclosed in the 3.5 Announcement, the Company has
proposed that, subject to the satisfaction of the pre-conditions as
set out in the 3.5 Announcement, it will, through the Offeror, put
forward a proposal to the holders of shares of Yashili in issue
(other than those held by the Company directly or indirectly) for
the privatization of Yashili (the “Privatisation Proposal”) by way of
a scheme of arrangement under section 86 of the Companies Act
of the Cayman Islands (the “Scheme”), on the terms and subject
to the conditions as described in the 3.5 Announcement and as
amended in the announcement of the Company, Yashili and the
Offeror dated 16 August 2022.

As disclosed in the Fulfilment of Scheme Pre-Conditions
Announcement, all pre-conditions to the making of the
Privatisation Proposal and implementation of the Scheme had
become fulfiled on 9 March 2023. With all the pre-conditions
having been fulfilled, the implementation of the Privatisation
Proposal is subject only to the satisfaction (or where applicable,
waiver) of the conditions to the Privatisation Proposal.

PROSPECTS

In 2022, the Group continued to comprehensively implement the
five-year strategy of “Creating a new Mengniu” initiated in 2021,
and maintained steady growth by proactively responding to
unfavorable external factors. 2023 is a critical year for the
achievement of the Group’s five-year strategy. The Group will
remain committed to its strategy and continue to strengthen its
core competitive strengths, including by enhancing its brand,
fostering continuous development of R&D innovation capabilities,
promoting channel expansion and penetration, on-going
digitalization, strengthening milk source management, improving
post-investment integration management and enhancing
organizational security. The Group strives to become a “FIRST
Mengniu”, one that is beloved by consumers, more international,
socially responsible, culturally strong, and digitally transformed.
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Consumption and offline sales have been on a path to recovery
and the logistics efficiency continued to improve following the
continuous improvement in the macro environment. The Chinese
government’s policies to boost domestic demand and
consumption are expected to further improve consumption levels.
In addition, given the heightened public health awareness,
demand for dairy products will continue to expand and the
upgrade and transformation of the dairy industry will accelerate.
Additionally, consumers’ increased demand for dairy products rich
in nutrition and taste has facilitated the rapid emergence of new
product categories. Other important market trends include the
fusion of high-end, functional, snack, dairy and non-dairy
products, as well as a craving for new flavors.

In response to consumers’ needs, Mengniu will adhere to its
values of ensuring “consumers are at the heart of all our
decisions”, carrying out swift product and technological innovation
to meet the diversified needs of consumers, promoting Mengniu’s
value proposition and enabling the brand to be well-received by
the consumer mass market, particularly the younger generation. In
addition, the Group will capitalize on the silver economy by
strengthening its product research and development efforts and
investing in milk formula for the middle-aged and the elderly as
well as adult nutritional products. Moreover, the Group will
accelerate the innovation of foodservice and snack cheese
products to seize the growth opportunities in the cheese market.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to walk the path of
quality sustainable development with steadfast strides, with a
focus on the dairy industry and innovation. Based on its sound
businesses, the Group will further strengthen new business
drivers including fresh milk, ice cream, cheese, adult milk powder
and global market expansion. Mengniu will seize the huge growth
potential of the sector and lead the way on upgrade and
transformation, contributing to the overall growth of China’s dairy
industry.
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EEREHEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lu Minfang, aged 54, was appointed as an executive
director and chief executive officer of the Company in September
2016. Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-executive director of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of the
Company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Lu is also a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of China
Shengmu Organic Milk Limited, an associate of the Company
listed in Hong Kong, and a non-independent director and the
chairman of the board of directors of Shanghai Milkground Food
Tech Co., Ltd., an associate of the Company listed on the
Shanghai stock exchange. Mr. Lu is a director of International
Dairy Federation. He was the chief executive officer and an
executive director of Yashili before his appointment as chairman
of the board of directors of Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of
the following subsidiaries of Yashili, namely Yashili International
Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong
International Co., Limited and Mengya International Group Limited
(formerly known as Scient International Group Limited). He was
also the chairman and a non-executive director of China Modern
Dairy Holdings Limited (“China Modern Dairy”), an associate of the
Company listed in Hong Kong until February 2023. Mr. Lu was
the Vice President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition
Greater China and had been with Danone Group and Dumex
Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his tenure at
Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and
market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management
skills and in-depth market knowledge, Mr. Lu had contributed
significantly to the success of Danone Group’s baby nutrition
business in China. Prior to joining Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9
years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and
almost 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Prior to
joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience in
sales and marketing and has been in general manager or senior
executive roles for over 10 years. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in the management of fast moving consumer products
and dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and in-depth
knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor’s
degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.

MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Wang Yan, aged 44, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in December 2021. Ms. Wang Yan, who joined
the Group in November 2021, is currently a vice president of the
Group. Ms. Wang has previously served various roles including
general manager of talent development at the human resources
department and deputy director of the human resources
department at COFCO Corporation. Ms. Wang holds a master of
management degree from the Renmin University of China
specialising in human resources management.

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 58, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in December 2021. Mr. Zhang Ping, who
joined the Group in 2014, is currently a vice president and the
chief financial officer of the Group. Mr. Zhang Ping is also a
director of a number of the Group’s subsidiaries, including the
Group’s major subsidiaries Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited and Inner Mongolia Tegaoxin Dairy Co., Ltd. (A
SEESHAEMRABRAF]). He has over 33 years of experience
in the fast-moving consumer goods industry, specializing in
management of operation, finance and audit, as well as risk
control. Mr. Zhang Ping worked in Swire Beverages group
companies as manager responsible for internal audit and system
development, finance director, general manager of bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang Ping is also a
non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd, China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. and China Shengmu Organic Milk
Limited respectively, all being companies listed in Hong Kong, and
a director of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Company Limited
(listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Zhang Ping
graduated from the Beijing Information Science and Technology
University with a Master’s Degree in Management Engineering.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Lang, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company in April 2019. Mr. Chen joined COFCO Corporation in
April 2019 and is currently an executive vice president of COFCO
Corporation, and a non-executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of Joy City Property Limited (a company listed
in Hong Kong). In the past, Mr. Chen had served as a director
and the chairman of the board of directors of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, an executive vice president of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a director of CRH (Beer)
Limited, the chairman of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Investment Co., Ltd., a director of China Resources
Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources National
Corporation), the chief executive officer of China Resources
Vanguard Co., Ltd., the chairman of each of China Resources Ng
Fung Limited and China Resources C’estbon Beverage (China)
Investment Co., Ltd. and a vice chairman and the chief executive
officer of China Resources Logic Limited (now renamed as China
Resources Gas Group Limited). Mr. Chen was a vice chairman of
the board of directors and a member of strategy committee of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Limited (LU F8AIER %
EERDBRAR) (@ company listed in Shanghai) until June
2019, an executive director and the chairman of the board of
directors of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (a
company listed in Hong Kong) until July 2019, and a
non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors
of China Foods Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong) until
September 2022. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Economics
degree from Anhui University, China and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of San Francisco, USA.
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Mr. Wang Xi, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in December 2021. Mr. Wang joined
COFCO Corporation in July 2015, currently serves as the
assistant to the director of the Strategy Department and the
general manager of the Direct Investment Division of COFCO
Corporation, and is a director of COFCO WOMAI.COM
Investment Limited (FI2H B EHBR A F]). At COFCO Strategy
Department, Mr. Wang previously served as assistant general
manager of M&A Division, deputy general manager and general
manager of Equity Management Division. Prior to joining COFCO,
Mr. Wang served as assistant general manager of Direct
Investment Division IV at China Development Bank Capital Co.,
Ltd., and before that an associate at the investment banking
division at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch. Mr. Wang
holds a bachelor’'s degree in economics and a dual bachelor’s
degree in laws from Peking University, and a degree of master of
public administration from Columbia University, New York.

Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens, aged 57, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in January 2021.
Mr. Stevens graduated from Loughborough University in 1988
with a Bsc honours degree in Management Sciences. He started
his career in Unilever for 14 years in sales and marketing roles
based in U.K., Netherlands and Italy. He joined Arla Foods in
2002, as a Sales Director in the UK business as part of the UK
leadership team and then became SVP of Sales and Marketing
where Mr. Stevens spearheaded the development of major
customer partnerships and built a fast-growing branded portfolio
helping grow the UK business from £500 million to £2.5 Billion
and from No. 4 in dairy to No.1 supplier in FMCG. In 2016,
Mr. Stevens moved to the newly set-up Europe Zone as Senior
Vice President for Commercial Operations, overseeing the Sales
and Marketing functions and working closely with Arla’s Supply
Chain organisation. During this time Mr. Stevens’ focus was on
creating regional growth engines across the brand portfolio and
driving a digitalisation agenda across the sales and marketing
functions. In 2020 he moved to Dubai to lead the MENA
business, Arla’s largest region within its International Zone as a
Senior Vice President. In a short space of time Mr. Stevens has
applied his considerable leadership capabilities to work with his
country heads and Arla’s joint venture partners to navigate the
business through COVID-19, delivering exceptionally high levels of
growth for Arla’s key brands and customers and maintaining a
safe working environment for Arla’s workforce of around 3,000
colleagues. On 1 January 2021 Mr. Stevens joined Arla’s
Executive Management team as EVP International responsible for
all Arla’s International business and the International supply chain.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter), aged 60, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company in December 2021. Mr. Yih received his Bachelor of
Laws degree from King’s College London and he is a Fellow of
King’s College London. Mr. Yih is admitted to practice law in
Hong Kong. He is a partner of the Hong Kong law firm Kwok Yih
& Chan, where his practice focuses on corporate finance, capital
markets, securities and regulatory compliance. Mr. Yih currently is
an independent non-executive director of the Sinochem Energy
Co., Ltd. and independent non-executive director of Sun Art Retail
Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock code:
6808). Mr. Yih was the president of the Law Society of Hong
Kong between 2012 and 2013, and holds various public offices
and community appointments in Hong Kong. He is currently a
member of the Guangdong Province Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also a Justice of
the Peace appointed by the Hong Kong Government, chairman of
the Financial Dispute Resolution Centre, a member of the
Steering Committee of the Quality Education Fund, a member of
the Standing Committee on Legal Education and Training, a
non-executive director of the Securities and Futures Commission,
a non-executive director of eMPF Platform Company Limited and
a member of University Grants Committee.
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Mr. Li Michael Hankin, aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2021. Mr. Li has more than 30 years of experience in financial
and accounting, fundraising, mergers and acquisitions,
restructuring and international business development. Mr. Li has
since May 2016 served as an independent non-executive director
of COFCO Joycome Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong (stock code: 1610) and is currently the chairman of its audit
committee. COFCO Corporation has an interest of 29.10% in
COFCO Joycome Foods Limited based on its public filings. Mr. Li
has also served as an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Clarity Medical Group Holding
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock code: 1406) since
March 2019. Mr. Li worked at several Hong Kong listed
companies as head of corporate finance, general manager of
investor relations and mergers and acquisitions, including as head
of corporate finance of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3800) during January 2014 to June 2015 and as general
manager of investor relations & mergers and acquisitions of
Newton Resources Limited (stock code: 1231) in 2013. Mr. Li
also worked at several international banks where he had led
numerous fund raising exercises in Hong Kong and the United
States. During the period from March 1994 to June 2004, Mr. Li
was the executive director (corporate finance) at BNP Paribas
Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited. During the period from July 2004 to
December 2005, Mr. Li was employed at GoldBond Capital (Asia)
Limited and was a managing director (investment banking) of
Rothschild (Hong Kong) Limited during the period from March
2007 to May 2011. From November 2017 to August 2019, he
was the deputy general manager of Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock code:
730). Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accountancy from
California State University, Los Angeles in June 1985, and a
master’s degree in business administration from Columbia
University, New York in May 1992. Mr. Li is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ge Jun, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in December 2021.
Mr. Ge had previously served as the assistant engineer of
Shanghai Research institute of Building Research, administrative
manager, deputy director of the corporation and public affairs
department, director of the President office, secretary general of
the foundation and assistant president of the China Europe
International Business School, President of the Pudong Innovation
Institute, and associate dean of the Shanghai Institute of
Advanced Finance at Shanghai Jiaotong University. Mr. Ge is
currently an executive director of the National Innovation and
Development Strategy Research Association.
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Mr. Ge has been an independent director of Huize Holding Ltd.
(NASDAQ, stock code: HUIZ) since February 2020. Mr. Ge has
also been an independent director of Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd.,
(Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002416 since October
2022. Mr. Ge was an independent director of Focus Media
Information Technology Co Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002027) from February 2019 to November 2021. Mr. Ge
was also an independent director of Meinian Onehealth
Healthcare Holdings Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002044) from October 2018 to October 2021.

Mr. Ge’s areas of academic expertise include corporate

governance, corporate stakeholder relations, evaluation of
innovation mechanism, responsible business and sustainable
development.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 46, is a senior vice president and the head of
UHT business unit of the Group. Mr. Gao graduated from
Shandong University and Tsinghua University, and obtained an
Executive Master in Business Administration degree. Mr. Gao
joined the Group in 1999, and successively held the positions of
regional manager, center manager, sales general manager and
marketing general manager of the sales and marketing
department and contributed to the rapid growth of the market
share of Mengniu. Mr. Gao has abundant practical experience in
sales, marketing and promotion and business operation of dairy
products. In 2016, he was appointed as vice president of the
UHT business unit. He is currently responsible for operation and
management of the core business of the Group.

Mr. Wen Yongping, aged 48, is currently a vice president and
the head of research and development and innovation of the
Group. Mr. Wen graduated from China Agricultural University and
obtained a Doctoral Degree in Food Science and Engineering.
Mr. Wen joined the Group in 1999 and successively served as the
general manager of production direction centre, operations
assistant vice president, milk sources vice president and head of
chilled product business unit of the Group. He is experienced in
production and operations management, milk sources
management and core business operation management. Mr. Wen
was a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy, a company
listed in Hong Kong, until January 2019.
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Mr. Zhao Jiejun, aged 46, is currently a vice president and the
head of mik sourcing and animal husbandry industry chain
business unit of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from the Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics with a postgraduate
qualification. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in 2000 and served
successively as greater regional sales manager, sales director,
general manager of operation, general manager of planning and
logistics and head of supply chain of the Group. Mr. Zhao has
almost 20 years of experience in dairy industry and specializes in
both sales management, supply chain management and dairy
farms segment management. Mr. Zhao is visionary with keen
market insight towards dairy industry in China. Mr. Zhao is also a
non-executive director of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited,
and has been the chairman of the board of directors of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company listed in Hong Kong,
since February 2023.

Mr. Luo Yan, aged 61, is currently a vice president and the head
of chilled product business unit and fresh milk business unit of the
Group. Mr. Luo graduated from the China Textile University and
Fudan University, and obtained a Bachelor's Degree in Textile
Engineering and a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration
respectively. Mr. Luo joined General Mills China in 1999 and
served successively as national sales director, vice president
(Greater China) and director of global business unit of
Haagen-Dazs. He continued to be the vice president (Greater
China) of General Mills in 2014, and was responsible for sales in
China Region, as well as the retail and food and beverage
business department of Haagen-Dazs. He has worked in the food
industry for 30 years with extensive experience in the industry and
management. Mr. Luo joined the Group in November 2017 and
has served as the head of development business and other
positions.

Mr. Chen Yiyi, aged 49, is currently a vice president and head
of strategy management of the Group and is responsible for the
strategic and investment management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Fudan University with Bachelor’s degree in law. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Chen successively worked for Nestle, International
Paper, Tetra Pak Sidel, China Resources Enterprise and other
well-known international companies and listed companies in Hong
Kong and Mainland China as national commercial manager, North
Asia regional director, strategic vice president, president and
executive director and other senior management position,
respectively, in the past 25 years. Mr. Chen has served in the
fast-moving consumer goods industry such as dairy and retail
industry for many years. He has extensive experience in the
industrial operation integration, strategic planning management,
and corporate cooperation and mergers and acquisitions as well
as industry-wide vision and international business experience.
Mr. Chen joined the Group in December 2021, and has been a
non-executive director and member of the strategy and
development committee of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a
company listed in Hong Kong, since February 2023.
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Ms. Liu Lijun, aged 41, is currently a vice president and the
head of human resources department of the Group. She
graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology with Master’s
Degree in software engineering and City University of Hong Kong
with Doctorate Degree in Business Administration. Since joining
the Group in August 2002, Ms. Liu has served in human
resources position. Ms. Liu served as the head of human
resources management, director of the human resources
department, human resources director of marketing system and
head of organization development of the Group, and general
manager of human resources centre of the room temperature
product business unit. She served as the vice president and
officer-in-charge of personnel management in 2021. Ms. Liu has
participated in and successfully led group-level panels and human
resources reform projects for many times. She has rich theoretical
and practical experience in the field of human resources
management.

Mr. Yang Zhigang, aged 50, is currently a vice president and an
officer-in-charge of safety and quality of the Group, and is
responsible for risk control and auditing, bidding management
and procurement management. He graduated from the Huazhong
Agricultural University and Central China Normal University, and
obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Food Technology and
Engineering, and a Master’'s Degree in Economics respectively.
Mr. Yang joined the Hubei Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine
Bureau in 1995 as section manager and deputy director of the
office; and temporarily worked for the general office of State
Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau/General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine.
He joined the registration and administration department of
Certification and Accreditation Administration of the People’s
Republic of China as researcher, department head and vice
inspector in 2002. He joined COFCO as general manager of the
quality and safety management department, and vice director of
the audit and legal risk control department in 2013. He has
extensive experience in the audit of safety and quality and risk
control. Mr. Yang joined the Group in June 2017.
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Mr. Han Jianjun, aged 49, is currently the vice president and the
head of the ice product business unit of the Group. He also
oversees the ice cream business of Aice in the Southeast Asia
region. Mr. Han graduated from Shandong Agricultural University
with a Master’s Degree in agricultural promotion. He joined the
Group in 1999 and held various positions successively, including
head of production and operation of ice products, general
manager of the room temperature production management
centre, and general manager of the ice product business unit. He
has rich management and practical experience in the supply chain
field of room temperature and ice products. He has also led the
ice products business unit to achieve growth of over 100% for
three consecutive years.

Mr. Li Pengcheng, aged 52, is currently a vice president and the
head of group affairs of the Group. Mr. Li graduated from the
department of information management in Peking University with
a Master’'s Degree in science and technology intelligence, and
Tianjin University with a Doctoral Degree in Management. Mr. Li
used to work in the Office of the Central Internet Security and
Information Technology Commission, where he was the inspector
of the network emergency management and network public
opinion bureau, deputy director general and director of the China
Internet lllegal and Objectionable Information Reporting Center
(bureau level). Mr. Li joined the Group in September 2018.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 50, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and he also served in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group
and the Shareholders, and that an effective corporate governance
framework is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing
Shareholder value.

Mengniu strives to create sustainable corporate governance by
integrating ESG concepts into its corporate management, setting
GREEN strategy goals. The Board believes that strong corporate
governance provides a solid foundation for sustainable growth and
long-term success.

Under the pillar of GREEN strategy "Governance-Sustainability”,
Mengniu has set three topics of ESG governance, risk
management and business ethics, to continuously improve board
governance effectiveness, optimize ESG performance assessment
methods, consolidate the Group risk management system,
enhance the business ethics management standards, and actively
create a good internal and external governance environment.

Through maintaining and developing robust corporate governance
practices, the Group strives to ensure satisfactory and sustainable
returns to the Shareholders, appropriate understanding and
management of the overall business risk, delivery of high-quality
products and services to the satisfaction of customers, and
maintaining high standards of ethics.

The Company is committed to continuously enhancing these
standards and practices and inculcating a robust culture of
compliance and ethical governance underlying the business
operations and practices across the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in
compliance with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including three executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang, Ms.
Wang Yan and Mr. Zhang Ping, three non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chen Lang, Mr. Wang Xi and Mr. Simon Dominic
Stevens and three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter), Mr. Li Michael Hankin
and Mr. Ge Jun. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chen Lang
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Lu
Minfang.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise
formulation of the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting
of performance and management targets, evaluation of business
performance and supervision of management’s performance. The
Board is also responsible for preparing the financial statements of
the Company. The management is delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and
operations of the Group. The role of the management is to
implement the strategies and directions determined by the Board
and to work within the framework of any written procedures and
instructions laid down by the Board. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company (the “Board Committees”) as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 60 to 66 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and
decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed their independence and concluded that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the definition of the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted a written policy containing
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board. These mechanisms include formal and
informal channels whereby Independent Non-Executive Directors
can express their views in an open and candid manner.

As required by the policy, the Chairman of the Board shall hold at
least one meeting per annum with the Independent Non-Executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to discuss major
issues and any concern.

The Nomination Committee also assesses the independence of all
Independent Non-Executive Directors annually to ensure that the
Independent Non-Executive Directors can continually exercise
independent judgment. Each Independent Non-Executive Director
is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may
materially affect his/her independence.

In addition to compliance with the requirements prescribed by the
Listing Rules as to the composition of certain Board Committees,
the Company appoints Independent Non-Executive Directors to
other Board Committees as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available.

Where necessary, the Independent Non-Executive Directors could
also seek independent advice from external professional advisers
at the Company’s expense.

The Board conducts review of the implementation and the
effectiveness of the policy on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is

responsible for determining the policies for

corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties including:

(@)

During the vyear,

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

to review and monitor
professional
management;

the training and continuous
development of Directors and senior

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and

Corporate Governance Report).

the Board has performed the corporate

governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company Secretary also provides Directors
with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading
materials with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors. A summary of trainings received by the
Directors during the year according to the records provided by
the Directors is as follows:

BT
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Type of trainings

Directors = 35158 5l
Executive Directors HTES

Lu Minfang & BUR A B, C
Wang Yan B3 A, C
Zhang Ping iR A, C
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Chen Lang PR BA A, C
Wang Xi %5 A C
Simon Dominic Stevens Simon Dominic Stevens A, C
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES

Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter) Hee A C
Li Michael Hankin FER A C
Ge Jun 2% A C

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the
business or directors’ duties

B: giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C: reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and
regulatory updates
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding key
business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect of
operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held five meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022 and one further meeting since 1 January 2023
up to the date of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance
at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the annual
general meeting of the Company held in 2022 are set out in the
following table.
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Strategy and
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination  Development Annual General
Meetings* Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BRR
Directors Ezgey ENZRE ¥MzEg REZE8 BRZEE RRBEAE
Executive Directors HTES
Lu Minfang E&N 5/5 1 11
Wang Yan I# 5/5 11
Zhang Ping &F 5/5 1/1
Non-executive Directors FunEE
Chen Lang &5 5/5 11 1/1 11
Wang Xi I% 4/5 il i
Simon Dominic Stevens Simon Dominic Stevens 5/5 11 11 11
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, e 5/5 5/5 2/2 1/1 11
Dieter)
Li Michael Hankin 2R 5/5 5/5 2/2 il i
Ge Jun Bl 5/5 5/5 212 il il i
* During the year, the Board held four quarterly meetings and one  * EEERFR|OTTHOATEERA —KEME

other meeting to handle operational-level and investment matters.
According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for
convening a Board meeting is two members.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the
Directors for their records. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and
advising the Board on compliance matters.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
Board while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
managing the Group’s business. As at 31 December 2022, the
Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chen Lang, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr.
Lu Minfang, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive adequate information in a
timely manner, which must be accurate, clear, complete and
reliable. The Chairman shall also ensure the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner; good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established; and appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective  communication with Shareholders and that views of
Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting or the next following
general meeting of the Company respectively after the
appointment. Also, when an independent non-executive Director
proposed for re-election has served the Company for more than
nine years, his or her re-election will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established five Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Strategy and Development Committee and the
Sustainability Committee, each of which is governed by specific
terms of reference approved by the Board, covering its functions,
duties and powers. The terms of reference of the respective
Board Committees have complied with the CG Code provisions
and are disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and are available for public inspection at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Ge Jun,
Mr. Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter) and Mr. Li Michael
Hankin). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Ge Jun.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments
in their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration for employees is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business needs
and industry practice. For determining the level of fees paid to
members of the Board, market rates and factors such as each
director’'s workload and required commitment will be taken into
account. In addition, factors comprising economic and market
situations, individual contributions to the Group’s results and
development as well as individual potential are considered when
determining the remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Scheme to improve incentives to the employees of the
Group. The performance targets attached to awards or options to
be granted under the schemes mainly include the annual financial
performance of the Company (i.e. the annual revenue, profit
attributable to owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the
Group).

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2022. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

— reviewed the remuneration policy and made
recommendations to the Board;

—  reviewed the proposal of granting shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board; and

—  reviewed the proposal of granting share options according
to the Company’s share option scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (excluding share-based payments) of the
members of the senior management (excluding Directors) by band
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

FMAER (AR®T)

1,000,000-2,000,000
4,000,000-5,000,000
8,000,000-9,000,000
11,000,000-12,000,000
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10
to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprised
five members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter), Mr. Li Michael
Hankin, Mr. Ge Jun) and the remaining two members are non-
executive Directors (Mr. Chen Lang and Mr. Simon Dominic
Stevens). The Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen
Lang.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value to
the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out below to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The
Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be taken into account:

° Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skKills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.
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° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and whether
the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Under such policy,
board appointments will be based on merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional, industry or management experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into
account other factors based on its own business model and
specific business needs from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will continue to give adequate consideration to these
measurable objectives when making recommendation of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy on an on-going basis. The Nomination Committee shall
assist the Company to ensure that recruitment and selection
practices at all relevant levels (including the Board and core
senior management, or as the Nomination Committee considers
appropriate) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered. The Nomination Committee shall
also assist the Company in identifying and implementing
programs that will assist in the development of a broader and
more diverse pool of skiled and experienced core senior
management team and that, in time, their skills are expected to
prepare them for board positions.
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In regards to the gender diversity of the Board, the Board
currently has one female director and will maintain at least one
female director on the Board going forward. The Nomination
Committee will continue to identify candidates for directorships in
accordance with the board diversity policy and will recommend
suitable female candidates with merits to the Board. The Board
will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2022 to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company and to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai
Tak, Dieter), Mr. Li Michael Hankin and Mr. Ge Jun) in which one
possess the relevant professional qualifications required under the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Li Michael
Hankin.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022. During the vyear, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

—  met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;
and

— reviewed external auditors’ letter

management’s response;

management

—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;
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= made recommendations to the Board on the new
appointment of the external auditors;

— reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

— reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;

— reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

—  reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

—  reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
and those who deal with the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit
Committee have been addressed by the senior management. The
work and findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to
the Board. During the year, no issues brought to the attention of
the senior management and the Board were of sufficient
significance for disclosure in the annual report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2022
and the consolidated financial performance and cash flows of the
Group for the year then ended. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about its responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 121 to 129 of the annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing and reasonably ensuring their effectiveness. The
objectives of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are to apply the philosophies, procedures and methods of
risk management and internal control to operation and
management process under its further optimized risk management
and internal control system in an effort to prevent and mitigate
major risks and enhance management capacity; and to objectively
evaluate the effectiveness of governance, control and risk
management of the Group through independent internal audit
while reasonably ensuring the realization of the Group’s strategic
objectives and operation objectives and propelling the sustainable
development of the enterprise. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed for managing risks rather than
eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management

The Group has been solidifying three lines of defense in risk
management. It has developed a multi-level risk panel, which
comprises the Audit Committee under the Board and the risk
management committee of the operating management. The Risk
Management Committee is the highest deliberative body for risk
management, in which the chief executive officer of the Group
and the vice president of the Group who is in charge of risk
control and auditing business serve as the chairman and the
executive deputy chairman respectively while the committee
members comprise the head of the major business divisions and
functional departments.

The risk management department is a daily operation body
specially established by the Risk Management Committee. The
first line of defense is the business department, which is
responsible for executing and taking primary responsibility for risk
management. The second line of defense is the functional
department, which is responsible for planning and supervising risk
management. The third line of defense is the internal audit
department, which is responsible for evaluating risk management.
With synergy and coordination, these three lines of defense work
together to improve systems and processes, and carry out daily
supervision, independent evaluation and self-evaluation, in order to
ensure the achievement of goals in a reasonable manner.
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The Group has established the system standards for risk
management. Focusing on significant risk control, the Group has
carried out risk management using the “Six-step Method” of risk
identification, risk assessment, risk response, risk monitoring, risk
evaluation and risk reporting. With the adoption of a risk-driven
approach, the Group has formed a closed-loop management
model of “risk identification, business autonomous management
and audit supervision and follow-up”, which supports its business
development.

Ongoing optimization of risk management procedures and
systems is carried out in compliance with risk management
framework of COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission). Through co-operation with external
consultancy institutions and internal business empowerment and
training, the culture of risk management is gradually nurtured, the
professionalism and the prevention and control standard of risk
management personnel are enhanced.

The risk management department organizes annual full-scale
identification and evaluation of each of the business and function
units on the seven aspects of risks, namely, the Group’s
strategies, market, finance, operation, law and compliance, quality
and food safety as well as sustainable development, and it
focuses on the control over the significant risks at group level.
The Risk Management Committee has reached a consensus to
define major responsible departments and person-in-charges. The
heads of departments shall be held accountable. The Group has
formulated appropriate risk response strategic measures or
contingency plans to effectively reduce and avoid the adverse
impact brought by those significant risks to the Group’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development.

Internal Control

The Board and operating management are responsible for
maintaining a stable and effective internal control system, to
safeguard the assets of the Group and the interest of
shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness regularly. The
Group has established a multi-level internal control organizations.
Internal control organizations at different levels coordinate and
cooperate with each other to ensure the Group’s implementation
of internal control.
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The senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate
and manage the significant risks to which the Group is exposed
to and reports to the Board on a regular basis. The Group also
appoints external consultants, when considered appropriate, to
review the Group’s internal control, working systems and
workflows, as well as the management systems, and to make
suggestions on system enhancement.

Internal Audit

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department,
and the person in charge of the internal audit body can freely
liaise with the Audit Committee to directly report the progress of
works, including but not limited to audit work planning, work
results, important audit findings and rectification. The internal audit
body assumes the responsibilities of independent supervision,
assessment and advisory, which include the implementation of
independent and objective assessment and advisory on the
economic activities, internal control and risk management for the
Group and the units concerned. The internal audit body is issue-
oriented and risk-oriented, which reinforces the supervision and
strengthens the functions of management through various works
on audit.

In 2022, pursuant to the Company’s strategies, the internal audit
department focused on key risk areas and covered key control
areas. With its emphasis on economic accountability audit, the
internal audit department strengthened audit rectification and
accountability. The internal audit department completed various
audit works reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee
under the Board, which facilitated further improvement in the
Group’s compliance, internal control and risk management. Efforts
were made to support management and decision-making, and
facilitate business autonomous management, operation
improvement, preservation and appreciation of asset values and
the realization of strategic objectives of the Company in a
reasonable manner.
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The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the work on internal audit at least twice a
year. Resources such as the annual budget on management fee,
staffing of the internal audit department and competence are
guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the Audit
Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
considered them to be effective and adequate. Such review had
considered all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

— basic principles of information disclosure

— information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

—  duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

— procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of

information
—  confidentiality of the undisclosed information

— information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

— accountability and handling measures
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Disciplinary Inspection and Reporting Channels

The Group has set up a specific integrity department, which is
responsible for investigating and handling reported matters on
breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts and corruptions. The
Group has also openly informed our business partners and staff
on the channels and methods of reporting as follows. Firstly, we
announce the complaint and reporting hotline, latest complaint
and reporting email (mMnjw@mengniu.cn) and mailing address on
Mengniu’s official website. Secondly, we announce the complaint
and reporting methods and acceptance scope on Mengniu’'s
WeChat official account. Thirdly, we announce the complaint and
reporting methods in the anti-corruption agreements entered into
between the Company and suppliers. Fourthly, we announce the
complaint and reporting methods in the customer meetings of all
business divisions. Fifthly, we announce the complaint and
reporting methods during the internal anti-corruption warnings and
training held in our daily operations. Sixthly, we announce the
complaint and reporting methods in typical case reports.
Seventhly, we announce the complaint and reporting methods
during the bidding process of the Company. At present, as the
Group has announced the methods of complaint and reporting on
various channels and established the complaint and reporting
mechanism (system), our employees at all levels and partners are
familiar with our methods of reporting and the channels of
reporting are operating smoothly. Such measures would have a
deterrent and preventive effect on matters related to breach of
disciplines or rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to carry out review and evaluation on the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reporting
channels, the resources, the staff qualification and experience for
audit functions and the effectiveness of the work undertaken and
there were no significant areas of concerns identified during the
evaluation of the risk management and internal control systems
and reporting channels. The Board had examined the risk
management and internal control systems including finance,
operation and control and reviewed the evaluation performed by
the Audit Committee, the management and internal and external
auditors, on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and considered them effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concerns were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and
their training programs and budget and considered that they are
adequate.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are KPMG. The Audit
Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee
will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and
the commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-
audit functions will result in any potential material conflict of
interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to KPMG for the year ended 31

December 2022 and fees paid to Ernst & Young for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Services rendered
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2022

—_=EF-—

2021
—E-—4F
RMB’000
AR%ET 7

RMB’000
ARBT R

Annual audit FEER 5,870

Interim review i HA 2R ) 1,000

Other audit services* H bt s 5,580
Non-audit service TR

Review on continuing connected transactions EHREHERS 100

Other professional services** HhF RS 2,650

15,200

* Other audit services mainly include statutory audit and completion — * Hih B RBEEBERAQRE T FRARIRM

audit for certain subsidiaries of the Company.

> Other professional services mainly include agreed-upon procedures
services and comfort letter on circulars provided by KPMG for the
year ended 31 December 2022, and agreed-upon procedures
services, tax due diligence, comfort letter on circulars and ESG
reporting service, etc. provided by Emst & Young for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Group listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, has an amount of RMB3,980,000 (2021:
RMB3,116,000) paid/payable as auditors’ remuneration during the
year.

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees,
effectiveness of KPMG.
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STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee. As at 31 December 2022, the Strategy and
Development Committee comprised one executive Director, Mr. Lu
Minfang, three non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen Lang, Mr. Wang
Xi and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens and one independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Ge Jun. The Strategy and Development
Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen Lang during 2022.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments or financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2022 to discuss about the
medium to long term strategy of the Group.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Sustainability Committee. As at
31 December 2022, the Sustainability Committee comprised three
executive Directors, Mr. Lu Minfang, Ms. Wang Yan and Mr.
Zhang Ping, one non-executive Director, Mr. Simon Dominic
Stevens, and one independent non-executive Director, Mr. Li
Michael Hankin. The Sustainability Committee was chaired by Mr.
Simon Dominic Stevens during 2022.

The principal duties of the Sustainability Committee include
overseeing sustainability, environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues and risks, identifying ESG matters that are relevant
and material to the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries, assisting the Board in preparing and reviewing the
annual ESG Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standards required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct and rules governing dealings by all Directors in the
securities of the Company. The Directors have confirmed,
following the specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy to set out the

principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
The Board has the discretion to propose, declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the articles of
association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

o financial results;

o cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of Shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group, including the Board and senior management, as of
31 December 2022:
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5Bl Z Tt
TERRIBE-FT-—F+-A=+—HL4%E
BT (REESHREMERE) HRILLE

Female Male

Z B

Board Exg 11.1% 88.9%
(1) 8

Senior management (Nete) SRERE WD 15.4% 84.6%
@) (11)

Senior management personnel SREBAE 50% 50%
@) 3)

Middle management personnel PREEAR 26.2% 73.8%
(887) (2,495)

General staff —-®RET 42.3% 57.7%
(18,576) (25,352)

Overall workforce BTHAY 41.1% 58.9%
(19,468) (27,861)

Note: The senior management included one female executive director and
two male executive directors of the Company.

The Group is an enterprise that focuses on manufacturing and
sale of dairy products. Most employees of the Group are
engaged in the front line of manufacturing, sales and farming
duties. Given the labour intensive nature of manufacturing duties,
frequent travels required of sales duties, and the remote locations
of the farms requiring employees to be resident at the farms,
majority of candidates for the Group’s general staff and middle
management personnel (who are generally appointed from such
front-line positions) are male. Considering the small number of
senior management and the fortuitous element in the proportion,
the Group believes that maintaining a non-single-sex senior
management team is a reasonable goal of gender diversity in the
senior management level.
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In order to improve gender diversity of the workforce and attract
female candidates to the Group, the Group has implemented a
specific employee care program with welfare benefits tailored for
female employees.

The Group will continue to strictly abide by all applicable labour
laws and regulations, provide equal opportunities for employees
and candidates of different genders by only considering their
qualifications, experience, performance and other factors related
to the job functions and ensure that there is no unequal
treatment due to gender differences in recruitment, remuneration,
promotion and career development.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and
development. When the Company announces its interim and
annual results, briefings are conducted to apprise investors,
analysts and the press of the Group’s operating results as well as
business strategies and outlook. Investor relations website is
updated on a timely basis to ensure that investors are able to
have access to the Company’s information, latest news and
reports.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the
year. The Board conducted such review from various angles,
including whether the policy provided sufficient channels to
shareholders to access to the Company, and the availability and
quality of the two-way dialogue with shareholders through
channels such as investor meetings.

The Board considered that the Company was able to carry out
effective two-way communication with its investors and
shareholders by way of regular meetings and timely updates of
the Company’s financial results and developments in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Board
considered the policy to be effective and adequate.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two
or more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a
recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by
written requisition, to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
depositing the written requisition at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary, specifying the objects of the meeting, the
name(s) and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and signed by
the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Annual Report 2022 :E::iﬁfﬁiﬁ“

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRESHS

EREFERNE ERFHEEMRAERES
BUMRZER - RRAGRARERRT AEL
RE - BARERRBFOFEIENTETR
REVBK o BT FTIR2RZBRNFIE LR
BREFNEE -

i R A2 A
ERRERBHABRREHAS

REARPEBEREZAR  REEZRZBFA
MHEARABRRASREENHEBATDRA+
D2 —HERRE A ERRIER—BER (B
—ERAEER(REREAN)) BRRELEE
ZRARABRRENAEG - EMEREXEARA
REBNIENHER bl - BERFBES LT
B2625F PR A E3212) - WA R AW E R
A ERAJHAREHNEN  BRANESR LB
MER YHBRARE -

MEFENXFEERZ BRFT21BRTEIZREE
BFBMEZEN2IBRAERAE @ BIBERAB
FREFHARELILRTELS0% A LERF
KAAREZEARAKENHERTAARBRRA
g ER AT A BHANEMNRE NMENKESR
BMERkzBRFA=EAERRAR BARRZA
AFERAENEEESTERBEARAGMEER
ERRARAAGHMEBELENMBRX

93



94

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BREIBHES

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com. The
Company will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely
manner. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors
at the general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination
Committee of the Company of his/her intention to propose any
person (other than himself/herself) for election to the office of a
Director and a notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. Such notices shall
be sent to 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary, specifying the name and contact details of the
shareholder putting forward the proposal for election of Director
and the name and contact details of the person proposed to be
elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
any business specified in such written requisition.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the sections headed
“CEQ’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The
discussions therein form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk, ice cream, milk
formula and cheese in China. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2022 by business segments is set out in
note 4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of the
Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group’s key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depends is set out in the sections of this annual report
headed “CEQO’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and in the notes to the financial statements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are mainly
regulated by Hong Kong, Australian and PRC laws. During the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report,
the Board was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 130.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB0.402 (2021: RMBO0.381) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB1,589,989,000 (2021: RMB1,506,161,000) in
total, to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on Monday, 12 June 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 135 to 136 and note
48 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB6,626,638,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB7,879,423,000).
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately RMB106,728,000 (2021:
RMB45,845,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
During the year, the Company issued 2,016,785 ordinary shares
(2021: 5,070,663 ordinary shares), fully paid, for a total
consideration of RMB27 million (2021: RMB99 million) as a result
of the exercise of share options under the share option scheme
of the Company.

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 38 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 were:

Executive Directors
Lu Minfang
Wang Yan
Zhang Ping

Non-executive Directors
Chen Lang

Wang Xi

Simon Dominic Stevens

Independent Non-executive Directors
Yih Dieter (alias Yih Lai Tak, Dieter)

Li Michael Hankin

Ge Jun

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens and Mr.
Ge Jun will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 60 to 69.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether
civil or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate insurance in respect of potential legal actions against
the Directors and its officers. The relevant provisions in the
articles of association of the Company and the relevant insurance
were in force during the financial year ended 31 December 2022
and as of the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the
Associated Corporations (including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):
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Total Number of
Ordinary Shares/

Percentage of the

Underlying Company’s Issued
Share Held Share Capital
Name of Director Nature of Interest BEZER EARATE BT
EEHNA = FHRE AR 10 4R 2L BRANE 2L
Lu Minfang Personal Interest 20,515,046 (L)Me@ 0.52%®
& B &l A
Zhang Ping Personal Interest 3,090,357 (L)@@ 0.08%®
ik &l A 2
Notes: B &

(1) It represents 977,831 shares granted to Mr. Lu Minfang in which
64,360 shares remain unvested under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company and 19,537,215 underlying shares in
respect of the share options granted under the Company’s share
option scheme.

2) It represents 115,983 shares granted to Mr. Zhang Ping in which
24,805 shares remain unvested under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company and 2,974,374 underlying shares in
respect of the share options granted under the Company’s share
option scheme.

3) Interest held in the capacity of beneficial owner.
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4) Subsequent to the reporting date, Mr. Lu Minfang accepted
3,958,568 options and Mr. Zhang Ping accepted 659,761 options
respectively on 19 January 2023 granted on 30 December 2022
under the Company’s share option scheme. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 30 December 2022 for details.

5) The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage
of the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e.
3,955,195,965 shares) as at 31 December 2022.

L Indicates a long position.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and restricted
share award scheme are set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of the Associated
Corporations as recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’
Interests, Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted
to any Director, or his or her respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.

@) WMEBHE R-_T-=F—A+1B EHK
Jo i Rk T 5 A ) Bl #2481 3,958,568 17 K 659,761
MIRBEARRERENENR =T =_=_F+=A
S+ERENERE -FBHE2HARAZE
T HFE+-A=t+BHzAE-

(6) EHEBEMNEBEGARAR-_ZE-_=_F+=A
=+ — BB ETIRM% B E3,955,195,965 &
DHEE o

L RKERFE-

A7 ) ) AR B0 T R ) PR S 2
155 RIBLA TS [ R RR A £ ) ) J [ B SR E 21 B
w1 -

B EXIEEN R E-—F+-_A=+—
B RAREEZEREBITHABRARQRRA
IRESEE ARG - BERD REEET - BE
BHETAEEEREESKAE KR EI52(5R
EFEMELZMA @ HBBRETASITHE R
NEMBE R TS RA R ©

EEWERDHER

B EXTESRBD - HERD R EEEOE
@ HRRKRE | -8 R T X[ RERERT 8] & [
SREAIIMEEEN  REREMAEHE - 5
BEEMERHAESANEBIARKNFEFLERL
ARRBARASREAEMEEERORDHIE
REMEN MRS - BRSTETEEMERE
Ao BARBHEECAZEBRAR  FARHKAR
FRRMEREMRY  WBEEEAESER
ARm S EREMEE TR B RER -




Annual Report 2022 :Eiiiﬁﬂfﬁﬁ”

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EBRE2HES

FTERRER

RIE-_—F+-_A=+—H BEZHFLHE
1&BIE336IE M EFEMELMATACE: KD A
FEZRE (RARQ R LA EE /R, T P
BNEZNARER EXEHIHARREERE
BITHRABRBRIN RAR RGN R ARG+
EBORBWT ¢

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be

maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued

Share Capital"?

Ordinary Shares EARRATEE BT

Name of Substantial Shareholder FTERFHE EHE TEREA =R AL
COFCO Corporation HREEFRAA 950,014,304(L)" 24.02%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited HEEE(FE)EBRAF 938,103,304(L)2e 23.72%
China Foods (Holdings) Limited FRERMER)BRAA 846,174,304(L) 21.39%
Farwill Limited TEERD ﬂ 938,103,304(L)@® 23.72%
Colour Spring Limited ¥RERA 938,1083,304(L)® 23.72%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited HREILEE Hx*ﬁBE/AT 938,103,304(L)»6 23.72%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited HRIAEKREBRAR 938,103,304(L)2" 23.72%
Prominent Achiever Limited HEBRAQA 938,103,304(L)@® 23.72%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 938,103,304(L)? 28.72%
FIL Limited FIL Limited 316,294,000(L)® 8.00%
Pandanus Partners L.P. Pandanus Partners L.P. 316,294,000(L)° 8.00%
Pandanus Associates Inc. Pandanus Associates Inc. 316,294,000(L)° 8.00%
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 282,767,513(L) 7.15%
282,767,513(P) 7.15%
Schroders Plc Schroders Plc 237,553,370(L) 6.01%
BlackRock, Inc. BlackRock, Inc. 225,395,588(L) 5.70%
743,000(9) 0.02%
Citigroup Inc. Citigroup Inc. 202,377,215(L) 5.12%
9,462,175(S) 0.24%
192,369,480(P) 4.94%
UBS Group AG UBS Group AG 210,733,960(L) 5.33%

Notes: B 5T
(1)  COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of (1) qﬂﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁ AR ABEBEER AR (B H

950,014,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (which is wholly-

owned by COFCO Corporation),

China Foods (Holdings) Limited

(which is wholly-owned by COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited), Farwill
Limited (which is wholly-owned by China Foods (Holdings) Limited),

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited (which is owned by Farwill Limited
as to 70%), COFCO Dairy Investments Limited (which is owned by
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited as to 82.16%), Prominent Achiever
Limited (which is wholly-owned by COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited) and WDF Investment Co., Ltd. (which is wholly-owned by
COFCO Corporation).
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(10)

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited and Arla Foods amba are deemed
interested in an aggregate of 938,103,304 shares in the Company
under section 317 of the SFO.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is a beneficial owner of 91,929,000
shares in the Company and is deemed interested in another
846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being China Foods (Holdings) Limited, Farwill Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
and Prominent Achiever Limited.

China Foods (Holdings) Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate
of 846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being Farwill Limited, COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited,
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited and Prominent Achiever Limited.

Farwill Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate of 846,174,304
shares in the Company through its controlled corporations, being
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
and Prominent Achiever Limited.

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate
of 846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being COFCO Dairy Investments Limited and
Prominent Achiever Limited.

COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is a beneficial owner of
550,146,260 shares in the Company and is deemed interested in
another 296,028,044 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporation, being Prominent Achiever Limited.

Prominent Achiever Limited is a beneficial owner of 296,028,044
shares in the Company.

Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc., FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of Pandanus Partners
L.P., which is in tun a controlled corporation of Pandanus
Associates Inc.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022
was 3,955,195,965.

Indicates a long position.
Indicates a short position.

Indicates a lending pool.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company were recorded in the register maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO.

(10)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work
to increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2
June 2026. Under the rules of the 2016 Share Option Scheme
which was adopted in 2016, participants of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme may include the Company’s directors (including
independent non-executive directors), other employees of the
Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
and any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support to the Group. Pursuant to the updated
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules relating to Share Schemes of
Listed Issuers which took effect on 1 January 2023, eligible
participants of the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall only
comprise (i) director and employees of the Group, (ii) directors
and employees of the holding companies, follow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company, or (i) persons who
provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long term growth of the Group. All existing
grantees under the 2016 Share Option Scheme are employees of
the Group. The Company will not grant share options pursuant to
the 2016 Share Option Scheme to persons who are not eligible
to be participants of the share scheme under the Listing Rules.

The total number of securities available for issue under the 2016
Share Option Scheme is 391,926,640 shares (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”, being 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval (i.e. 3,919,266,402
shares as at 3 June 2016)), which represents 9.92% of the total
issued shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report (i.e. 3,952,464,590 shares as of 29 March 2023). The
maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
approval, being 39,192,664 shares. Further details on the vesting
period, amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
basis of determining the exercise price are listed out in note 38
to the financial statements.
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The movement of the share options granted under the

Share Option Scheme during the year is as follows.

Number of share options

BRELAE

As at

1 January Granted
during
the year

FRRIL

Exercised
during
the year®

FERTED

Lapsed
during
the year

FREX

Name or category of
participant
SHEERAAER

Executive Director

Cancelled
during
the year

FREH

2016

#eh
=

As at
31 December

mF e

Date of
grant of
share options

RiBRERS

REAREBE T - NFRBRES SR NERE

Exercise period of
share options

(both dates inclusive)"
BRETRAR
(BEERMR)

Exercise

price of share
options
BRETEE
HK$

BT

BiTES
Lu Minfang 865,000 - (865,000) - - - 137.2017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14,812
E&H “2—+5rA+=H ZE-N\EtAT=HE
“F-ZFEATCR
690,199 - - - - 690,199 752018 7.5.2019 t0 6.5.2023 26.05
- /\fHALR “E-NFRAtRAZE
—E-=FRARR
9,312,210 - - - - 9312210 24.12.2018 1.4.2019 to 23.12.2023 23.93
“E-\E+t-A-tmA —E-NEWA-BE
—E-ZE+-A-1=H
- 9,534,806 - - - 9534806 1152022 11,5.2023 to 11.5.2027 4058
“E--fAR+-B  ZEZZ4nAt+-HEZ
“E-EFRAT-H
- 3,958,568 - - - 3,958,568 30.12.20229 1.4.2024 t0 30.12.2025 35.54
ZZZZFTZA=TAY ZT-MFMA-HE
—Z-AFTZA=+A
Zhang Ping 470 - 470) - - - 1372017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14,812
®F “Z—+ELA+=H ZE-N\EtAT=HE
“ZCCFtATCA
730 - (730) - - - 7.5.2018 7.5.2019 to 6.5.2023 26.05
—Z-\FRnAtH —Z-NERAtAZ
ZEZ=FHAKA
1,875,430 - - - - 1875430 24.12.2018 1.4.2019 to 23.12.2023 23.93
“Z-\Et-A-tNE —E-NENA-RZE
—E--F+-R-f=H
- 1,008,940 - - - 1008944 1152022 11.5.2023 to 11.5.2027 4058
ZEZZFRRT-B ZEZZFRAT-HE
“ZCtFRAT-H
- 659,761 - - - 659,761 30.12.20229 1.4.2024 t0 30.12.2025 35.54
“E--E+-fS1RE0 —E-NERA-RE
i S s o =
Other employees 1,022,633 - (999,533) (23,100) - - 1372017 13.7.2018 10 12.7.2022 14,812
in aggregate
HinfE 8@t “F—+E+F+=R —E-N\ELAt=ZRE
ZFZZFtATCH
1,640,692 - (101,052) (60,107) - 1,479,533 752018 7.5.2019 t0 6.5.2023 26.05
- /\fnAtH “E-NFRAtRAZE
—E-=FRARR
8,685,320 - (50,000) (51) - 8,635,269  24.12.2018 1.4.2019 to 23.12.2023 23.93
“E-\E+-A-tWA ZE-AEWA-RE
“S-=f+-A-+=H
620,211 - - - - 620211 1.4.2020 1.4.2021 to 31.3.2025 26.54
ZZCTEMA-H ZZ--4NA-HE
“Z-RfZA=T-H
- 21,148,938° - (3,069,580) - 18079358 1152022 115.2023 1o 11.5.2027 40.58
ZZZ-FRAT-A  ZEZZ=FRAT-HZE
ZEZtFRAT-H
- 8576896 - - - 8,576,806  30.12.20229 1.4.2024 to 30.12.2025 35.54
ZZ--ft-R=1RY ZZ-mFRA-RE
“Z-RE+ZAZTH
24712,895 449779138 (2,016,785  (3,152,839) - 64,521,185




Notes:

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets (including mainly annual revenue, profit attributable to

owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the Group), and

ends on a date which is no later than five years from the date of
grant of such options. Further details of the share option scheme

are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

2) The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$39.03.

()] The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
the date of grant of the share options was HK$39.00 as of 10
May 2022.

(4) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
the date of grant of the share options was HK$36.20 as of 29
December 2022.

5) The performance targets attached to the options granted are mainly
based on the annual revenue, profit attributable to owners of the
Company,
circumstances (including misconduct, bankruptcy, criminal offence,

and free cash flow of the Group. Under certain

or termination for cause of the grantee), the options granted would
lapse.

(6) The number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit at the beginning of the financial year is
341,395,697, and at the end of the financial year is 299,570,622.
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under all schemes of the Company during the financial year
divided by the weighted average number of shares of the relevant
class in issue for the financial year is 1.13%.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the
subjective nature of and uncertainty related to a number of
assumptions of the expected future performance input to the
model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself. Details
of the valuation are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
of the Company was adopted by the Board on 26 March 2013
(the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 5 years commencing on the
Adoption Date. On 13 July 2017, the Directors of the Company
approved to extend the validity period of the Share Award
Scheme for approximately another five years to 26 March 2023.
On 11 May 2022, the Directors of the Company approved to
extend the validity period of the Share Award Scheme for
approximately another 3 years to 26 March 2026.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme may include any
director, employee, officer, agent or consultant of the Group who
are individuals. All existing grantees are employees of the Group.
The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to motivate
employees of the Group to maximize the value of and share the
results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is a share scheme of the Company
that is funded by existing shares of the Company. Under the
Share Award Scheme, existing shares will be purchased by an
independent trustee from the market out of cash contributed by
the Group and be held in trust for the relevant participants of the
Share Award Scheme until such shares are vested with the
relevant participants in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme. The Share Award Scheme is not a share
scheme involving the grant by the Company of (i) the Company’s
new shares; or (i) options over the Company’s new shares, to, or
for the benefit of, specified participants thereunder. Grant of
shares under the Share Award Scheme will not result in any issue
of new shares or any dilution effect on the shareholdings of
existing Shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the numbers
of shares to be purchased by the trustee must not exceed
178,105,864 shares (being 5% of the issued share capital as at
the Adoption Date (after adjustment of bonus issue) (i.e.
3,5662,117,284 shares)). The maximum number of restricted
shares which may be granted to a participant of the Share Award
Scheme at any one time or in aggregate may not exceed
17,810,586 shares, being 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date (after adjustment of bonus
issue).

All granted shares under the Share Award Scheme would vest in
two equal batches on the first and second anniversaries of the
date of grant in accordance with certain vesting conditions.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of shares
of the Company granted to selected participants was 5,533,245,
representing 0.14% of the total issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report (i.e. 3,952,464,590 shares as of
29 March 2023).

Details of the interests of the directors, four highest paid
employees (excluding an executive director) of the Company and
other grantees in the shares granted under the Share Award
Scheme are as follows:

Number of restricted share awards

RAERFERBEA

As at

1 January
2022
R-B=Z%
-A-8

Lapsed/
forfeited

during during
the year the year

FRER FARN/ RE

Granted
during
the year

FRRH

Vested

Name or category of participants

SREEAAER

Executive Director

YHES

31 December
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BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE BR¥T
JEE2EENKARREHE £5,533,2450% -k
ARERAPAARARN BB ETRHBEH (T ==
F£=H =+ N B#3952,464,5908% ix 17 ) B9
0.14% ©

BERALAESZ MERSFEE(TERE %
HITES) MEMAR AR BRREZRE TRE
e BESIMT

Weighted
average
closing price
of the Shares
before the
vesting date®
BEAHEN
R4
FHUHES

Closing price
immediately
before the
date of grant
SEREAHA
HEmE

As at Fair value
at the
date of grant®

RE W AN

AEe

Date of grant of
restricted

share awards!"
BRI
ZRMAH

Lu Minfang & Ui 126,531 - (126,531) - - 22.5.2020 28.65 27.30 39.95
128,720 - (64,360) - 64,360 15.4.2021 45.15 44.35 43.30
Zhang Ping 5 49,251 - (49,251) - - 22.5.2020 28.65 27.30 39.95
49,611 - (24,806) - 24,805 15.4.2021 4515 44.35 43.30
Four Highest Paid Employees (excluding an executive director) during the year ended 31 December 2022 in aggregate®
BE-B-CE+tCAS+-BLEEREBRHER (FERE-BUTES) A0
245,454 - (245,454) - - 22.5.2020 28.65 27.30 39.95
252,080 - (126,040) - 126,040 15.4.2021 45.15 44.35 43.30
Other employees in aggregate
AttEE S
2,946,518 - (2,855,564) (90,954) - 22.5.2020 28.65 27.30 39.95
3,696,160 - (1,669,359) (468,752) 1,567,049 15.4.2021 4515 44.35 43.30
- 5,533,245 - (782,447) 4,750,798 11.6.2022 39.00 38.85 -
7,493,325 5,533,245 (5,151,365) (1,342,153) 6,533,052
Further details of the Share Award Scheme are also set out in MR EHEE)TEIE —HFH BN YK IREM T
Note 39 to the financial statements. 39
Notes: B aE -

(1) The performance targets attached to the restricted share awards
granted are mainly based on the annual revenue, profit attributable

to owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the Group.

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on the
market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
dates. No dividend was to be considered. Further details of the
accounting policy adopted are set out in Notes 2 and 39 to the
financial statements.

These refer to the weighted average closing price of the shares of
the Company immediately before the dates on which the awards
were vested.

One of the five highest paid employees during the year ended
31 December 2022 was an executive director, whose interest in the
restricted shares granted under the Share Award Scheme have
already been disclosed above.

EEOREIERRREMIWRRE REEER
EJ;%U\ AAREAANREFERAEEBR
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RELEVANT SCHEME

On 24 January 2021, the Company announced that, subject to
certain conditions being satisfied, certain financial products will be
made available for subscription by the selected participants in the
Group or the Company’s associates who meet certain criteria (the
“Selected Participants”) under a scheme to be adopted by the
Company (the “Relevant Scheme”), pursuant to which the
Selected Participants are entitled to receive certain returns as
incentives (the “Incentives”). The Relevant Scheme was
established to retain and provide incentives to the Selected
Participants to motivate them to further create value for the
Company. On 24 September 2021, the Company further
announced that the Board intended to adopt the Relevant
Scheme (subject to certain conditions being satisfied). It was
expected that the Selected Participants will indirectly subscribe
for certain structured notes (the “Structured Notes”). The
Structured Notes will be issued by Eaglets International Financial
Products Limited (“Eaglets”) (an Independent Third Party), and
Eaglets will subscribe for the Convertible Bonds. The Incentives to
be received by the Selected Participants from time to time will be
based on returns on the Structured Notes which are in turn
calculated with reference to the performance of the Convertible
Bonds and the Company’s Share price. On 26 November 2021,
the issuance and placing of HK$4,862,600,000.00 3.08%
Convertible Bonds due 2026 (debt stock code: 40946) under
specific mandate in relation to the Relevant Scheme was
completed. The bonds are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares beginning in 2022. As at
31 December 2022, convertible bonds with a nominal value of
HK$4,376,340,000 remain outstanding. An aggregate of
127,478,582 ordinary Shares may be issued on a full converted
basis. No shares had been issued under the Relevant Scheme.
For further details, please refer to “Convertible Bonds” in this
Annual Report, the announcements of the Company dated 24
January 2021, 12 October 2021, 23 November 2021 and 26
November 2021, the circular of the Company dated 24
September 2021 and note 31 to the financial statements.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their respective associates to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive during the year ended 31 December 2022, held any
interest in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the
securities of the Company and its associated corporations within
the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

(i) The 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
with COFCO Corporation
On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new
master sale and purchase agreement (the “2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with COFCO Corporation
(“*COFCQ”) to renew the existing Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which the Group will continue to,
subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials
and related products (including packaging materials) from
COFCQ, its subsidiaries and certain associated companies
(collectively “COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2015 and
ending on 31 December 2017, which may be extended at
the Company’s option, for a further period of not more than
three continuous vyears, subject to compliance with any
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“CMD”) has purchased
feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO
Corporation Group Companies in the past and will continue
to purchase feedstuffs and other related materials from
COFCO Corporation Group Companies (the “CMD
Transactions”) commencing from 1 January 2018.
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In view of the anticipated expiration of the extended term of
the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement on 31
December 2020, the Company has delivered an extension
notice (the “2020 Extension Notice”) to COFCO to exercise
its right to extend the term of the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for a further three years. The
Company received a confirmation from COFCO on 22
December 2020 acknowledging receipt of the 2020
Extension Notice. Following the extension of the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group will
continue to purchase (subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option) white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies for a term commencing from 1 January
2021 and ending on 31 December 2023. The annual
transaction amount under the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement (including the CMD Transactions) for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023 is not expected to exceed RMB2,200,000,000.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company, the
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice)
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice) are
on an annual basis more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the 2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the 2020
Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice),
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
22 December 2020.
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(ii)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products (including packaging
materials) was approximately RMB600,131,000, and the
pricing policies set out in the announcements have been
followed when determining the price and terms of the
transactions conducted during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount
paid/payable by CMD to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the CMD Transactions which constitute
continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was approximately
RMB1,161,046,000, and the pricing policies set out in the
announcements have been followed when determining the
price and terms of the transactions conducted during the
year.

Strategic Collaboration Agreement with COFCO
Trust Company Limited

On 23 December 2020, the Company entered into the
Strategic Collaboration Agreement with COFCO Trust
Company Limited for a term of three years. Pursuant to the
Strategic Collaboration Agreement, the Group will purchase
(subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option) various financial services and products from COFCO
Trust Company Limited, for a term commencing from
23 December 2020 and ending on 22 December 2023.

The price payable by the Group Company to COFCO Trust
Company Limited shall be fair and reasonable, and shall be
fixed by reference to and by no means higher than the
reasonable market price at which the Group could obtain
the same type of supplies from independent third parties.
The terms of the Strategic Collaboration Agreement were
determined after arm’s length negotiations and the Directors
are of the view that they are on normal commercial terms.
Pursuant to the Strategic Collaboration Agreement, the
terms and conditions of the supply of various financial
services and products by COFCO Trust Company Limited to
the Group shall not be less favourable than those available
to the Group from independent third parties.

(ii)
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The aggregated transaction amount under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement during any 12 months within its
terms is not expected to exceed RMB1,000,000,000
(*Annual Cap”). The above Annual Cap is determined by
reference to (i) the Group’s overall treasury policies and
cash resources management and investment plan; (i)
historical value of transactions between the Group and
other third parties in relation to similar product or services
types; and (i) any comparable market prices of the relevant
products or services.

COFCO Trust Company Limited is a subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation. COFCO Corporation is a substantial
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected person
of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. As
a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation, COFCO Trust
Company Limited is an associate of a connected person of
the Company, and thus also a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. The
transactions under the Strategic Collaboration Agreement
therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Annual
Cap for the transactions under the Strategic Collaboration
Agreement are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details about the Strategic Collaboration Agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
23 December 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Trust Company
Limited for the transactions under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement was approximately
RMB775,000,000. This aggregate transaction amount
represented  RMB700,000,000 outstanding trust units
brought forward from year ended 31 December 2021 and
an additional purchase of RMB75,000,000 trust units for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The pricing policies set out
in the announcement have been followed when determining
the price and terms of the transactions conducted during
the year.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out
above and have confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (i) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions and the
CMD Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note
740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
KPMG has issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 45 to the financial
statements constitute non-exempt connected transaction or
non-exempt continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms
that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i

The equity transfer agreement in relation to the
disposal of equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Aiyangniu

On 15 March 2022, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Co., Ltd* (WEEHERFIE(EB)BRMHBERRE) (‘Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”), a 99.99% owned subsidiary of the
Company, Tianjin Zhongmu Consulting L.P.* (KEFHER
R#SH 0 (BRAEH)), COFCO Trust Company Limited and
Inner Mongolia Shengmeng Investment L.P.* (RE & R 5 Al
E¥REHESPL(BRAEE)) as sellers (the “Sellers”),
Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd.* GRHHE (£E) BE R
7)) as purchaser (the “Purchaser”), and Inner Mongolia
Aiyangniu Technology Limited* (R5 & B &H4FEHE AR A7)
(“Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu”), entered into the equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Sellers agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed
to purchase a total of 75.00% equity interest in Inner
Mongolia Aiyangniu for a total consideration of
RMB287,774,900 (the “Disposal”). Pursuant to the Equity
Transfer Agreement, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and COFCO
Trust Company Limited agreed to dispose of 48.66% and
11.79% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu for a
consideration of RMB186,711,100 and RMB45,221,700
respectively.

The Disposal was completed in June 2022. Upon
completion of the Disposal, Inner Mongolia Mengniu’s equity
interest in Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu decreased from
73.66% to 25.00% and Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
15 March 2022 for further details.
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(ii)

the master equity transfer agreement in relation to
the acquisition of 20% equity interest in each of

the Chilled Business JVs

On 6 May 2022, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone
(Shanghai) Holding Co., Ltd.* (e (L&) IREFRAR)
(“Danone Shanghai”), among others, entered into the master
equity transfer agreement (the “Chilled Business SPA”),
pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Mengniu conditionally
agreed to acquire from Danone Shanghai, and Danone
Shanghai conditionally agreed to sell, the 20% equity
interest (the “Chilled Business Sale Shares”) in Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co. Ltd.* (A5 &5 4 E ke
FLEBEMRAT) and the individual chilled business joint
ventures (the “Chilled Business JVs”) which are chilled
business companies jointly held by Danone Shanghai and
the Group (the “Chilled Business JVs Acquisition”). As of the
date of the Chilled Business JVs Acquisition, Danone
Shanghai was an associate (as such term is defined under
Rule 14A.13 of the Listing Rules) of Danone Asia Baby
Nutrition Pte. Ltd, which was a substantial shareholder (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of Yashili, a subsidiary of
Mengniu. Accordingly, as of the date of the Chilled
Business JVs Acquisition, Danone Shanghai was a
connected person of Mengniu at the subsidiary level.

The parties to the Chilled Business SPA agreed that the
purchase price for the Chilled Business Sale Shares shall be
up to RMB1,600 million, provided that, among other
adjustment conditions, if the Dumex China Disposal is
completed in accordance with the Dumex China SPA, Inner
Mongolia Mengniu shall pay RMB200 million to Danone
Shanghai in cash within 10 business days after completion
of the Dumex China Disposal (or any other date agreed
between the parties). The adjustment to the consideration
for the Chilled Business Sale Shares was introduced to
incentivize parties to complete the Dumex China Disposal.

The completion of the Chilled Business JVs Acquisition took
place on 26 August 2022, upon which the Chilled Business
JVs have become wholly-owned by the Company and/or
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of the Company.

Following the completion of the Dumex China Disposal on
2 March 20283, Inner Mongolia Mengniu had paid RMB200
million to Danone Shanghai in accordance with the Chilled
Business SPA.

(ii)
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Please refer to the announcement jointly issued by the
Company, Star Future Investment Company Limited and
Yashili on 6 May 2022 and the announcement of the
Company dated 26 August 2022 for further details.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued convertible bonds
with a nominal value of HK$4,862,600,000 which were placed to
Eaglets International Financial Products Limited (an Independent
Third Party) as part of the Relevant Scheme, which was
established to incentivize the Selected Participants. The bonds are
convertible at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares
with the initial conversion price of HK$34.73 per share (which was
subsequently adjusted to HK$34.33 per share as from 15 June
2022) beginning in 2022.

The Company redeemed convertible bonds with a nominal value
of HK$486,260,000 on 21 November 2022. As at 31 December
2022, convertible bonds with a nominal value of
HK$4,376,340,000 remain outstanding. An aggregate of
127,478,582 ordinary Shares will be issued at the adjusted
conversion price on a full converted basis, with an aggregate
nominal value of HK$12,747,858.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2022, except that the trustee of the
share award scheme of the Company adopted on 26 March
2013 (the “Share Award Scheme”), pursuant to the rules of the
Share Award Scheme, purchased on the open market a total of
8,175,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of
approximately RMB253,946,000.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 103 to
105, the share award scheme as set out on pages 106 to 107,
and the Relevant Scheme as set out on pages 108 to 109, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
revenue of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has pledged certain
investment deposits, pledged deposits, and property, plant and
equipment aggregating to approximately RMB433,365,000 (2021:
RMB2,479,689,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
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COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 46(d) to the
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and for the
previous four financial periods are set out on pages 327 to 328.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 70 to 94.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Company’s environmental, social and governance
policy and performance are published in the separate 2022
Sustainability Report (ESG Report) of the Company, which will be
available at the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange at the same time as this annual report is published.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 May
2022, Ernst & Young retired as the auditors of the Company
upon expiration of its term of office at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022.

As disclosed in the Company’s poll results announcement dated
8 June 2022, KPMG was appointed as the auditors of the
Company with effect immediately after the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022.

By order of the Board of Directors

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 130 to 326, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BEETER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, RBER

in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HIfFAMBKRANBISZAEENETE - ZL4E
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These MERAERFIBAEEGAMBRENTEEERE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the #E/TEER KM T eHELIHEEHEBY

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our & & °
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Assessing impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives

FEEERERERFRERNBEE
Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.5.
B2 S B EIRA N 20 R M at2.3 70 ) & 5B E °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

EE P NAEHZER

HEESEER

The carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks with Our audit procedures to assessing impairment of goodwill
indefinite useful lives amounting to RMB20,689,266,000 and trademarks with indefinite useful lives included the
represented 18% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 following:

122

December 2022.

T —F+-_A=+—H BENERFHRFEREZ
BRI & %8 5 A R #20,689,266,0007T * 1f EEEEE
EHI18% °

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
allocated to the cash generating unit (CGU) groups.
Impairment test was performed by management on the
CGU groups to which goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives have been allocated at least
annually by comparing the carrying value with the
recoverable amount of the CGU groups, which is the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use of the CGU groups was
determined by management using discounted cash flow
forecasts.
HELERCAFREEREIEEReELETAE (R
CELETAE]D EREZIEFAEBNRRCELE
TCAR R BRTEI B B AT Y [l & 2B (BN E B E KA 1 ER
ERANERSE) HEEREREAFREAFIEED
RENREELSETHETRENR - ERERAITR
RensRAREEReELETHANEREE -

HFERELREREAFRAGNAEABNETEFE
ERENUATRER

understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

T R I AT AE B (E RT 14 AR A A B 8 A B4 I B0 RR ET AN
EIT

assessing management’s identification of CGU groups
and the allocation of assets and liabilities to each
CGU with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

2ERTEFENNRTE  FHEREHREELS
THANF RS EESEReELETHNEERAE

discussing future operating plans with management
and comparing key assumptions in the discounted
cash flow forecasts, such as the estimated future
sales growth rates and corresponding gross margin
rates with the approved budget and with reference
to historical sales growth rates and corresponding
gross margin rates;

ST 5 i AR E 5 & T R IR m SRR
BEEZME (MBEARKHEZRERBBENX) R
RYENTEERL BRI 2 ERE L HEERE RABRE
A=
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Assessing impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives (continued)

T B I R PR R A 4F PR A AR AR (E o)

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.

FRH S BHENZ20R M i32.38) 5B °
The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEESEE

We identified assessing impairment of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives as a key audit
matter because the preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement in determining key
assumptions, particularly the future sales growth rates,
corresponding gross margin rates and the discount rate
applied, which could be subject to management bias.
BB AEEREREAFRERORMERR SER
B FHE EHRTRBESRERANER Y LERTE
TE2RJ[(LEEZRKHEE KX - HBAEMNX REA
MR REHEENEREEAE  mMEEE ALY
FARE -

EESPNAEHZER

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
when appropriate, evaluating the methodology
adopted with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards; and assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted cash flow
forecasts by comparing with range of discount rates
adopted by companies in the similar industries;
ERSDHEEZERBT - ER - 2ERTEFAEL
R E LR AN L MBBEBAMUITENRF
IR R X EEMLE - A ETRRERETEA
REREITER X

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including future sales growth rates, corresponding
gross margin rates and discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts and considering
whether there are any indicators of management
bias;
THEEEELABRTIERR(BERAREEHLRX
HEEMNEERNITRBREBAPHEAOTIRE)
RENBREINTRERESFEEMEREHILE
BimmEETHE

performing a retrospective review of last year’s
impairment assessment and comparing the forecast
data with the current year’s results to assess the
reasonableness of the prior year’'s discounted cash
flow forecasts and making enquiries of management
as to the reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these have been considered in
the forecasts of the current year; and
HEFHREN G ETE NN KRR BUREARF
EERBELEE - AT E—FEHRRRSRETAE
BN RAEEESHBEEIRNERMERE LR
EARZEECEEARAFERAETER &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment assessment
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

DERITEFEANATE  FAAGEVBRERTEA
REFEHRE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (ontinueq) ARESTEEw
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Assessing impairment of an investment in a material associate

FEERBEQATNRENRE

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.

R A I REZN 21 RATiE2.387 i 8 8 5 IR °
The Key Audit Matter

REEITSEE

investment in China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), a material
associate of the Group, amounted to
RMB8,241,189,000, representing 7% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2022.
ZTEZFF+ZA=+—H " BESERPBERHE
TREBRAR ([HERKEE])  —K EEENEK
B An - ;IR EEARKS 241,189,000t - 16 BE&E
BREET% °

The Group’s

Management performed an impairment assessment of
the investment in China Modern Dairy by comparing the
carrying value of investment in China Modern Dairy with
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use of China Modern Dairy was determined by
management based on a discounted cash flow
forecast.
EREREFPERABENREREERIKE S
BOEMERBERAAEBRBEEKANKSE) BLE
HHRRAKENREETREN G - EBERBINER
ReneBABEPRHRRKENEAERE -

We identified assessing impairment of an investment in
a material associate as a key audit matter because the
preparation of discounted cash flow forecast involves
the exercise of significant management judgement in
determining key assumptions, particularly the future
sales growth rates, corresponding gross margin rates
and the discount rate applied, which could be subject
to management bias.

B EREE QA RINRE B RESMN RBRERT
F2H RARFTRRSREVANGHIREEEEE
BRLHEBAREEERE - HEAENERERNE
RE)KELEENEBEAIE  mMERERIE YT
BiRm o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EE PN ESEZER

Our audit procedures to assessing

impairment of an

investment in a material associate included the following:
HEFEEABERTANRERERBNEEFIEER
IATREF:

understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

T AR RT B B R (E AT i A8 A ) R 52 PO R 2 0 R T AN
BT

discussing future operating plan with management
and comparing key assumptions in the discounted
cash flow forecast, such as the future sales growth
rates and corresponding gross margin rates with the
approved budget and with reference to historical
sales growth rates and corresponding gross margin
rates;
HERENRARLESE LB ITRR 2R ETAF
WEERER (WAKHEZR X RBAENX) BLH
BENTHEERLERIT L2 ERELHEE KX RBHER
x;

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
evaluating the methodology adopted with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and assessing the discount rate used in
the discounted cash flow forecast by comparing with
range of discount rates adopted by companies in the
similar industries;

ERNFEEZERBE T - 2ERTET LR ET
AR A - RBBEAMITEN R B IERAR
FREHEELR AT RBEeREFARERATN
=
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq) FAREETEEw

Assessing impairment of an investment in a material associate (continueq)

AEERBEQAANRENBE®

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.
BRI S BEIREN 21 R M 2.8 A7 4k ) & 5 °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEEAEE EEF PN AESEZEE

° evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including future sales growth rates, corresponding
gross margin rates and discount rate adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecast and considering
whether there are any indicators of management
bias; and
THEEEEABREIERR(BERKREELRX
HAEMNXERRTRERRERAPHEANFTRE)
RENBREINTRERRERFEEMERE L ILE
BlRAGNIE &

° performing a retrospective review of last year’s
impairment assessment and comparing the forecast
data with the current year’s results to assess the
reasonableness of the prior year’s discounted cash
flow forecast and making enquiries of management
as to the reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these have been considered in
the forecast of the current year.
HEFHRER G ETTIENER S TER BUREARF
BEBELEE - Ut E—FEHRRRSRETALN
B RAEBESABERIEMERZHNR
HAARZEEELTRAFERAETER -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with

relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yu Wai Sum.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

iRSIREE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB’) B ZE —ZE - —F+ - A=+—B It FE (UALE([ALE]) ZIR)

2022 2021
S8 —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR®T ARET T
Revenue ' ON 5 92,593,322 88,141,475
Cost of sales SH & AR (59,903,540) (55,751,561)
Gross profit EF 32,689,782 32,389,914
Other income and gains H A A R e as 5 2,139,649 1,617,656
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHER (22,347,316) (23,487,674)
Administrative expenses TEHEA (4,441,844) (3,524,302)
Impairment losses on financial and SR REHNEERBER
contract assets, net B35 7 (289,432) (208,293)
Loss on derecognition of financial RERK AT EN B/
assets measured at amortised cost BEKRIEERMESE
B 1R (53,993) (33,565)
Other expenses Hih & 6 (1,863,564) (1,863,223)
Interest income A B U A 1,385,385 1,027,394
Finance costs BhE B AN 8 (1,125,263) (743,072)
Share of profits and losses of: ATREFEEER
A joint venture —RXEEDPE = (34,905)
Associates BN 21 408,949 728,238
Profit before taxation B A0 7 7 6,502,353 5,868,168
Income tax expense FriS i & i 11 (1,317,549) (904,510)
Profit for the year 7N R 5,184,804 4,963,658
Attributable to: FER
Owners of the Company VNNV 583 5,302,972 5,025,537
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R A (118,168) (61,879)
5,184,804 4,963,658
Earnings per share attributable to AATREBREZRKRR
ordinary equity holders of the EhEEREFR (UE
Company (expressed in RMB BARYITET)
per share) 13
Basic AR 1.342 1.274
Diluted e 1.336 1.267

The notes on pages 140 to 326 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payables to equity holders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

Note 12.

F140E 26 BB ZEM BRI —Z5 °
JEAT AR B ERS A A TG AN E F B B AR B &
BEAMHFE12 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeETHIEE
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —_—_F + A=+ —H I FE (XA RKZIT)

2022 2021
—E-_C T —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Profitfor the year o] AEMB 5,184,804 4,963,658
Other comprehensive income Hh2mH k=
Other comprehensive income that may be Hitk AfpE EFT B E 18
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent B E M2 Bz -
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign /BN EMEINE T E =58
operations (410,782) (607,784)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of RERFHHRTERARE
hedging instruments arising during the year: EHMERED -
— Total hedging loss recognised in other — REME2AEKEER
comprehensive income (excluding RO ¥ B 1B 48 KR
exchange differences) (T BEINEFTE
=) 753,048 15,634
— Amount reclassified from other — BHEMEEREEN
comprehensive income to profit or loss DB SR (298,971) (6,078)
Share of other comprehensive income BB E AR EMmEm
of associates I %5 (6,977) (72,824)
Net other comprehensive income that HEATRERIE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEaNEMEE KR
subsequent periods oB® 36,318 (671,052)
Other comprehensive income that will not be HET e s 7 HE B
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent B E b2 Bz -
periods:
Exchange differences on translation SN = KR (915,068) 135,546
Equity investments designated at fair value EERUAREFEEH
through other comprehensive income: FHEt AHMEE K
BIRAIRE -
— Changes in fair value — AREE 680 (74,800)
Net other comprehensive income that will HZFASEHIE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEENEME2E KR
subsequent periods FEE (914,388) 60,746
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  Hftt2E i - HERHA (878,070) (610,306)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXHREERE 4,306,734 4,353,352
Attributable to: BN
Owners of the Company VNN £33 4,414,370 4,467,823
Non-controlling interests FEFE A% A% R AE 2 (107,636) (114,471)
4,306,734 4,353,352

The notes on pages 140 to 326 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

fRSRIIFIRIRE

at 31 December 2022 (Exoressed in AMB) A —Z2 = — 4%+ = A=+—8 (UAL¥ZT)
2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 14 19,652,598 17,335,240
Construction in progress EEIR 15 4,111,176 2,619,402
Investment properties A 16 61,067 62,508
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 2,783,177 2,142,140
Goodwill S 18 8,887,830 4,857,687
Other intangible assets HihEpEE 19 12,374,368 7,999,443
Investments in associates /NI R =) 21 10,396,345 15,793,874
Deferred tax assets EIERRIBE = 22(a) 1,600,692 1,561,308
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 32 475,625 11,119
Other financial assets Hih e ah & E 23 20,240,280 14,235,644
Long-term prepayments RHEIFE (T30 26 452,973 463,038
Total non-current assets HIERBEE 81,036,131 67,081,403
Current assets REEE
Other financial assets Hih e g & E 23 6,827,398 4,666,980
Derivative financial instruments PTESMI A 32 4,716 1,901
Inventories rE 24 8,073,377 6,485,485
Trade and bills receivables FE U AR TR R TR 4B 25 3,660,242 4,159,688
Prepayments, other receivables and TR R~ H A e e
other assets NEMEE 26 4,639,624 4,285,875
Pledged deposits REES TR 27 284,213 203,151
Cash and bank balances Re MBITET 27 12,765,829 11,216,861
Assets held for sale BEGEEE 43 521,675 —
BRBEE 36,777,074 31,019,941

Total current assets
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
RS RIERRE

at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) N~~~ F+ - A=+—8 (UAKEZT)

2022 2021
—ZE_-_ ===
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T AREF T
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bills payables EREREER 28 10,200,635 8,803,902
Other payables and accruals H A FE T 5008 R FE R
=3 29 13,581,433 14,576,417
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEER
borrowings 30 9,094,719 4,265,484
Derivative financial instruments TESMT A 32 25,769 1,239
Income tax payable FEREEE 226,846 221,206
Other financial liabilities HthSpasE 34 - 1,203,800
Liabilities held for sale BEAFEAE 43 23,850 —
Total current liabilities WREBEE 33,153,252 29,072,048
Net current assets BERBEE 3,623,822 1,947,893
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERABEE 84,659,953 69,029,296
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Interest-bearing bank and other ATERITREMEE
borrowings 30 26,106,255 18,786,328
Convertible bonds AR EH 30/31 3,907,631 3,981,115
Deferred income PEE U A 33 572,132 477,833
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE 22(b) 3,926,470 2,456,217
Derivative financial instruments PTESmMIE 32 10,708 36,305
Other financial liabilities HEthESmasE 34 84,959 1,292,066
Total non-current liabilities HWERBEE 34,608,155 27,029,864
NET ASSETS BEE 50,051,798 41,999,432
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_

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
fRSRITRRREE

at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) X —Z— —F+ - A=+—8 (UAKEZT)

2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARKETTT
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the R E R IR R G
Company e
Share capital fi% AR 35 359,948 359,774
Treasury shares held under share KEREFTEI TFAR
award scheme 9 EE 17 B 17 39 (175,701) (29,244)
Other reserves H A 36 10,466,418 12,057,667
Retained earnings REFH 29,447,875 24,437,587
40,098,540 36,825,784
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR SR A 2 9,953,258 5,173,648
TOTAL EQUITY mER 50,051,798 41,999,432

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on BHE€EN T _=F=F -+ A BHELRKE

29 March 2023. FzE -
Chen Lang Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
5 BA E 8k
Director Director
EF EE

The notes on pages 140 to 326 form part of these financial 5 140E326 M B A SMIERERN—2H -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
GelHEREE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —_—_F + A=+ —H I FE (XA RKZIT)

2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &k AR TR ARBFT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBELENRESRE
Profit before taxation: FATFE - 6,502,353 5,868,168
Adjustments for: BTASIERE
Interest income FEWA (1,385,385) (1,027,394)
Finance costs RN 8 1,125,263 743,072
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BERSETE 7 2,456,658 2,014,184
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 315,886 293,762
Depreciation of investment properties BREWMERE 7 1,510 4,567
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hib R & EEH 7 104,194 83,925
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE BERSZE  E
and equipment, other intangible assets and EEEERERELE
right-of-use assets (Wezs),/ BB 5/6 (22,179) 59,463
Impairment of financial and contract assets, net SREAENEEREFE 7 289,432 208,293
Impairment of other intangible assets HinmpEERE 6 = 204,306
Impairment of goodwill HERE 6 742,437 621,230
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value FEMRZAIEFE 6 238,049 183,540
Amortisation of deferred income for assets B R TE M A B 5 5 (95,505) (90,274)
Loss on partial disposal of equity interests in an BAOHEHEARREZ
associate B8 6 - 10,584
Loss on re-measurement of an equity interest in ~ EBAHEEHAEH S A
an associate upon a business combination AR EREE 6 12,639 —
Loss on re-measurement of an equity interest in =~ WEXBEEHAEALE
a joint venture upon a business acquisition ERENEE 6 = 38,092
Gain on disposal of an associate HER & QA2 W 5 - (54,198)
Gain on disposal of business & B 5 (55,750) =
Share of profits of associates FE(E 5= A B A E (408,949) (728,238)
Share of losses of joint ventures EiEeEtEER - 34,905
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BETRAM K 5 (241,460) =
Net fair value gain on exchangeable bonds ARBMEHFARERRFE 5 (113,817) (200,732)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net [ 5 e (Yees) 388 5/6 45,676 (19)
Net fair value gain on a commercial promissory PEEREER R E RS
note HEE 5 - (2,629)
Net fair value (gain)/loss on unlisted equity BAREFEEEEHA
investment at fair value through profit or loss Bl EMRERER
A E S/ BIEFE 5/6 (1,271) 1,326
Net fair value loss on unlisted equity investment WA SROE HRRE ) 5 R R =
in Jilin Province Guangze Dairy Technology AmBEER A
Co, Ltd. (“Guangze”) with put options (TE=Z]) FELEmiRERE
NAEEEFE 6 9,083 3,350
Net fair value loss/(gain) on forward currency RHINEEN R R BEER/
contracts (fzs) 558 5/6 31,754 (2,140
Net fair value gain on other financial liabilities Hin a8 EA R E R
= 5 (861,710) (632,700)
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interests in RA D LS N R RE
an associate W sk 5 - (79,041)
Fair value amortisation of share-based payment AR ESFARD BERD
component of the convertible bonds SRED R B 7 566,155 51,901
Fair value amortisation of equity-settled share VARR 15 32 1+ ) BB AR R 2 HE
option arrangements UOREE: 55 7 58,844 8,519
Fair value amortisation of share award scheme LER I R N E: 572! 7 131,932 173,773
Reversal of restricted shares expense of a FRAIRHEREHS L
subsidiary 7 (70,068) —
Changes in working capital: BEEEEH:
Decrease in other financial assets — entrusted HnemEERD) — BT
loans to dairy farms MEMEZTER 609,642 538,094
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Cﬁl\iS_C)_L_IDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
ERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z ——F + A =+—H I FE (KALEZF)

2022 2021
—E2_— B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR TR ARBF T
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,157,830) (615,593)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills EREZRZERD,/
receivables (3% hn) 241,192 (1,106,227)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits RESHERCEM), B (52,222) 116,370
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other B HtERRIERE
receivables and other assets B Em L,/ () 460,188 (868,689)
Increase in trade and bills payables AR Sl 1,396,728 584,712
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Hith eI R TBIRE A
accruals CR),/# (565,593) 2,810,075
Cash generated from operations REXBELNES 10,307,876 9,248,337
Interest paid FRFE (1,044,423) (800,864)
Income taxes paid SRR (930,402) (902,794)
Net cash flows generated from operating REEBELENFRERE
activities 8,333,051 7,544,679
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENRESRE
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEYE  BERZE
equipment (640,347) (565,474)
Additions to construction in progress WEEETRE (4,195,694) (5,539,330)
Purchase of land use rights included in right-of- BESACHAEEEN MG
use assets At (90,251) (71,169)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHEMENEE (138,144) (44,308)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and BREME  BEREE - Et
equipment, other intangible assets and right-of- BREAERGREEEMS
use assets HE 112,872 112,868
Purchase of other financial assets REHMEHEE
— equity investment — E=mRE (61,677) (45,155)
Deemed contribution to Yashili for disposal of & % K BAR AT 1L F
Dumex China A (200,000) —
Purchase of other financial assets BEHMEREE
— investment deposits - BREEX (23,991,900) (19,259,538)
Withdrawal of other financial assets W el H fth 5 Bh & B
— investment deposits — REBFEK 23,636,870 22,391,286
Increase in other financial assets Hith 5 ph & EL N
— entrusted loans - ZHER (220,000) (2,729,900)
Withdrawal of other financial assets Y Bl & fh 5 Bh A
— entrusted loans — ZAER 195,000 691,898
Increase/(decrease) in other loans HEFEm/ rd) 370,000 (300,000)
Dividends received from associates U BBt 2 A BB S 116,601 212,821
Increase in time deposits with original maturity REBHAA=M@A N LA ES
of more than three months =6 (11,068,677) (5,824,981)
Interest received WERF B 993,955 1,233,617
Acquisition of subsidiaries g S S/NE] 41 405,946 (830,137)
Investments in associates REEE D RMEKE (3583,315) (5,039,033)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HETRRMBRE 42 162,784 65,000
Receipt of government grants for property, plant  UER¥I% « [RE K & & 50 BUF
and equipment Ik 103,630 101,373
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEBFMANFERESR (14,862,347) (15,440,162)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HelREREE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z ——F+-A=+—HIFE (KAKEZTF)

2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &k AR TR ARBFT
Cash flows from financing activities BETHELENRESRE
Proceeds from issuance of corporate bonds BIRREHFMERIE 20,628,595 15,500,000
Issue of convertible bonds BT MR ES - 4,000,000
Repayment of corporate bonds 1%“{’&7%%‘4 (21,136,603) (15,000,000)
Redemption of convertible bonds fHEREAE (434,362) =
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans SESRTERMERIE 36,200,778 26,802,584
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BEFTERITER (27,533,970) (23,289,839)
Increase in pledged deposits for bank loans and ~ RITERRIBTREBED
bank facilities RESFFILM (28,840) (70,000)
Capital element of lease rentals paid Tﬁﬁ EMEENTD (216,182) (281,854)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEEREF B (31,376) (25,462)
Interest paid BAHE (51,326) =
Paid for acquisition of puttable non-controlling Wk A] ﬁ‘iiﬁ R AR R Rz Y
interests B3R 34 (1,562,202) —
Disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without u”j%ﬂ_"/}ﬁz%%(flﬁik%f
loss of control PEIE) 31,671 3,987
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi B FE 8 PR AR R 4 - (99,281)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FEIERBRREDTE 24,789 210,415
Shares issued under equity-settled share option R AR 17 21+ 0 B AR i 22
arrangements ?é‘ﬁﬂﬂ” 38 27,034 98,833
Shares purchase for share award scheme R REEEIER (2583,946) =
Dividends paid to owners of the Company iﬁzli AERERERRE 12 (1,506,669) (1,071,002)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AT FE PR R AR R 4 s D R B (10,288) (5,791)
Net cash flows generated from financing RETHELNFRERE
activities 4,147,103 6,772,590
Cash at bank and on hand classified as held 2EBEEFENRTEEN
for sale FERES (59,209) =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BeRBLSEBYURDFE (2,441,402) (1,122,893)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1B1HRERESEEY 8,091,745 9,225,493
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXRZENF L (FH) 43,090 (10,855)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12A1A RS R AL EEY 5,693,433 8,091,745
Analysis of balances of cash and cash ReRECEEYERIT
equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the REMBRARF IR R
consolidated statement of financial position e RBITER 27 12,765,829 11,216,861
Time deposits with original maturity of more than ~ REIEIE A=1E AU LK EH
three months iEx A (7,072,396) (3,125,116)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RiZeReRERPIIRNE
consolidated statement of cash flows e RREEEY 27 5,693,433 8,091,745

The notes on pages 140 to 326 form part of these financial

statements.

F140E 26 BN EBZEYM BRI —2 5 °
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) is
an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment holding
company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the

REAREBEH

PRSFILEERAT(ARRAR]D BEHA
EREFMKINEREBER AT - XA
&) ) & it i FE b ik AP.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104 * Cayman lIslands ° ZN‘A &) & —
BILEER AT - XA REFRR (5H

“Group”) are engaged in the manufacture and distribution of

dairy products.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

[(AEBEDTEREARMEERKEHE
& o

BEFRAANEH
ARREBFRAFBOT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Particulars of issued interest attributable to
Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
AL
£ o % 3 A itk B ERTRARKREFE FOAECREEIE FEBXEHR
Direct Indirect
HiE i #
China Dairy Holdings Cayman Islands 143,654 shares 100% — Investment holding
RS 143,654 I A 5 100% — REZR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 408,137,905 shares — 100% Investment holding
EBERHA 408,137,905 & % {5 = 100% REZER
Start Great Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 100 shares 100% — Investment holding
(“BVI")
EBRAHS 100 A% A& 15 100% — REZK
(TREBEZES])
Colour Vantage Limited BVI 1 share 100% — Investment holding
EBBRLRE 1IRBR 15 100% — REZR
Future Discovery Limited BVI 73 shares 100% — Investment holding
REBERES 73R 100% — REER
Golden Stage Holdings Limited BVI 1 share 100% — Investment holding
EBRLRHS 1IRAR R 100% — REER
Vision Clear Limited Hong Kong 998 shares 100% — Investment holding
B 9981 A% 17 100% — REZR
Bright Rainbow Limited Singapore 1 share = 100% Investment holding
b 1ARAR 19 = 100% &EZR



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
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EBEFLATINER @

Particulars of issued

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
HEMmRL
£ BENSE S!S ERTRBZREFE AAFEERERILE TEXK
Direct Indirect
HiE B3
Bright Treasure Pty Ltd. Australia 1 share - 100% Investment holding
R M T8 1 AR A% 17 = 100% K&K
Wise Journey Pty Ltd. Australia 1 share - 100% Investment holding
SRR R TR 1R A 17 = 100% REZER

China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. BVI 9,929,581,785 shares 99.95% — Investment holding

PERFTEBEAERDA RERREHS 9,929,581,7850% i {5 99.95% — REER

Plant Base Limited Hong Kong 1 share — 100% Investment holding

BHEEHBR AR 5 1 AR A% 17 = 100% REZER

Easy Reach Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% — Investment holding

BEBXRKREARAF BB 1,000,000 0% % 17 100% — KREERK

Tianjin New Value Supply Chain The Chinese RMB20,000,000 - 100% Sale of raw material
Co., Ltd. (Note (iii) Mainland

REBIHHEEEER AR (P RE) B KR AR #20,000,0007T = 100% Hi&E R

Inner Mongolia Special High-tech Dairy The Chinese RMB250,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and sale
Products Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products

ARERFEMARDER AR () B KRR AR #250,000,00070 = 100% HERHEIHR

Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Beijing) The Chinese RMB87,500,000 21.36% 78.64% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products

E4adilss () BEREEAR B R RE AR #87,500,0007T 21.36% 78.64% HERHEIAEM
(B =E (i)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) The Chinese RMB1,504,290,870 8.99% 91.01% Manufacture and sale
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mainland of dairy products
Mengniu”) (Note (ii))

AERERTAX(EE)RHERRA SilcipN AR #1,504,290,8707T 8.99% 91.01% HERHEIAHM

(TRREA41) (i)
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 AREREEZER @

(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EETFATNER @
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Particulars of issued interest attributable to
Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
HEMmRL
£ B ES SR ERTRBERAFE AATEERETILE FEXEK
Direct Indirect
B i
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou The Chinese RMB30,000,000 26.40% 73.60% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
AREEFTAXBHEARAEEAR (FIEE) HBAE AR #30,000,0007T 26.40% 73.60% H£ENMEEIARSR
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (Note (ii)) The Chinese RMB106,000,000 26.06% 73.94% Manufacture and sale
Mainland of dairy products
SHIAECER) AREEA R (FEG)  PEIARE AR #106,000,0007C 26.06% 73.94% HEERHEIAHM
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB250,000,000 26.05% 73.95% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii) Mainland of dairy products
SHIE B AREEAR (M)  PBEIARRE AR #250,000,00070 26.05% 73.95% HERHEIARM
Mengniu Dairy Tai'an Co., Ltd. (Note (i)  The Chinese RMB60,000,000 26.03% 73.97% Manufacture and sale
Mainland of dairy products
SHEAEFLRERAERD T (i) LlEIPN AR %60,000,00070 26.03% 73.97% HERHEAEM
Mengniu Dairy Jiaozuo Co., Ltd. (Note ()) The Chinese RMB450,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and sale
Mainland of dairy products
S (EE) AR QA (FEE@)) LlEPN A R #450,000,0007T = 100% HERHEINED
Mengniu Dairy (Ma’anshan) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB275,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
S4ILE (B8 R AR (&) LlEPN AR #275,000,0007T = 100% HERHEINHED
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy The Chinese RMB150,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
ARERF SR ERR AR () BB A RE AR #150,000,0007T = 100% H£ERHEIHR
Mengniu Deluxe (Zhangjiakou) Dairy The Chinese United States Dollar 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland (“US$”) 33,533,000 of dairy products
S4EmECGRRA)AXER LA B A RE 33,533,000 75 26% 74% EEREEIHR
(B 52 i) ()]
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2QAFREEER =
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EETFATNER @
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Particulars of issued interest attributable to
Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
ML
=8 EYES SR ERTRBZRAEFE EATEERETILE FEXEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i
Mengniu Dairy (Qigiha’er) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB75,000,000 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
SA4IE(EERB) BRAR (i)  HBEARRE AR #75,000,0007C 26% 74% HERDEIER
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB200,000,000 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
AL (K AR E (MERE(i) GlEiPN AR #200,000,0007C 26% 74% HEERBEIRM
Baoding Mengniu Beverage Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB142,000,000 14.65% 85.35% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
RE R4 BB R A 7 (7 (i) LIPS AR #142,000,00070 14.65% 85.35% HERHEIAHM
Shanghai Mengniu Tengda Dairy Sales The Chinese RMB381,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
EERARENAEHEBR AR (PFEG)) FEARE AE#381,000,0007C = 100% HERHEIRSR
Shanghai Mengyuan Commercial The Chinese RMB500,000,000 — 100% Commercial factoring
Factoring Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland
EERTEEREBERA A (FEE)) HR B K B A R #500,000,0007T — 100% FRER
Inner Mongolia Niuxiangrong Financing The Chinese RMB1,000,000,000 - 100% Financing guarantee
Guarantee Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland business
ASHFZRMERRERAR (K@) FBEKRE A R #1,000,000,0007T — 100% @& FEIRETS
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Cheese Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB468,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
ARG RFPEAREER R () BB A RE AR ¥ 468,000,0007T = 100% H£ERHEIHR
Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashili”) Cayman Islands 4,745,560,296 shares — 51.01% Investment holding
ML HBERZERER AR ([HELF D) HEMS 4,745,560,296 % f& 17 = 51.01% REZERK
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 51.01% Investment holding
B BEREEGRAF BB 1 IR AR5 = 51.01% REZER
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2 FER&EBEE® w

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBEFLATINER @
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity

registration and Particulars of issued interest attributable to

Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
HEMmRL
£ B ES SR ERTRBZREFE AAFEEREBILE TEXK
Direct Indirect
B i
Yashili International Group Ltd. The Chinese RMB2,826,105,300 - 51.01% Production and sale of
(Note (iii)) Mainland dairy products
e+ Fi BBR 5 B A R A A7) (B £ (i) AR B K e AR #2 826,105,3007C = 51.01% 4£ERTEIRS
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. New Zealand 287,032,059 shares — 51.01% Production and sale of
dairy products
FEREEL R EBBRERBR AR Eriic) ) 287,032,059f% i& 1 = 51.01% EERHEEIAHM
Yashili International Baby Nourishment Co., The Chinese RMB531,815,600 — 51.01% Production and sale of
Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland dairy products
HEABEER) R ERMERAR (ML)  BARE AR ¥531,815,60070 = 51.01% H£ERHEARR
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (Note (i) The Chinese RMB2,396,000,000 — 51.01% Production and sale of
Mainland dairy products
ZERBENZRDBERDE () GlEIPN: AR #2,396,000,00070 = 51.01% HERHEAEM
Plant Base (China) Limited (Note (iii)) The Chinese RMB1,030,000,000 — 51.01% Investment holding
Mainland
EEEED (R E) AR AR (i) AR B K B A R #1,030,000,0007T — 51.01% ®EIE
Bellamy’s Australia Limited (“Bellamy”) Australia 116,248,108 shares — 100% Production and sale of

organic food and
formula products for
babies and toddlers
Bellamy’s Australia Limited ([ B 7K |) JRAFIZE 116,248,108 % A% 17 = 100% £ERLEEAEE R
KB4 T E T P
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Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Particulars of issued
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1 PAIREEER @
EBEFLATINER @

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

Name business and paid up capital the Company Principal activities
HEMmRL

£ BENSE S!S ERTRBZREFE AAFEERERILE TEXK

Direct Indirect

HiE B3
AICE Holdings Limited (“AICE”) BVI 167,464,973 shares - 42.25% Investment holding
(Note (iv))

AICE Holdings Limited ([AICE]) (Fi&E(v) HREBEZHS 167,464,973 8% A% 1% = 42.25% JEZER

Australia Nature Investment Pty Ltd. (“ANI”) Australia
Australia Nature Investment Pty Ltd. JRA A2

(TANL])

Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Co., Ltd. The Chinese

(“Milkground”) (Note (i) and Note 41(a)) Mainland
PEYAESRRRMERMHER AR AR B K fE
(MY AT % 1) (Bt k() R M 5241 (a))
Notes:
(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited

liability under PRC law.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

(iif) The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

(iv) In accordance with the article of association of AICE, the
Group has the right to appoint four members to AICE’s
7-member board of directors, and the number of board
members of AICE shall not be changed unless agreed with
the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group.

260,000,000 shares -
260,000,000 % A% 5 -

RMB516,075,147 —

AR¥516,075,147 7T -

90.00% Investment holding
90.00% 1% & Rk

35.01% Manufacture and sale
of dairy products

35.01% 4£ERTEIRS

GEE

() ZREFARNARBPRZEZEZEMAERE
ERF] -

(i) REFARARBPREEZZMARTING
EUNGI

(i) BMEFARA/SNTEEMHNZEINIED
.,

() ARBACEMAMESRMA - AREAE
FEACEL ZEFEMBPHNEES -
BRFEAATRAE - TAUACEEEEH
BHETERE -

EERRLERFIINARRTARERY
AEBAFEREBRTE  HBRAE
BEEFENEARD

145



”China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4+AEGR A 7

146

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Hil 7% R EEMIGT

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

21

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
include all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
applicable International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for share
options, certain financial assets, derivative financial
instruments, certain other financial liabilities and
certain other borrowings which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2

BEREFBEE
21 REE%E

HEFBRERRBEAR G EAIES
€ ((ERestERIEEE ) BT
BB R B B 75 s e Al ([ B B 75
WEER ) (R FTA E A E B B R B
BHREER - BReFHEL ((HEE
FHERD RRBNSE) REBAQF
RO ERTERH - ZFWBEHREIN
BTEEMAERIMERAFES L
MARMTEMRAD & ERRKER
E o MBEBERABELRAERE -
BhiE HToREE T£2RT
A -ETHEMEREENETHMLE
EURAREFE - MBHRERAARE
(TARBD 27 BR=BEHIN - M
BEEYRABREREOMN T -

A EE
REMBRIERAEEEE_F
T CHEF A=+ HULEFENHK
HR - FTRAB/ARREE KA R
HIMER (BREEEER) - EXK
380 2 R & 77 B9 R RS B A
YEr] 2 ey E Rk F A A E O 5
WEERENERHRRE TN
(AIAEEBAIBRENTEWIRET
WA RDNRSERN) X EZE
AT - BNER{SHE G -

E



2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2 EBEASHHEw

2l

REEE g
FEHEE @)
EARARAEEREEEESLRAHIEE
FRZHORFSIBLUEFR - £
ERBEAEWEREFNENR  ~EE
SEEMERBEERENR  BIE:

(@ BEWEREDEMIREREA
M B KR

b) HMEHRHEEENEN: &

© AREWFRORENBERRKE

FRAMM BRI ILERRBARE
BEPRRE TRA -HWEAK
B o FRBINEE B AN K EIUSIES]
BREREEEZEFNELLERRLE
AR -

BEAEMZAKREEHD HEBR
ARRIHEA ABSFHER R S - AD
B < BRI R EaD A RS
#he AEBARRBENMEEERA
B #mE KA RAXEAEEXE
RAAERZNEBERESRERGFEE
BB -

68 FERITBR L = B% 5l
BEEF—HExZN—BEHEZH K

SEEENTHERTHRRE T
BEGIE - TRABNMERERED
(YR LI FIHE) WS RH A -
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary; (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises () the fair value of the consideration
received; (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the IASB to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

— Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

— Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous
contracts-cost of fulfilling a contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

None of these amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented.

2 EAEHHBE=
21 HFBEEE @

2.2

rE B @)

AR BEREE T ARAEGRE - 8
HEBROZTARNEE (BIEE
B)RBE  ()E M IEIERRRE R AE S
B B [ (B R (iif) B #E 2 N RE 85 ) R ET R
HEE RERNMRREBHAARE:

(i) FTIR B E IR E B A 7 B X (i) B
PR E S EERRBBRERE ° K5l
RE 2 WS AR A E B FE(L

Mo BEFBEB /B IRENE (0
ERA) - rREERBRASEER

HERBEEESRBRAREEMER -

S BEREZH

$%IEEA$A§+HHF?E§%%HMK$&
RPEAATHERESHEAEES
bﬁf‘fﬁﬁ’\]lﬁ%“\ﬁﬁ%i&%ﬁﬂuz{? FIA
- H% = §+ DTZK
/E I Y
R TR KR
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S ERE
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAEHHEKRa
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.3 Ej(ﬁ‘l'ft&ﬁiﬁﬁ

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group or

company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

%%@Thﬁﬁl% AIYHEBER
2N - BIIEE EE R Ik
H?%Ma%/ﬂﬁﬁ& BHR
/;&)?E> E"‘j

BECEBHRRAZH B BAEZX
ZHARZHIRNINTBEEZRS

EhENEEFE - KFEGIEIER
BRA W E ﬁ-ﬁtﬁ% LB AR

o EERBED S ARELRTE
BT — RAE T AT R
Eo

AEERBERRRAGELENKRE
DERAEGEARAKEREEE
FFERE RN ERRNER A MR
RN

EAREFENHESTRREME
ERFAE  AEZ2E®M—2-
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EABHEXRw
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and AEEFLHE AR REERENK
other comprehensive income of associates and joint BREERAMEE WD RIFT AL
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of EERREEEEEKER © I
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive ERBERRNEELENERTE
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been EEREE  AEEE (WNER) RN
a change recognised directly in the equity of the ARSEHRANERE T HELE
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its B o AEEHEEBMENANE AR
share of any changes, when applicable, in the 2 IR 5P EE & K AR B IR I 2 & &S
consolidated statement of changes in equity. B HUREBREE AT HEG &
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from EMNIZRE AR T AR - BRIERER
transactions between the Group and its associates or EIRRMEFTEEE ENRERE - K
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the BEE ARG ELFEEEANPED
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ERRSEREE QARG SR EN
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide FHER—EH AR °

evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an R EE R AR EKNBRA &R
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the HIRE - AIREBESTEENTE
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the R2ZIVA - RMezik B REF A=
investment continues to be accounted for under the ENER o EFT B EMIER T - KA
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of ERAMBERTENIREEGEDRE
significant influence over the associate or joint control rEREGIEE  AEESRARE
over the joint venture, the Group measures and FrEREREMRBIRE - KREEK
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. 28 N RESIRER - BE ATk
Any difference between the carrying amount of the EEPHEEREEERBEENARE
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant FEEMSREZENEERNEET
influence or joint control and the fair value of the LATERR ©

retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture ERBE AR EERENREW D
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in HARBEAFE  AlZBREREBREER
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for B ISR E KR ESSRF A FEmFE T
Sale and Discontinued Operations. B EER ORI EZEFAL -
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EXRETBE e

2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

R 2 7 T
EBEHERARBIEAR - FTEZEN
REZWBEBHLAERFE TR
SEMBREE  ASEHRKRETS
R EB A PTAGE ) B (B R AR S P 3
7T LA R ER A5 5 P 5 42 1) 4 A Pl A O LK
BEYAAEMNEN - REXBKA G
FoAEERERLURNABERENR
BRI RREEFENEELD - 5
EWE T HREER ARNALKRNE
REARZLADEEREEFEN
USRS 5 SRR AR A R A 2t o FRIEARR
RiEm e —YIEAMMR D TR R o B
B WEHEBKAREERTH -

B EN AR REERTE R
BREAR-REHBRE MMEY
BEELWENEERER - A5H
RREC KB —HER -

AEERBRBREERES OBER
BB R W iE B HI AR B iR 1 AT
HEMEERMEAENAGEIED
Bhigx  BEEIREBEINES
MRRERANITETA -

HERBAHOPEERTTR - LNERBH
BEERKWEBMAREENAE
MEANEENKGERBEBRRBRERT
PARERR °

151



”China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4+AEGR A 7

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Hil 7% R EEMIGT

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAESTEEw

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

152

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its share options, certain
financial assets, derivative financial instruments and
certain other borrowings at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets, financial assets, investment properties and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held
for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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Related parties (continued) B#HA L @
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (o) #ZHATE TINEMGENE
conditions applies: B
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of (i) ZEREAEEER %
the same group; SRSl A=ENEIE

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture i)y —HEBAS ERBAH
of the other entity (or of a parent, ERRIREERE (KB
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other —ERBNEAF - TAH
entity); HERFRAMET)

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures iy HERERAEEHAR—
of the same third party; FZFTHMAEEDRE

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —HEBRFE=FEEN
and the other entity is an associate of the BERE ME—BEBA
third entity; ZEZFTEBHNBEZEAQ

A

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan vy ZEBABEREEAM
for the benefit of employees of either the g - ZErEIMZEm A AR
Group or an entity related to the Group; SESEAEEEHEELR

WiES ;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) FZEREH @B A T
by a person identified in (a); %Ui#&lﬂ 2=l

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) R ())EFTIMA THZE
influence over the entity or is a member of EEEK?@_}Z ZEE
the key management personnel of the (HZEBREHEAFR )I%
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BEIEABHMKE

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of (vii) FIAREEHAEE A A
which it is a part, provides key RHTEEEABRBEH
management personnel services to the " a‘kﬂﬁﬁ%’élﬁ’ﬂ?sﬂ
Group or to the parent of the Group. KE R
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Non-current assets held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The depreciation rates of property, plant
and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land

Buildings and structures
Plant and machinery
Office equipment

Motor vehicles

Not depreciated
2% to 19%
6% to 32%
9% to 32%
10% to 32%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress
Construction in progress represents plant and

property under construction, which are stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and are not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including the leasehold property held as a
right-of-use assets which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of investment properties. The estimated useful
lives are 50 years. Depreciation methods, useful lives
and residual values are reassessed at each reporting
date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business
combination are measured at fair value based on the
royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually.

Computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 10 years.

Distribution channels and customer relationships

The exclusive right of distribution channels and
customer relationships acquired in business
combinations were stated at cost less any impairment
losses and were amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 15
years.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using the
straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single
transaction, and liabilities directly associated with
those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.
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(continued)
Non-current assets held for sale (continued) T B 1= E R IE T B E m)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for
sale when the above criteria for classification as held
for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after
the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the
non-current assets (except for certain assets as
explained below), or disposal groups, are recognised
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements
of the Group and the Company are concerned are
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance
with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held for
sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or
amortised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases HE

164

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Buildings and structures 1 to 30 years

Plant and machinery 1 to 6 years
Office equipment 1 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

Land use rights 2 to 50 years
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(¢)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of plant and machinery and
office equipment that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement of
profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.3

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.

income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

income.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated
from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or
loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, derivative financial instruments and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria
in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own
credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The
net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged
on these financial liabilities.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.3

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability
in the statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible
bond; and this amount is carried as a long-term
liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and equity components when the instruments
are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by IFRS
9 is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered
into and continue to be held for the purpose of the
receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale
or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the statement of
profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash
flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit
or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments (continued)
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are
classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment;
or

° cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply
hedge accounting, the risk management objective and
its strategy for undertaking the hedge.
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(continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments (continued)
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(continued)

The documentation includes identification of the
hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess
whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge
effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of
sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge
ratio is determined). A hedging relationship qualifies for
hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveness requirements:

° There is “an economic relationship” between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument.

° The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the
value changes” that result from that economic
relationship.

° The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and
the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of
hedged item.

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge
reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of
the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged
item.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EABFHHEXa
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.3

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive
income are accounted for, depending on the nature of
the underlying hedged transaction. If the hedged
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of
a non-financial item, the amount accumulated in equity
is removed from the separate component of equity
and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a
reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised
in other comprehensive income for the period. This
also applies where the hedged forecast transaction of
a non-financial asset or non-financial liability
subsequently becomes a firm commitment to which
fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment in the same period or
periods during which the hedged cash flows affect the
statement of profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the
amount that has been accumulated in other
comprehensive income must remain in accumulated
other comprehensive income if the hedged future cash
flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the
amount will be immediately reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment. After the discontinuation, once the
hedged cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in
accumulated other comprehensive income is
accounted for depending on the nature of the
underlying transaction as described above.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAESTEEw

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw

182

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
other expenses. The change in the fair value of the
hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is
recorded as a part of the carrying amount of the
hedged item and is also recognised in the statement
of profit or loss as other expenses.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at
amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is
amortised through the statement of profit or loss over
the remaining term of the hedge using the effective
interest rate method. Effective interest rate
amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment
exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair
value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the
hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair
value is recognised immediately in the statement of
profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated
as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change
in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to
the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability
with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The changes in the fair
value of the hedging instrument are also recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARSHTEHEm
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments (continued) A 2T A @)
Hedges of a net investment B EF R
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, HHREIGINEBMIREFH(BEA
including a hedge of a monetary item that is RAEEFHEBIMELKIEER )RR

accounted for as part of the net investment, are
accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges.
Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to
the effective portion of the hedge are recognised in
other comprehensive income while any gains or losses
relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign
operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or
losses recorded in equity is transferred to the
statement of profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as
effective hedging instruments are classified as current
or non-current or separated into current and
non-current portions based on an assessment of the
facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

° Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as
an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after
the end of the reporting period, the derivative is
classified as non-current (or separated into
current and non-current portions) consistently
with the classification of the underlying item;

° Embedded derivatives that are not closely related
to the host contract are classified consistently
with the cash flows of the host contract;

° Derivative instruments that are designated as,
and are effective hedging instruments, are
classified consistently with the classification of
the wunderlying hedged item. The derivative
instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHEXa

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Treasury shares EZRG

EFBALAARRHAEEFEN
AGBEARTE (BFRD) RRAE R

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are

recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
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Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present BEEREZHIWEBIRMREED
location and conditions are accounted for as follows: RANZFEREFEAT ¢

FRME — A (32 10 4 7 190K &t

=
>t

Raw materials — cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods — cost of direct materials and labour Km —BEEMBEREEAIX
and a proportion of overheads N UARBEEREES
based on the normal operating LIt ERNEELTEER
capacity on a weighted average (LI EE) ©

basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price A B R ARG EERET I RE
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion E B ERI{EETBCREE ©

and disposal.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®
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(continued)

Provisions (continued)

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the
policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary
assets, the grants are recorded at the fair value of the
non-monetary assets and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one vyear,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued) A HEFE m)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KEEFEABKLA i#)
. Sale of goods . HE R m
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised HEFE MR ARE EE T #
at the point in time when control of the asset is EREEPNNEBMER  —
transferred to the customer, generally on M RREmEr o
delivery of the products.
Some contracts for the sale of products provide HoHEEMME L:] A %}5
customers with rights of return. The rights of BERE  REREMNEENE
return give rise to variable consideration. KB -
. Consigned processing services . LT AR
Revenue from the consigned processing services ZEMIRB AR R E M@
is recognised when products is delivered. Rr TR o
Revenue from other sources K 6 A M R T A
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion & Uk A3 70 HA R 8 b O 3R - I 3E
basis over the lease terms. Variable lease payments KRR — IR Sk bt R A] B E 5
that do not depend on an index or a rate are REANSTHRAER SR
recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
Other income E A
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis R B EARERRAER R AR
using the effective interest method by applying the ERNFREWA - FIEALLERAE SR
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash TAMFARRKER CIESR T AR
receipts over the expected life of the financial hErF A E R A (@A) TR E
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to SRIEEREFENITIRE o
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ Hx S A TR IR 3R URCER AN SR B E I e
right to receive payment has been established, it is CEREAENCENRRITEE
probable that the economic benefits associated with ?ﬁﬁzli’i@ AR AR S & FE ] 7] 523

the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of FrER R
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to
refund some or all of the consideration received (or
receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to
return to the customer. The Group updates its
estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each
reporting period.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau SAR participate in a
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan
managed by the local municipal government in the
locations in which they operate. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the companies’
payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central defined
contribution retirement benefit plan.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EABHEXRw
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Contract liabilities = I=b-1

EMEERAEEEEEMEE MR
BATHEN R A 3 T & P BB (AR
BERE)EARANEE -ANE
BERAEEETEON (AEZEH
EmkRGTER) ER AW -

RFEE
BREEERANRSRENH %D
HEUR (A B ELE - A%
ES 4 BERANESRRN S B
2 - AREREBREMREFAWE
O (5 R 5 A AR 2 BY)
st o

ESEF

RAIKEF]

AEBEFRBEARE - BB MR
TRREENFAR  SEEZER
FE A3 05 B & B A P R FE K
BKRBAGETE - BRAEKIIREAR
FEEAMXBOLAE  ARIEF
RAEHRFEARBHE ORI - £
HEMNKESEBERAXHE -



Annual Report 2022 :g::iiiﬁ”

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

Eﬁ%%‘“ﬂ(%(@)

2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The Company also participates in the defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the retirement
scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option scheme and
share award scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
on which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Notes 38
and 39 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are
fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.3

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used
for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a
capitalisation rate has been applied to the expenditure
on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
Note 12 to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EABHEXRw
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREFEHE®
(continued)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Foreign currencies Ip
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional AEBEEBRESTEEARBRE
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts Tiﬁi\lﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ@% c RNRIRNHSREK
and circumstances. The Company, established in the CEEERRABITTL c HRAKEE
Cayman lIslands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its i :':F'!KF BE CWEAARKEER
functional currency. As the Group mainly operates in REBWEYEE - BAEEERT

The Chinese Mainland, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is
disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded
in other comprehensive income.
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(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.3 BEASHTHEBME®

198

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising
the Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
companies whose functional currency differs from the
presentation currency are translated into RMB at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEASHEEw

(continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires

management to make judgements,

estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends from certain subsidiaries whose equity
interests are directly held by overseas parent
companies according to the relevant tax jurisdictions
is subject to judgement on the timing of the payment
of the dividends or on whether those overseas parent
companies will be determined to be Chinese resident
enterprises by the PRC governing tax authorities in the
future. Except for certain subsidiaries with an equity
interest directly held by overseas third party
shareholders, which distributed dividends required by
those oversea third party shareholders, management
considered that it is not probable that those PRC
subsidiaries will distribute profits earned from
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2022 in the
foreseeable future. For those subsidiaries with an
equity interest directly held by overseas third party
shareholders, withholding tax amounting to
RMB220,000,000 was provided for the year end
31 December 2022 based on the expected dividend
distribution from retained profit in the foreseeable
future. Where the final outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts originally determined, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the
period in which the differences realise.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (continued)
Significant influence over China Modern Dairy

The directors of the Company have concluded that
the Group does not control China Modern Dairy and
accordingly the Group continues to account for its
investments in China Modern Dairy as an associate. In
arriving at this conclusion, the directors of the
Company have made a holistic assessment of the
relevant facts and circumstances taking into account
such factors as the potential voting rights held by the
holders of the exchangeable bonds, voting rights held
by the borrower, the board composition and key
management personnel of China Modern Dairy and the
nature of the Group’s relationship with China Modern
Dairy including the extensive continuing connected
transactions between the Group and China Modern
Dairy. The Company would continue to re-evaluate
such conclusion on an ongoing basis as facts and
circumstances change. Further details are contained in
Note 21(a) to the financial statements.

Control over Milkground

The directors of the Company have concluded that
the Group has control over Milkground, although the
Group holds less than 50% of the voting rights in the
investee. In arriving at this conclusion, the Company
has made a holistic assessment of the relevant facts
and circumstances taking into account such factors as
the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of the voting rights of the
other shareholders, the nature of the Group’s
relationships with other shareholders including the
voting arrangement with a shareholder, any history of
any other shareholders collaborating to exercise their
votes collectively or to out vote the Group, the
Group’s control of the investee’s board, and the
Group’s relationship with the key management
personnel of the investee. The Company would
continue to re-evaluate such conclusion on an
ongoing basis as facts and circumstances change.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units (the
“CGUSs”) (or group of cash-generating units (the “CGU
Groups”)). Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the CGUs (or the CGU Groups) and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of impairment testing of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are given in
Note 20 to the financial statements.

Impairment of an investment in China Modern
Dairy

The Group performs an impairment assessment of the
investment in China Modern Dairy by comparing the
carrying value of investment in China Modern Dairy
with its recoverable amount of value in use. The value
in use of China Modern Dairy was determined by the
Group based on a discounted cash flow forecast.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of impairment testing of an investment in China
Modern Dairy are given in Note 21(a) to the financial
statements.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (continueq)
Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group completes a business combination,
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value.
Management estimation is required to determine the
fair values of the assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and the purchase consideration, and on the
allocation of the purchase consideration to the
identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are determined using valuation techniques including
the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable market where
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement and estimation is required in establishing
fair values. Management must estimate the expected
future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values and resultant goodwill.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the
calculations. Details of deferred tax assets are
contained in Note 22 to the financial statements.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continueq)

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which
they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for
a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on
the terms and conditions of the grant. This also
requires determining the most appropriate inputs to
the valuation model including the expected life of the
option, volatility and dividend vyield and making
assumptions about them. Details of share-based
payments are contained in Notes 31, 38 and 39 to
the financial statements.

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has four reportable operating segments as follows:

° Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages, yogurt and fresh milk;

° lce cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of dairy-based ice cream;

° Milk powder products segment — manufacture and
distribution of milk powder; and

° Others segment — principally the Group’s cheese
business, manufacture of raw materials for daily
products and trading business.

3 EXEHERMAFTw

(b)

ﬁ‘f’rﬁﬁm I'_{Zﬂiﬁ (80

$E.ﬁ£ﬁﬁﬁmh% EER S
AR D2ZEFTAREEENA
AE HEAABEABERIERST
B (BIEENER RGNS &eE
HEEX  TEETHERARES
R ARG BIEERENTESE
B OREBRERE R AR EE
RE% o ARRID BER A BT
R R KR HI5E31 - 38 /%39 °

4 i«('&"ﬁ\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
TRERFTE ASERERERBHEE
EBET - #E THIMETREEE5H

BREPERD S — LERKHEES
BBE Y (TUHTH]) - FLERE ~ B
K gy

K

HEMEMD R — EEREHSI
KRR

PRERAS S — EEREHEDH
I3

Ly El — EER/AKENEE
S HEMRBHEERKEHEES X

o

S5



4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets, and liabilities
Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that interest income, non-lease-related finance
costs, share of profits/losses of a joint venture, share
of profits/losses of associates, income tax expense, as
well as head office and corporate income/expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates,
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale
and other unallocated head office and corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude liabilities of a disposal
group classified as held for sale and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continued)
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with

(@)

reference to the selling prices used for sales made to

third parties at the then prevailing market prices.

Year ended 31 December 2022

Segment revenue (Note 5): BB (HHEES)

Sales to external customers HETIHNERP

Intersegment sales DEEEE

Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment sales HH D BREEE

Revenue LON

Segment results PPEE

Reconciliation: HE

Interest income FIEHA

Finance costs (other than interest on BERA (REERER SN
lease liabilities)

Share of profits of associates et B A R A

Corporate and other unallocated income

RAAREMAD B

Profit before tax AIFE

Income tax expense Fifs R

Profit for the year AEFE

Segment assets PREE

Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment receivables 3 7 FP R e IR

Corporate and other unallocated assets A A REMA D BHEE

Investments in associates N AN Sy

Assets held for sale REGEEE

Total assets BEE

Segment liabilities AHEE

Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment payables K5 SRR A 7R

Corporate and other unallocated RARAMAS HHEE
liabilities

Liabilities held for sale REFEARE

Total liabilities wmaf

4 REFHFER @
(@ »EXBE EEREEw

DEbEEE REE R E N EETE

MEZEHENKANEEETR

% °

BE_Z-_—#F#+_A=+—HLHF
B

Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder

products products products Others Total
BEPER KHRER DRER Hith wct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTr AR%Tn AR%TR AR%Tn ARETn
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Other segment information: Hitt o HEH

Depreciation and amortisation MEREH

Unallocated amounts s Ea

Total depreciation and amortisation LRERBH

Capital expenditure BAZ

Unallocated amounts TrHeRE

Total capital expenditure* BERS

Impairment losses and write-down of ~ R&ABRERERNMES
inventories recognised in the BREEMR
consolidated statement of
profit or loss

Impairment losses and write-down of ~ R&ABRRELMHNES
inventories reversed in the BREEHR
consolidated statement of
profit or loss

Impairment losses and write-down of REBRRERNAEES
inventories recognised in the E&ﬁhﬁﬁkﬁi@gﬁ

consolidated statement of
profit or loss, net

Expense relating to share-based
payment component of the
convertible bonds, share option
scheme, share award scheme and
reversal of restricted shares
expenses of a subsidiary

Unallocated amounts

W R AR AR A A
WE s - BREE R
SRE R —RFAR
g%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi?@@ﬁ'ﬂ%ﬁ

T BeE

Total non-cash expenses relating to
share-based payment component
of the convertible bonds, share
option scheme, share award
scheme and reversal of restricted
shares expenses of a subsidiary

BRABREESARHZ
WE s - BRE R R
SREER—HTAR
BRHERERXBRMNE
REX B
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4 RESTER W

(@ "PBXEB BEERAEE@w
BE_ZT-_F+-A=+—HItF
E @)

Ice cream
products
IKEHE @
RMB’000
AR¥BTR

Liquid milk
products
REDEm
RMB’000
AR® TR

Milk powder
products Others Total
BB Em Hits 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTR ARBTR
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REFHER @
(continued)
(a) Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continueq) (@ PEXBE EEREEw
Year ended 31 December 2021 BHE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—RHI1tF
E
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
RENER  KOEHER MHER Hit war
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT AR®TRT AR%ETR
Segment revenue (Note 5): DEHBA (K EE5)
Sales to external customers HETINERR 76,514,364 4,240,151 4,949,127 2,437,833 88,141,475
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 543,045 46,172 14,415 1,428,142 2,031,774
77,057,409 4,286,323 4,963,542 3,865,975 90,173,249
Reconciliation: G
Elimination of intersegment sales HHBEBEE (2,031,774
Revenue LN 88,141,475
Segment results PEEE 5,089,893 37,633 (1,113,768) (93,106) 3,920,652
Reconciliation: HE
Interest income FIEHA 1,027,394
Finance costs (other than interest on  EYERA (RHAEEEF S
lease liabilities) (717,610)
Share of loss of a joint venture WE FﬁA%ﬁ¥%TE (34,905)
Share of profits of associates FE{EHE R A 728,238
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMT ’“*MZ
income 944,399
Profit before tax 758 31 1 F8 5,868,168
Income tax expense FriEfix (904,510)
Profit for the year AEFE 4,963,658
Segment assets SHEE 59,412,030 4,848,683 17,249,238 2,837,561 84,347,512
Reconcilation: HE
Elimination of intersegment receivables Tﬁiiﬁ S e IR (27,915,033)
Corporate and other unallocated AR REM D HBNEE
assets 25,874,991
Investments in associates N A=UNGI o e 15,793,874
Total assets BEE 98,101,344
Segment liabilities S BEE 29,102,521 3,563,863 6,170,274 2,338,336 41,174,994
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment payables T&iﬁ Vo L AE =] (27,915,033)
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMT A BHAE
liabilities 42,841,951
Total liabilities “aE 56,101,912




(continued)

(@)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REIBEBRw
Segment results, assets, and liabilities (ontinued) (@) PHEBE BERABEW®
Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) HE_Z - —F+-A=1+—HILF
E @)
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
REMER  KEHER WHER Hith Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other segment information: HittnBEH
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 1,844,755 228,420 195,105 30,059 2,298,339
Unallocated amounts TrdesE 98,099
Total depreciation and amortisation BREREH 2,396,438
Capital expenditure BAXH 5,688,670 664,314 232,808 346,909 6,932,701
Unallocated amounts hies 5,201,905
Total capital expenditure* BEAZ 12,134,606
Impairment losses and write-down of NGB R RERNRE
inventories recognised in the BB RFENRAR
consolidated statement of profit
or loss 150,077 128,502 990,107 27,355 1,296,041
Impairment losses and write-down of RERA B R R E K RE
inventories reversed in the BEREEM
consolidated statement of profit
or loss (15,208) (51,675) (6,798  (5.991) (78,672
Impairment losses and write-down of GABRRERNRE
inventories recognised in the BEREERATE
consolidated statement of profit
or loss, net 134,869 76,827 984,309 21,364 1,217,369
Non-cash expenses relating to B RATHRRESR ARG
share-based payment component of MEE S - EREE
the convertible bonds, share option PEES A lPisE]
scheme and share award scheme eX 116,330 15,277 1,033 7,323 139,963
Unallocated amounts TrHeE 94,230
Total non-cash expenses relating to W RABRES ARG
share-based payment component of 05 - ERETE
the convertible bonds, share option e RE:0E )
scheme and share award scheme Ep ALt 234,193

purchase of property,
construction in progress,

other equity investments.

Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the

plant and equipment,
intangible assets,
rights, equity interests in subsidiaries, associates and

land use

AR BREBENE BEMERE &
BIR BPEE THERBEARTFR
A B AR R E MR AR E B IR P X
MRS -
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 &K

(continued)

(b) Geographical information

(i) ___Revenue from external customers VIR A
2021
—_E—_— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
The Chinese Mainland ellEiy N 73 87,997,985 85,067,981
Overseas N R 4,595,337 3,073,494
92,593,322 88,141,475

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(ii) ___Non-current assets

i ABER TIRIER PR3 8

73 e

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR% Tt ARBF T

The Chinese Mainland B K fE 47,923,295 41,704,711
Overseas N & 10,796,239 9,568,621
58,719,534 51,273,332

The non-current asset information above is
based on locations of non-current assets,
excluding derivative financial instruments, other
financial assets and deferred tax assets.

(c) Information about major customers (c)
There were no sales to a single customer which
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

EAFERBEENERTIRIE
FRBDEENMEE D TE
BRUTLEESRIAE HUemE
EREERAEE °

FERXFER
HE_ZT-_—F+-A=1+—HItF
B UWERNE-FFANHEELAEE
WAA10%K A £
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Revenue

An analysis of the revenue is as follows:

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5
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Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

WA~ HE AR Y
(@ WA
WAR DT

2022 2021
—EB=-= —E-—f
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Revenue from contracts with REEFEHHIWA :

customer:
Sale of goods HEEW 92,592,407 88,133,815
Consignment processing services ZE TR 915 7,660
92,593,322 88,141,475
Disaggregated revenue information T HENA 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HItHF

E
Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder
Segments 28 products products products Others Total
BEMER KEKER BHER Hity @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTn ARETn AR®Tn AR%Tx
Type of goods: BmES:
Sale of products HEEW 78,269,313 5,652,422 3,861,076 4,809,596 92,592,407
Consignment processing services RN TRE = = 915 = 915
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZFAKIMAKA
customers 78,269,313 5,652,422 3,861,991 4,809,596 92,593,322
Geographical markets: HETHE
The Chinese Mainland B A fE 78,223,488 4,006,714 3,072,193 2,695,590 87,997,985
Overseas oMb E 45,825 1,645,708 789,798 2,114,006 4,595,337
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZEF A KM BKA
customers 78,269,313 5,652,422 3,861,991 4,809,596 92,593,322
Timing of revenue recognition: ~ BRWAKER :
Goods transferred at a point in RE-RESEERNER
time 78,269,313 5,652,422 3,861,076 4,809,596 92,592,407
Services transferred at a point in RE-KREEEEORS
time = = 915 = 915
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A KK AMA
customers 78,269,313 5,652,422 3,861,991 4,809,596 92,593,322

211



”China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIE4AE£GRAF

212

NOTES TO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ril 5 ¥R 72 BiJ 51

(continued)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA > EfKARKEw
Revenue (continued) (@ WAw®
Disaggregated revenue_information (continued) WA MEE E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE—_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILHF
E
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
Segments ok} products products products Others Total
REMER  KERER M Em Hit it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Type of goods: BREE:
Sale of products HEEY 76,514,364 4,240,151  4,941467 2,437,833 88,133,815
Consignment processing services  EFE TR = = 7,660 = 7,660
Total revenue from contracts with RERPANMBIA
customers 76,514,364 4,240,151 4,949,127 2,437,833 88,141,475
Geographical markets: HETHS
The Chinese Mainland B A B 76,514,364 3,123,232 3,413,760 2,016,625 85,067,981
Overseas BN & = 1,116,919 1,535,367 421,208 3,073,494
Total revenue from contracts with ~ KEEFANMAKA
customers 76,514,364 4,240,151 4,949,127 2,437,833 88,141,475
Timing of revenue recognition: R AN
Goods transferred at a point in RE-FREER0EMG
time 76,514,364 4,240,151 4,941,467 2,437,833 88,133,815
Services transferred at a point in RE-BEEERNRE
time = = 7,660 = 7,660
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBF A LIREKA
customers 76,514,364 4,240,151 4,949,127 2,437,833 88,141,475

The Group takes advantage of practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the

remaining performance obligations as all

of the

Group’s sales contracts have an original expected
duration of less than one year.

AR EE R ER TS RIS 165755 121
BATAMAIITREE AR AKRERAN
HEAWRITBMRHLI N —F A IKE
BTENEME-
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA~ BEMIARKE @

(continued)

(b) Other income and gains (b) HAibUg AR Wz
2022 2021
—E_-— —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Government grants related to: BB
— assets (Note 33) — & (MFsE33) 95,505 90,274
— compensation for expenses — HFEEERBH 397,194 241,442
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEFARMaE
(Note 42) (BtaE42) 241,460 =
Gain on disposal of an associate o E B A A W e - 54,198
Gain on disposal of business of i & Arla Foods amba
Arla Foods amba FE s 55,750 =
Gross rental income (Note 17) HemWA (FEE17) 74,733 89,587
Foreign exchange gain, net b 5 Uz F 58 = 1€
Net fair value gain on forward RHEINE S XD R EU
currency contracts (Note 32) R R (9 7E32) = 2,140
Net fair value gain on exchangeable A RAEH R B
bonds (Note 30(d)) 58 (M EE30(d)) 113,817 200,732
Net fair value gain on a convertible AMRARZEBRARE
promissory note W e 58 - 2,629
Net fair value gain on unlisted equity AR R {ETE B H&F)
investment at fair value through ST AEEAIE LT
profit or loss EERE RN ERE
R 1,271 =
Net fair value gain on other financial Hit&@aEQ LB
liabilities (Note 34(c)) 75 28 (B E34(c)) 861,710 632,700
Gain on deemed disposal of partial RAELHEI D E QA
interests in an associate T 2 W o = 79,041
Net gain on disposal of property, LEWE  BE KK
plant and equipment, other H HMEFEEER
intangible assets and right-of-use RS ERFE
assets 22,179 =
Others HAh 276,030 224,894
2,139,649 1,617,656
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6 OTHER EXPENSES

6 HMtEH

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥ET T
Donations B 106,728 45,845
Net loss on disposal of items of property, REVHE BEIEKE
plant and equipment E 18 F 58 - 59,463
Impairment of goodwill (Note 18) 2R E (FTEE18) 742,437 621,230
Impairment of other intangible assets Hih P& ERE
(Note 19) (Pfff7E19) = 204,306
Foreign exchange loss, net b 5 B8 F R 45,676 =
Write-down of inventories to net realisable 7 &1l &= 7] £ 18 /% (&
value (Note 24) (Ffff7E24) 238,049 183,540
Other taxes and surcharges FAth B0 78 K& Bt o0 & 477,439 516,374
Net fair value loss on forward currency REINE S KR R BE
contracts (Note 32) 558 (7E32) 31,754 =
Net fair value loss on unlisted equity NARBEFEAEE
investment at fair value through FFABEAIE LT
profit or loss BRE AR EEE
HER = 1,326
Net fair value loss on unlisted equity B 75 5 B R A IR A
investment in Guangze with put options EZERIE E AR
(Note 23(a)) B2 AREBETHE
(M$5E23(a)) 9,083 3,350
Loss on re-measurement of investment in EHEBREINTER
an associate upon a business —HEERRNERE
combination (Note 41(a)) Z B8 (Kt E41() 12,639 —
Loss on re-measurement of investment in a A GFESEEHRTFEN
joint venture upon a business —HEELENEE
combination Z B8 - 38,092
Loss on partial disposal of equity interests 25 H & — [ B = A &)
in an associate Ik 2 BiE - 10,584
Others H At 199,759 179,113
1,863,564 1,863,223
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7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7 BiAlFE
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: FRATFE Ty & T3 R IBRETE S -
2022 2021
—=E2_-— —F-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFTT
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 59,902,799 55,745,991
Cost of consigned processing services ZFEM IR AR 741 5,570
Cost of sales $HE A 59,903,540 55,751,561
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EEENER (BEHE
and chief executive’s remuneration as BN ESEREET
disclosed in Note 9) (Note (a)) A BEH M) (I 5E(a))
— Wages, salaries, housing benefits and —I5% -%s
other allowances 18 A B B b 2 B 7,257,310 6,636,083
— Retirement benefit contributions — RRRBAIHK 713,357 605,832
— Fair value amortisation of share-based — AR ESF RS
payment component of the convertible SRR R
bonds (Note 31) B85 (MsE31) 566,155 51,901
— Share option scheme expense (Note 38) — BREEIRS
(Fff=£38) 58,844 8,519
— Share award scheme expense (Note 39) — BREREFERE
(FF5E39) 131,932 173,773
— Reversal of restricted shares expense of — —HET ARG
a subsidiary e (70,068) —
8,657,530 7,476,108
Impairment of trade receivables, net (Note 25) SRR EREFE
(Fff5E25) 279,109 198,086
Impairment of financial assets included in ST ATERFRIE - HAh R
prepayments, other receivables and IR H A E ER SR
other assets, net BERBEFE 10,323 10,207
Impairment of financial and contract assets, net EBMEAENEEREFE 289,432 208,293
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 17 & iR 2 7] &35 FE
(Note 24) (Fft£E24) 238,049 183,540
Impairment of goodwill (Note 18) 2R (E (H5E18) 742,437 621,230
Impairment of other intangible assets (Note 19) H i EFEERE
(FF5E19) = 204,306
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERZEBETE
(Note 14) (BtsE14) 2,456,658 2,014,184
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) FRAEEENE (FHE17) 315,886 293,762
Depreciation of investment properties (Note 16) HEYESE (H:E16) 1,510 4,567
Amortisation of other intangible assets (Note 19) H S =
(Mi%E19) 104,194 83,925
Research and development costs AR A 411,647 355,507
Outsourcing expense (Note (b)) SN E A (M sk (o) 178,836 202,904
Lease payments not included in the Tt AHESEFEMNHE
measurement of lease liabilities (Note (c)) &+ (M%) 281,530 173,972
Auditor’s remuneration (Note (d)) 1Z BRI B € (P 5E(d)) 11,565 15,200
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7

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continuea)

Notes:

(@)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme managed by the local
government authority, whereby these subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the scheme ranging from 16% to
20% of the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated
based on a percentage of the average salaries level in the
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned
retirement scheme at their normal retirement age.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
(the “MPF scheme”)
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for

Scheme under the Hong Kong
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the
defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is no
forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contribution.

The Group has no further obligation for payment of other
retirement benefits beyond the above contributions.

For the purpose of promoting operation efficiency, the Group
outsourced the production of certain products. The amounts
represent the total amount paid by the Group for purchasing
outsourcing services.

The Group recognised rental expenses from short-term leases
of RMB1565,137,000 (2021: RMB134,446,000), leases of
low-value assets of RMB39,023,000 (2021: RMB5,023,000)
and variable lease payments not based on index or rates of
RMB87,370,000 (2021: RMB34,503,000) for the year ended
31 December 2022. Further details are given in Note 17(c)
to the financial statements.

7

ﬁ: _ﬁllj %IJ 7?53 (#)

B 2

(@)

AEBMPFE (TRIEES) KLKT AR
B {E B 2 M E i BT IS E 32 60 FLE f K
RINEFETE - Bt - ZFFRRIEKRRE
BEAFH©16% E20% Kt R[] :Z 124
H oo ZEFARINEBNFEIEBRIKF
RESAREZA LR EIRTE (T8
FBEB) FHHESKTFED LA ERER
B

AEETREE SR G M AE S EE
Bl RIEBREERBGH T ZERTZ LA
AERAMBRAFEREBEZEE « KLERS
MAEEEE ([RESEE]) - RESE
RAEHTRAKAE  ABILGETEAE
B RiEgEestE EERAEESRE
R a8l iR E 8 B U A 2 5% 1F it
»oMHEEAEBEKAZ LR A30,0007%
TC o R 2 HFRENR R A ZETEl - WEE
SRUHEFR - AT R &= B A DORME IR B R
K o

B LAt R ah -
H AR ARAEF

AEBELEEMEET

BT (RELERE  AEEIBETEM
MAEE - R BREAKELERI GRS
TR s -

AeEFEHE-—ZE-_—_F+-A=+—Hit
FERRAEHAEITHE AR
155,137,000 (=B = —F : AR
134,446,0007T) * REEEAEHE HA
R #39,023,000 L (T - —4: AR¥
5,023,0007T) & IEMR IR — 18 &=k th =
9 AT & 78 & 1 5k A R 87,370,000 (=
T _——%F: AR¥S34,503,0007T) &R
2B B MERMFE17(C) °
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7 BATAEw

Mt (@)

(d) In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, had an
amount of RMBS3,980,000 paid/payable as auditor’'s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB3,116,000).

FINANCE COSTS

@ BRESBEMSREMZEMERIN  AAA
REBHERGFERABER ETHT
ARIET B E S —F+ A =+—
AIEFEER A ZEENE AR
3,980,000 (ZFE - —4%: AR
3,116,0007T) °

B E A A

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBTIT
Interest on bank loans IRITE A B 320,202 206,862
Interest on other borrowings HiEEF L

(excluding lease liabilities) (TRIEHEaE) 773,685 510,748
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEHNE 31,376 25,462
1,125,263 743,072

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS EEHM

Apart from share-based payments as disclosed in note
below, directors’ emoluments pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are set out in following tables:

B TSP RE TR BB AR D A BB RO ST 9D -

RIEEE R AG I E383(1) 16 - LA R 2 A

(BEEZEFNRER) ROIF2H O WENE

e ey S

2022 2021

—_E—_— —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T AREF T

Fees we 924 851

Other emoluments H b5

— Basic salaries, housing benefits, — EXFe - FERE
other allowances and benefits in kind A - EfERLE R

EMAm 11,091 11,361

— Performance related bonuses — HEEEF@ENES 9,010 11,648

— Retirement benefit contributions — RIREF R 139 353

21,164 24,213
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9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continuea

9 EEFMw

Basic salaries,
housing
benefits, other
allowances
and benefits

ik
Notes RMB’000
MiaE ARMTR

2022

Executive directors
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
— Mr. Zhang Ping
— Ms. Wang Yan

Non-executive directors
— Mr. Chen Lang
— Mr. Wang Xi
— Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens

Independent non-executive directors
— Mr. Yih Dieter
— Mr. Li Michael Hankin
— Mr. Ge Jun

—BC-CE

HTEE
- EHREE
- RERE
- xRt

FHTES
- BEARE
- IRRE

— Simon Dominic Stevens

Pt

BUFHTES
- R@prs
- FEREE
- BRESE

in kind
EXFe -
EERH
HitZRHR
BYH
RMB’000
AR®T R

Performance
related
bonuses

HXEREN
%
RMB’000
ARBTR

Retirement
benefit
contributions

RIERIHR
RMB’000
ARKFR

aEm
RMB’000
ARBTR
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9 EEFHFMw
Basic salaries,
housing
benefits, other
allowances and Performance Retirement
benefits related benefit
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
EXEe
EEEH
Hi28 Rk SHEEFHEN
ik EWHz= ®e RINENHER BE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Lik=3 ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
2021 —E--§
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu - ESBEE (@)/(b) — 7,024 8,000 112 15,136
— Mr. Meng Fanjie (resigned on - AAEEE
1 December 2021) (RZT=—F
+=-F—HEET) (@) = 1,072 1,030 108 2,210
— Ms. Wang Yan (appointed on - Tzt
1 December 2021) (R—T=—F
+-A—BEZF) (@) = 641 = 22 663
— Mr. Zhang Ping (appointed on - REEE(R=Z=—F
1 December 2021) +=A—BEZE) (a)/(o) - 2,624 2,618 111 5,353
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Mr. Chen Lang - BRARAE (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens — Simon Dominic Stevens
(appointed on 1 January SER=F=—%
2021) —A—REZME) 150 = = = 150
— Mr. Wang Xi (appointed on - FAREE(RZZ=—%F
1 December 2021) +=ZA—BEZHF) (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Niu Gensheng (resigned — FRERSE
on 1 December 2021) (R=Z=—F
+=A—HEf) 138 = = = 138
— Mr. Pascal De Petrini (resigned — Pascal De Petrinit £
on 16 April 2021) (R=—ZT=—%
M A< B EME) 44 = = = 44
— Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen — Tim @rting Jorgensen
(resigned on 1 January 2021) RERZE=—F
—A—BE&I) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
— Mr. Yih Dieter (appointed on — EREE
1 December 2021) (R=B=—%
+=R—REZ{) 21 = = = 21
— Mr. Li Michael Hankin - FEREE
(appointed on 1 December (R=F=—%
2021) +=ZA—HEZF) 21 — — — 21
— Mr. Ge Jun (appointed on - Bffk&E
1 December 2021) (R=FB=—%F
+=A—REZ{E) 21 = = = 21
— Mr. Jiao Shuge (resigned on - EEELE
1 December 2021) (R=—T=—%
+=-A—B§F) (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt — Julian Juul Wolhardt
(resigned on 1 December FERZF=—F
2021) +=A—HEfF) (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Zhang Xiaoya (resigned on - REDEE
1 December 2021) (R=Z=—F
+=A—REH) 228 = = = 228
— Mr. Yau Ka Chi (resigned on - BREEE
1 December 2021) (R=FB=—%F
+=A—RHEf) 228 = = = 228
851 11,361 11,648 353 24,213
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10

DIRECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the five (2021:
eight) directors agreed to waive their entitlements to
directors’ fees totally amounted to RMB390,000 (2021:
RMB682,000). Other than the aforementioned, there was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year.

(b) Among directors of the Company, Mr. Jeffery, Minfang Lu and
Mr. Zhang Ping were entitled to various share-based
payments as grantees/participants of share option scheme
(Note 38), share award scheme (Note 39) and convertible
bonds arrangement (Note 31). For the year ended
31 December 2022, the share-based payments expenses
recognised in the profit or loss as part of emoluments to
Mr. Jeffery, Minfang Lu and Mr. Zhang Ping were
approximately RMB64,402,000 and RMB11,653,000,
respectively (2021: RMB17,892,000 and RMB4,918,000,
respectively).

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10.
EMOLUMENTS

One (2021: One) of the five highest paid employees was a
director whose emoluments have been shown above. Details

of emoluments, apart from share-based payments disclosed

in note below, in relation to the remaining four (2021: four)
non-director, highest paid employees are as follows:

EEHFHw

B 2

@ BHEZZTE-_—_F+-A=+—RHIFE"
A (ZE=—F: ) EEREREL
EXHMe - @A HEARKS390,0007T (=
T——4F : AR¥682,0007T) © K plitE
SN REEWEAMNEREEHNEXRE
WEEMBNE OB -

() ARREBF  EHFRELERKRFEEEE
BERE S (H:E38) - REHEE T E
(P 5E39) K Al 2 % f& 25 22 BE (BT 5531) /9
AEAN/28E  GRESZEURG A
ERHIN -BE=ZZT=_=F+=A
=+—BLEFE REZERAINTE
BR S A R oK R A R ED D S BN 2 DARR (9
RERE 5 B4 7 AR 64,402,000
7T K A R #11,653,0007T (Z T = — 4 -
AR #17,892,0007t & A & 4,918,000
JT) °

REFAL

IusEsHEERE L (ZT=_—%F: —
f)EF BRARSFHMSENCR EXH
BoBRTXHMEMREARND AERN
O i (Z T - — % W) FE
= BRFEENMEWOT

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Basic salaries, housing benefits, EAXFe  EFEEH -
other allowances and benefits in kind EZRE R EYH = 14,295 14,192
Performance related bonuses HELEFHENES 14,428 16,536
Retirement scheme contributions RREFFT B 3K 129 444
28,851 31,172
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10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. EEF AT w
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose ReMESIN AN THINESHIEES R
cash emolument fell within the following bands is as ERNHEENT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
EEAE BE AE
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 % 7T £5,500,000/% 7T 1 —
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7% 7T £ 6,000,000/% 7T 1 —
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 % 7T £6,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7% 7T 27,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 % 7T £ 9,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 % 7T £ 9,500,000/% 7T 1 —
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000 13,000,001 7% 7T 2 13,500,000/% 7T 1 —
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 7% 7T 2 15,500,000/ 7T - 1
4 4
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total share BHE_T_—_F+_A=+—HIFE"
option benefits relating to the share option scheme (Note BYmasEESEE 2 BERERE (K
38), share award scheme (Note 39) and convertible bonds F138) - RE R ENET & (I 5E39) K& 7] # Ak
arrangement (Note 31) granted to the non-director, BHFLH (W31 EENERERTNE X
individuals with highest emoluments were approximately #) B NR#A15,240,000T - A R ¥
RMB15,240,000, RMB4,062,000, and RMB96,567,000, 4,062,0007T & A K #96,567,00070 (= =
respectively (2021: RMB16,108,000, RMB11,720,000 and ——4: AR'16,108,0007F + A R ¥
RMB10,513,000, respectively). 11,720,000t &2 A R #10,513,0007T) °
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FBHXH

REBERAMNBIEE

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a)
profit or loss represents:

2022 2021
—S-fF B —4%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREF T

Current income tax BPHA AT 18 B
Current charge for the year FREVEA TSRS 888,921 833,357
Adjustments in relation to prior years EFFERE AR 52,433 15,741
Deferred income tax (Note 22) EEFT BB (FfaE22) 376,195 55,412
1,317,549 904,510
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between tax expense and (b)
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

11 IBEHXHw
HMERASERERARETENS
517 B Y BR

2022 2021
—E-F T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARET T
Profit before tax ot B A 6,502,353 5,868,168
At tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%)  $225% (== — —4F :
25%) MEGFH (i) 1,625,588 1,467,042
Non-deductible items and AAHENMIEE &
others, net Hih CF=E) 67,632 66,790
Tax effect of super deduction i3 & FH A05T 1R
on research and HMBH 2
development expenses (i) (83,412) (74,216)
Impairment of goodwill and R R EREAF
trademarks with indefinite ERENCRED
useful lives 187,350 236,369
Adjustments in relation to FEEREFAHE
prior years 52,433 15,741
Effect of different tax rates TRRENTE (in/(ii)/(iv) (308,985) (382,840)
Effect of tax concessions MBEEENTE (v)/(vi) (672,384) (565,527)
Tax effect of share of results D {hEEE A a K —[E
of associates and a AEDEREY
joint venture B2 (102,237) (173,333)
Tax losses and deductible {5 AR DA HAR X 75 1
temporary differences B R AHREREE
utilised from previous 2
periods (86,112) (99,059)
Tax losses and deductible RIERT IS EE R
temporary differences not AR E R EE
recognised 409,692 410,725
Effect of withholding tax at BAREEHREFRAA
5%/10% on the A {5 A1)
distributable profits of the 5%, 10% =+ & #)
Group’s certain PRC SRR TR
subsidiaries 227,984 2,818
Income tax FriS i 1,317,549 904,510




11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

(continued)

(b)

Notes:

U

(i)

(il

(iv)

(vi)

The provision for the income tax is based on the
statutory rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the estimated
taxable profits determined in accordance with the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Corporate
Income Tax (“PRC CIT Law”), except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group which enjoy a preferential
tax rate according to related tax policies or certain
subsidiaries in other jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject
to income tax in Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
by applying at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The provision for Australia, New Zealand and Indonesia
Profit Tax is calculated by applying at 30%, 28% and
25%, respectively, (2021: 30%, 28% and 25%,
respectively), of the estimated assessable profits for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Certain subsidiaries were granted lower tax rates by
the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT
Law and the corresponding transitional tax concession
policy and “The notice of tax policies relating to the
implementation of the Western China development
strategy”.

Certain subsidiaries were granted tax exemptions in
accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of
agriculture products”.
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11 FIBHIXHw
HIER T HRERARRTENE
SEALEMEER ¢ @

(b)

B &L -

)

(i)

(il

(iv)

(vi)

PSRBT E ARAMBE D
EMBERE(PEEERSER
SEL) - ARk FE SR B A PA25%
(ZZ2 = —F : 25% ) EE R EG
B EASBEREEBREHES
BREHERZETFRARMNE
ENEERZE T FRABRIN -

RERASHS REBEZRESHNM
BHIRGINOER - REEBRAH
REHERABRELHEBMEN -

BE-_Z-—_F+=-A=+—Hit
FE - BENEHBEREF AT
EREIA16.5% (=T = — & :
16.6%) Bt K5+ &

HE-T-—_F+-A=+—Hit
FE RN FEREODERSH
B4 1= 15 5T A AT 1A ADE 9 Bl BA
30% -~ 28% K% 25% (=& = — 4 :
30% * 28% f25%) Fi Rzt & o

ETFRARAERRHEBRESE
EEMBIE  BFRERKRERRER
B R (R ROR A B e 78 B0 K 7 3
5 1% A [38 75 UKBR 3R T R e SR D R
FEBEEE -

ETFRAERB(EREMER
R EPTISH B BB R A B N
TEE (1T MBA B R
B o
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12 DIVIDENDS

12 KRB

Notes

Y °E

Declared and paid during the year ~ARNEE TR M &

Equity dividends on ordinary TEARAR B
shares
Proposed for approval at the RERBRBAFAEG
Annual General Meeting ([RRBFRE])
(the “AGM”) #t
Equity dividends on ordinary LmARAR B
shares:
Proposed final — RMB0.402 FREARBRE —
(2021: RMB0.381) g E AR A R
per ordinary share 0.4027T
—E-—F:
AR®0.3817T) (@)/(b)
Notes: B &E -
(@) The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December ()
2022 is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.
(b) This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the (b)

consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 but will be reflected as an appropriation
of the share premium account for the year ending
31 December 2023.

2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARET T

1,071,002

1,506,161

BEREE T _—F+_A=1+—HItHF
& 2 AR AR S8 A AN A 5] A% 3R 7E FE g AR 2R
BERSHAE ©

ZRBYERBEE_T_—_F+_A4
=T —HIEFENGENBHREERAA
B ARRMAEE_T-_=F+=-A4
=+ —HIEFENRODEEDE °
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13 A RIZERESKRRELER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF B
THE COMPANY

—

(@) Basic earnings per share (@ BRELRZRER
The basic earnings per share for the year is AEEFRERBFDRBEFRARAD
calculated by dividing the profit for the year A 53 AR 2 AR R B BR A E
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company BETERROMEFLSHEGE -

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of T EGMRERZRFIRFT A NETE MK
shares used in calculating the basic earnings per MEE RO :

share amount is as follows:

2022 2021

- —E - —4F

Number of Number of

shares shares

R E B gnr- 4=

’000 ‘000

T8 T i%

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HEZ%1T

TR 3,953,179 3,948,108

Effect of share options exercised BT FEEBRENTE 1,203 1,581
Effect of shares purchased under RIFERZEEETEI D E

share award scheme 1D K2 (3,119) (5,179)
Weighted average number of ordinary 5T & & I% 2 A< Z F| Fr A
shares for the purpose of the basic B9 3 3 AR 0 #E 39

earnings per share calculation 3,951,263 3,944,510
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE COM PANY (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

13 XK
&

(b)

The diluted earnings per share amounts is calculated
by dividing the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company by the

weighted average number

of ordinary shares

outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all

dilutive potential ordinary shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the diluted earnings per

share amount is as follows:

—_

s

R EBREERRELGER

BREEAR
BRESENIREFARRE LB
P e e PR A MBI BR DA B P EL
BENNEBRARRNCEITES
BN FHHEE -

sHE SR E B NPT A hnAE T AR
BB AT

2022 2021
- —E-—4F
Number of Number of
shares shares
grig Q| R B
’000 ‘000
T B T A&
Weighted average number of ordinary &8 &% & A& FI Fi
shares for the purpose of the basic B B AR A &
earnings per share calculation 3,951,263 3,944,510
Effect of dilution — Weighted average #SEFZ — @AM
number of ordinary shares: REFHE
Outstanding share options 8 AR AT {5 BB AR 4 10,519 12,860
Outstanding share awards H AN AT {8 IR 32 B2 R 7,300 10,526
Weighted average number of ordinary &2 & i% 58 & % 7 F
shares for the purpose of the B9 3 3 AR N #E 39 2
diluted earnings per share
calculation 3,969,082 3,967,396
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y¥- - BERKE

Buildings
Freehold and Plant and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAKRE EER
it BEY HBERKESE BORE EaRf @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%®Tn AR¥TR AR¥TR AR®TRT AR®T:R

At 1 January 2022 R=®B-—%-5-R

Cost Z%S

Accumulated depreciation and S MERRE
impairment

Net carrying amount BEFE

At 1 January 2022, net of RZBZ=F—f—R"
accumulated depreciation and MAZFTERRA
impairment

Additions NE

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41) Yo7 AR (fEE41)

Transfers from construction in BRATETIE(MH15)
progress (Note 15)

Transfers to investment properties BREEEME (H:E16)
(Note 16)

Transfers to assets held for sale BRERARENEE
(Note 43) (B =E43)

Disposal of a subsidiary HEFAR

Disposals HE

Depreciation charge for the year FRFTEZ L (M3E7)
(Note 7)

Exchange realignment X A%

At 31 December 2022, net of R=B==4f=H=+—H"
accumulated depreciation and MRS MERRE
impairment

At 31 December 2022 RZZE=—F+-A=+—-H

Cost AR

Accumulated depreciation and ZEERAE
impairment

Net carrying amount BEFE
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

14 ¥ -BERZHE®

Buildings
Freehold and Plant and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAFRE RER
1 BEY  BERES YN BRRE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRE ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R-Z2--%-HF—-A
Cost A 53,108 6,298,160 18,723,146 1,666,089 86,908 26,727,411
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE

impairment — (754,663  (10,407,948) (043,053) (75,143)  (14,180,807)
Net carrying amount FEFE 53,108 3,543,497 8,315,198 623,036 11,765 12,546,604
At 1 January 2021, net of RZZ=—%—-f—R"

accumulated depreciation and M REHTE RAlE

impairment 53,108 3,543,497 8,315,198 623,036 11,765 12,546,604
Additions NE - 50,424 333,508 252,218 3,649 639,799
Acquisition of subsidiaries WET AR 55,777 266,837 523,637 5,306 6,991 858,548
Transfers from construction in BRALETIRE(MF15)

progress (Note 15) = 917,926 4,672,640 96,200 920 5,687,686
Transfers to construction in progress HEREEEETR(E15)

(Note 15) = = (102,903) 6) = (102,909)
Transfers to investment properties BRZRENE (HE16)

(Note 16) = (3,151) = = = (3,151)
Disposals he 876) 29,796) (133,227) 7,117) (1,315) (172,331)
Depreciation charge for the year FRTEX M (H#7)

(Note 7) - (316,640 (1,450,982) (235,614) (10,948) (2,014,184)
Exchange realignment ek (4,457) (31,922) (67,311) (902) (230) (104,822)
At 31 December 2021, net of WZEZ—§+-A=+—A8"

accumulated depreciation and MR ZFHTE RRE

impairment 103,552 4,397,175 12,090,560 733,121 10,832 17,335,240
At 31 December 2021 R-Z-_—%#+-A=+—AH
Cost AR 103,552 7,474,511 23,952,407 1,831,054 93,540 33,455,064
Accumulated depreciation and ZFMERRE

impairment - (3,077,336)  (11,861,847) (1,097,933) (82,708)  (16,119,824)
Net carrying amount REFE 103,552 4,397,175 12,090,560 733,121 10,832 17,335,240
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERREw
(continued)
(@)  The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment with @ AEERELEHELHERBLE=FHE
a net book value of approximately RMB39,058,000 as at EETYE BEERRER=_ZT==
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB112,295,000) to independent +TZ A=+ ENEREEFENARE
third parties under operating lease arrangements, with lease 39,058,000 (ZFE=—F : AR
terms ranging from one to three years (2021: one to three 112,295,0007T) ' HEAH—FE2=F
years) (Note 17). T —F: —FE=ZF)(WMFE17) -
(o)  Certain items of property, plant and equipment with net by R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBHEEFEA
carrying amount of RMB149,152,000 as at 31 December R #149,152,0007T 2 & T 3% - B E &
2022 were pledged to secure Interest-bearing bank and BREEEER  AERAEBEROGE
other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in Note RITREMEE (K ES0FTIKRE) °
30.
15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 156 #EIRE
2022 2021
—E—_= —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREBFTT
At 1 January R—HA—H 2,619,402 2,729,469
Additions NE 4,223,276 5,484,869
Transfers from property, plant and EEAYE  BEK
equipment B - 102,909
Transfers to property, plant and equipment HE&E =¥ « HE K
(Note 14) Xt (HsE14) (3,309,142) (5,687,686)
Transfers to other intangible assets R EEMEEE
(Note 19) (MtzE19) - (39,494)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41) U BT Al (FisEs1) 573,337 30,796
Exchange realignment ME 5, R B 4,303 (1,461)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8” 4,111,176 2,619,402

229



”China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIE4AE£GRAF

230

NOTES TO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5% SR ZE B BT
16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REY=
2022 2021
—=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
At 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—H  HEEst
depreciation e 62,508 63,924
Transfers from property, plant and EEAYE - WERE
equipment (Note 14) & (MI5E14) 69 3,151
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 7) FARFEZ L (MEET) (1,510) (4,567)
At 31 December, net of accumulated R+—_A=+—8"
depreciation R 25T e 61,067 62,508
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H
Cost B 7R 85,386 85,317
Accumulated depreciation Ritin e (24,319) (22,809)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 61,067 62,508
The fair value of the investment properties, as determined AAER_E-_—_F+_f=+—

17

by the directors of the Company, based on the market
approach with reference to market transaction prices of
similar properties, taking into account other factors, i.e.,
characteristics of the properties and locations, was
estimated to be approximately RMB183,308,000 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB185,160,000). The fair value
measurement falls into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings and structures, plant and machinery, office
equipment, motor vehicles and land use rights used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods
of approximately 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
buildings and structures generally have lease terms between
1 and 20 years; plant and machinery and office equipment
generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years; while
motor vehicles generally have lease terms between 2 and 4
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

17

B{Eat 45 AR ¥183,308,000T (=&
—— 4% : AR%185,160,0007T) ' ZZ A £
EHRHARRERREMBERSZEEUD
ENMERSEBEREE  WEFTREMEA
= IEFERNEE - AAENEER
REEBRE=H -

HE

AEBEEREBA
AEBRERAANEENEEREEY &
FERiss AR  ERRENTHER
BYZEEENEESLN - CHELIEH—
RENFUARAREWRERE L HAR
#150%F - BRBZF L MWHEMN KRR - &
TERENEMFE - BEREEYH
HBE-—BNF—ZE2=_1+F BEEEREK
WMARBHEH—BNF—=+F ME
BREMEAH RN _=TF - —KM
FOAREA T AAKREAIIALTER R
HDHEMEEE -



1 7 LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) __Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets of the
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17 #HEw
AEBEAEBEA @
(a) FHELE

AEEFAERAREENREENE

Group and the movements during the year are as BT
follows:
Buildings
and Plant and Office Motor Land use
structures  machinery  equipment vehicles rights Total
EER
BEY RERMSE BARE EaRE THHERE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR¥Tr AR¥Tr ARETr AR¥Tx
As at 1 January 2022 W-B--%#—f—H 161,097 606,542 - - 1,374501 2,142,140
Additions RE 494,759 47,461 - 91 90,251 632,562
Acquisition of subsidiaries W AR (FiE41)

(Note 41) 287,295 = = = 89,435 376,730
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MFAH (3,764) = = = - (3,764)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WERX (MF7) (135,513) (147,739) - (35) (32,599) (315,886)
Early termination RARIE (1,700) (95) - - (14,209) (16,004)
Transfers to assets held for sale BEZHELEARE (MiFa3)

(Note 43) = = = = (34,647) (34,647)
Exchange realignment ERIE LS 1,996 48 = 2 = 2,046
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA=1+—A 804,170 506,217 - 58 1,472,732 2,783,177

Buildings

and Plant and Office Motor Land use

structures machinery equipment vehicles rights Total

FER
BEY  HBERES WRRME BRERE TR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARET:T
As at 1 January 2021 R=ZF-_—%—A—H 102,759 421,335 72 693 1,322,816 1,847,675
Additions WE 125,997 364,927 = = 71,169 562,093
Acquisition of subsidiaries W F AR 22,883 = = = 14,241 37,124
Depreciation charge (Note 7) HERZ (FHFT7) (80,817) (179,622) (72) (641) (32,610) (293,762)
Early termination AR IE (7,648) = = = = (7,648)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (2,077) (98) = (52) (1,115) (8,342)
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—4+-A=1+—A 161,097 606,542 - - 1,374,501 2,142,140
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17 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) __Lease liabilities

17

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included in
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) of the
Group and the movements during the year are as

follows:

HEw

AEBEAEBEA @

() #HEERE

AEEFARERE GFAFBRTT
REMEE)WERERESWT :

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMERHEE 550,270 481,453
New leases MEE 542,311 335,731
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HEF A A 313,140 23,025
Exchange realignment bE 0 1,682 (231)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEFAA (3,319) —
Capital element of lease rentals paid BT &/ E KE D (216,182) (281,854)
Early termination AR IE (1,900) (7,854)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—A=+—8®
FREE 1,186,002 550,270

Analysed into: DA

Current portion mENE D 254,734 190,472
Non-current portion JERENEB 931,268 359,798

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

Note 46(b) to the financial statements.
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17 LEASES (continued) 17 *H.E(%E)
The Group as a lessee (continueq) AEBEAEAEAA®
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () ME 7 B HE BT -
to leases are as follows:
2022 2021
—E—— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREBFTT
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 8) HEAERNS (M:E8) 31,376 25,462
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FHREEENE
assets (Note 7) (P 7E7) 315,886 293,762
Expense relating to short-term leases  E25G ERFEH M X
(Note 7(c)) (M¥3E7(c) 155,137 134,446
Expense relating to leases of HBEBEEENHESR
low-value assets (Note 7(c)) BRI R (FTEE7(c)) 39,023 5,023
Variable lease payments not included AR AREBGETERN
in the measurement of lease Al & 7H & KT8
liabilities (Notes 7(c) and 17(d)) (EE7(c) % 17(d) 87,370 34,503
Total amount recognised in profit I R IR B 58
or loss 628,792 493,196

(d) _ Variable lease payments

The Group leased a number of the warehouses which
contain variable lease payment terms that are based
on the Group’s actual usage area in the warehouses.
There are also minimum annual base rental
arrangements for these leases. The Group has
recognised certain right-of-use assets for the fixed
lease payments. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

(d) F[EHEFIE

AEEHESEEE  ZEHERS
UAREERZERENEREREE
AR R EFRGEK - ZFH
ENRBEREFEEAHE R - A
SECHEEHERRERE TEM
REE - W MRMBEIEBRA R ayr] &
MEFIRE R BB RO BN
BHEMNHMERA/IWL -

AEBEAEEA
AEBBRECEHETHLAEYE K
B R RE (HE14) RIEEWE (HzE16) -
BE-ZE-_—_#+-_A=+—HILEER
SEBERAHAS RBABRBKVABARE
74,733,000 (ZFE = —F : ARK
89,587,0007T) °

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases property, plant and equipment (Note 14)
and investment properties (Note 16) under operating lease
arrangements. Rental and related service income
recognised by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to RMB74,733,000 (2021:
RMB89,587,000).
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18 GOODWILL

18 BHE

2022

—E—-=
RMB’000

AR®T T

Carrying amount at 1 January

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41)

Disposal of a subsidiary

Transfers to assets held for sale (Note 43)

Impairment for the year (Notes 6, 7 and

20)
Exchange realignment

R—A—HBH®WEEE
BT A e (HisEd1)

HE—fHF QA

REBEREHEEE

(Pff5E43)
FRRE

(Pt %6 + 7 5%20)

bE 3 S

Carrying amount at 31 December

R+—A=+—8w

BREE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Cost FX AR
Accumulated impairment 25T RE

Carrying amount at 31 December

R+-—A=+—H8HK

FREE

As at 31 December 2022, the goodwill was tested for

impairment (Note 20).

R-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—H BHELE

TTRE R A (B FE20) -




19 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19

Movements of other intangible assets are as follows:
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z\f&/\\\ﬂ%ﬁ%
Hit\yEEZSHWT ¢

Distribution
channels and
Computer customer
Trademarks software relationships Total
PHEBER
[5]- ERRG EFHE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R-ZE-—F—Hf—H"

accumulated amortisation RECAE - NIRRT EH 7,447,818 448,246 103,379 7,999,443
Additions NE = 132,985 = 132,985
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41) ¢ SNSRI 4,244,000 45,693 - 4,289,693
Disposals HE = (22,357) (16,864) (39,221)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RTAA - (523) (9,420) (9,943)
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 43) BRERENELE

(Hi5E43) (77,680) (5,477) - (83,157)
Amortisation charge for the year (Note 7) FRBEER (MW7) - (91,867) (12,327) (104,194)
Exchange realignment RS 187,298 928 536 188,762
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZ4+-R=+—H 11,801,436 507,628 65,304 12,374,368
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-A=1+—H
Cost %N 12,174,493 991,455 134,013 13,299,961
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2 BELRE (373,057) (483,827) (68,709) (925,593)
Net carrying amount EEFE 11,801,436 507,628 65,304 12,374,368
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of —T-—%-fA-8"

accumulated amortisation %EEME MR R 7,195,438 408,061 118,841 7,717,340
Additions R = 37,509 - 37,509
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEF AR 926,300 46,567 = 972,867
Transfer from construction in progress BEATEIRE(F15)

(Note 15) - 39,494 - 39,494
Amortisation charge for the year (Note 7) FABEER (M7 = (70,638) (13,287) (83,925)
Impairment for the year (Notes 6 and 7) FRRE (E6RT) (200,000) (4,308) - (204,306)
Exchange realignment X A% (473,920 (3,441) 2,175) (479,536)
At 31 December 2021 R=ZF=—%+=-A=+—H 7,447,818 448,246 103,379 7,999,443
At 31 December 2021 RZF=—F+=A=+—H
Cost 2% 7,820,875 858,342 162,683 8,841,900
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2B ERAE (373,057 (410,096) (59,304) (842,457)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,447 818 448,246 108,379 7,999,443
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19

20

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea)

Notes:

(@)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

19

As at 31 December 2022, trademarks with indefinite useful
lives with cost of RMB12,158,803,000 were tested for
impairment (Note 20).

The exclusive right of distribution channels and customer
relationships acquired in business combinations were stated
at cost less any impairment losses and were amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging
from 5 to 15 years.

20

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives acquired
through business combinations have been allocated to the
following CGUs or CGU Groups for impairment testing:

liquid milk products CGU Group

ice cream products CGU Group

low temperature products CGU Group

Yashili CGU Group

Bellamy CGU Group

AICE CGU Group

ANI CGU Group

Milkground CGU Group

Hitb B EE w

i -

=

@ ®BEZTE_—F+=-A=1+—H KLXA
AR #12,158,803,000 7T K 4 5 (£ F 45 Hi
B IRE TR E R R (FTsE20) ©

b)) EBEHEHNOHEEEEERTSH
FRIRA AR AR E R B BRI E AN T
AETRFEMNEFTAIEAFRIREFEE
B o

R R PR A R R MO AL
i
BREKEHESEE R ERF BT
EERESREETIREELAEMNIRSE
A BB AR RIEREDRIE ¢

— REREMERIIBEELEMNAER

— KEMRERIBEEESMAET

— KREERRESELEEMNET

— WEFREEEEMMAER

— BN KREELESEMAER

— AICER & EA B 485

— ANBR & E £ B4R

— WAIEZRSELBEMNAR
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 20 BEREREAFHEENRE
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE R @
USEFUL LIVES (continued)
Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives included PEEEEReELESUNIReEESUA
in other intangible assets allocated to each of the CGUs or BN 5T A PR I H th BT & B A R AT
CGU Groups are as follows: FAEHmENaEnT

Liquid milk products  lce cream products Yashili Low temperature products Bellamy AICE ANI Milkground Total

RENER HERER s E2ER BEX AICE ANI PIES #it

201 2022 2021

202

201

2022

2021 202 201 201

202

201

ZEo-F bt T bt T ZEo-F ekt T ekt —F - jut- St —5--F
RMB'000 EGUUEAINE  RMB'000 EGUTEINM  RMBI000 RMB'000 EGUEAINE RVB'000 EGUTAIGM  RMVBI000 RSO0  RMB'000 RMB'000
il \RETT BNLES A RETT ENGETA ) RH T il \RETT BNLES A RETT ENETA ) RET T ARETT PR il \RETT
Goodil A
= Cost - R 367215 367437 74398 72317 | 5808036 6003606 ~ 318248 318248 < 2590681 2540229 « 605282 554102 262,388 240681 « 4865684 14,971,932 10,096,620
~ Accumulated - it
impairment = - = — | (4701,133) (4,617,703 o - (1,382,969 (621230 o - = - = (6,084,102 (5238933
367,215 367437 74,398 72317 1196903 1385903 ~ 318248 318248 107,712 1918999 = 605,282 554102 = 262388 240,681 4865684 8,887,830 4,857,687
Trademerks BE
- Cost - BE 4099 4099% o — | 1595677 1,633,357 © - | 5336390 5252104 | 981,740 898728 © — 4244000 12,158,803 7,805,185
=~ Accumulated - Zifiif
impairment = - S - | (%67.361) (357,367) = - S - = - S - - (367361 (35737
40,99 409% = - 1198310 1275990 o - 5336300 523210/ 981,740 898728 o — 4244000 11,801,436 7447818
408211 408433 74,398 7237 2096213 2661893 318248 318248 6544102 7150100 1,587,022 1452830 = 262,388 240681 9,100,684 20,689,266 12,305,505
The recoverable amount of each CGU or CGU Group has EReEEENKBEEESEMARMNA

been determined based on value-in-use calculation or fair
value less disposal costs using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior
management.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation or
fair value less disposal costs of each CGU or CGU Group
for 31 December 2022 and 2021. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake the impairment testing:

(i) Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the financial forecast period are
based on the estimated growth rate of each unit,
taking into account the industry growth rate, past
experience and the medium or long-term growth
target of each CGU or CGU Group.

WEEEEAESREEABHENT R
BEXBAREE RARSREEA
BEREEXAABRLEXATIUERE

u+ &—%é:_i—'—_ﬂ:—'—_
E%iﬁiéi B IR & B A B A B
EREEXAABRLEXNASERABET
BR-BEERREREANETRER
APKENSEEEBRRFADT

= _

() WRE — AREEBIERHAE

Iﬁ@muimi ET 751«/{X 1_LE|’]1E

PP RESEE WEBTEER

. oREKBEEREEESEMIR

%F‘i SR AR BIR R REAIE R B 1R ET
HF1S o
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20 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 20 Eﬁﬁﬂ)}z,\“ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ FHRENRE

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE A=

USEFUL LIVES (continued)

(i) Gross margin rates — The basis used to determine the iy EMEX — ARETCEEENXEER
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin rates is MEEDEEEEFE = FERN
the average gross margin rates achieved in the three FHEME  WEAEERERA R
years immediately before the budget year, adjusted for TERRAE E R A IE N T LA AEE o

expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

(i)  Discount rates — The discount rates used are before (i)  HIRE — FTAIIR XTI AL R
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant RS ELEBNSRSELENE
CGUs or CGU Groups. Bl HYFF E B fg o

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the ARIReREERBITIR XK BARETE

growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the AHAA R IR e mEHE RIS RENT ¢

period are as follows:

Growth rate Discount rate

BRE TRE

Liquid milk products CGU Group REMERE S EESMER 4.0% 4.0% 12.18% 12.11%
Ice cream products CGU Group AEMNERE ¢ EEBMER 3.0% 3.0% 12.42% 12.37%
Low temperature products CGU Group  RBERBEEEEMARI 3.0% 3.0% 13.53% 13.42%
Yashili CGU Group HLFR S EEEMAR 2.0% 3.0% 12.63% 13.32%
Bellamy CGU Group BRORRGEEBNAS 2.5% 2.5% 12.50% 12.00%
AICE CGU Group AICER £ EH B Rl 4.0% 4.0% 15.50% 15.92%
ANI CGU Group ANIR € 7 4+ B 4 7 2.0% 2.0% 13.46% 13.99%
Milkground CGU Group YAELSREEBMMER 25% N/A NEH 12.35% N/A @R
The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with FEBRIZMNEEREINPEIRRIR—2 -

external information sources.
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the
deterioration of the performance of the Bellamy CGU, the
directors have consequently determined to recognise an
impairment loss of the goodwill directly related to the
Bellamy CGU of RMB742,437,000 (Note 6).

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, as at
31 December 2022, save as above, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumption on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s or
CGU Group’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.
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20 BEREREHFHEENBE

ﬁ“%ﬁ(@)

BHE—_TE-_—_F+-_A=+—HILEFE "
HARBRNAKREELEVEE TR QW2
ERTHEREEN KB ESELEEMNEEME
%R S EREE 1B A R#E742,437,0007T
GERPE

Br LSRR - ARARIESERAE R
F+-—A=+—H ARESEAERD
FTERRNTA LB LN EZF YT
SERRcEAENRBEEEEMAR
WEEEBHETKESE -

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 21 RBEEQXTINKRE
2022 2021
—E-—F —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARMT T
Share of net assets B FEE 7,781,009 8,839,358
Goodwill on acquisition WHEES ) EE 2,615,336 6,954,516
10,396,345 15,793,874
Including: B
Carrying amount of individually material & 5l 22 2B & N A Y BR
associates: HE :
— China Modern Dairy (Note (a)) — FERR K
(Bt 3E (@) 8,241,189 7,800,414
— Milkground (Note 41(a)) — WAE%
(Ht5E41(a)) — 6,150,170
Aggregate carrying amount of individually (ENIESE=S: NS T
immaterial associates (Note (b)) BREE (I 3E (o)) 2,155,156 1,843,290

All of the associate are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidation financial statements.

N

PrB =

REVES A MWK N A A
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21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 21 REBEEQATNEREw

(@) China Modern Dairy

(a) HEIRMAHEE

Percentage of equity interest

Particulars of issued Place of attributable to the Group
Name shares held incorporation (indirect) Principal activity
AEEEGHNRET DL
8 BEERITROFE EMRILBE (B #) FEXHK
2022 2021
—E-C8F T —F
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. 7,915,662,048 Cayman lIslands 56.36% 56.36% Production and
(“China Modern Dairy”) shares of sale of milk
HK$0.1 each
PRBERREERERA R FREE01ET HERS EERHEETT

(TR EBERBED 7,915,662,048

BAEtD

China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material
associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the
Group mainly engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of raw milk and liquid milk products. As at
31 December 2022, the Group held approximately
4,461,042,000 (2021: 4,461,042,000) shares in issue
of China Modern Dairy.

On 24 June 2020, the Company issued
US$100,000,000 exchangeable bonds, which will be
due in June 2023, at the interest rate of 1.50% per
annum and payable semi-annually. The exchangeable
bonds are exchangeable into 613,877,227 shares of
China Modern Dairy at the notional exchange price of
HK$1.2625 per share, representing approximately
9.58% of the issued shares of China Modern Dairy as
at the date of issuance of the exchangeable bonds. In
connection with the issuance of the exchangeable
bonds, the Company lent to BOCI Financial Products
Limited (the “Borrower”) corresponding number of
shares of China Modern Dairy, to which is
exchangeable by the outstanding exchangeable
bonds, in accordance with a securities lending
agreement (the “Securities Lending Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement, voting
rights of relevant shares shall be passed to the
Borrower.

PRI R ERE AR EEE &
RNAE AAEBEZRERDTIKEE
MEMEEREIHEBRNRIERH -
RZE_—F+_A=+—08'4X&E
B8 494,461,042,0000% (=T = —
1 4,461,042,0000%) 7 B IR (K H
BEIT’RG o

RZEBE-_FEFA-+WH KA 7
BEEELHEFNR150%ETHR
—= = =%73 AF##100,000,000
ELARBEF - URBEFIEEE
RIEFAR1.262578 TEH A BRI
R EE #613,877,227 B A& 17 > 15
B RHMERAIRREFZEITEHE
BT 1D 499.58% B RAEETTAI R
&%+ AR ABEFESHE L ([F
HEL W] ATRBEERS/RERA
AR (EAMERA) B HAEBARE
TR A MR EHE IR A R B
R ELE - RIBEHE L= 88
A&7 M) FRORE G ER LA BT o
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21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (ontinueq) 21 RBHEQXTANREw
(@) China Modern Dairy (continued) (a) H .Iﬁ1t:|:K¥(iﬁ

Certain holders of the exchangeable bonds have ETARBESHBEAER T _—
exchanged the bonds into shares of China Modern F 815 25 3T HR B R B 3R R 2R O AR
Dairy in 2021. At 31 December 2022, the outstanding meMZBEZ_F+=A=+—H "
exchangeable bonds are exchangeable into RITER AR MEF AT R R H Ifﬁ
approximately 6.85% of the issued shares of China RAEH6.85% M E BTG °
Modern Dairy. Accordingly, pursuant to the Securities It IRIBEFEHE L - Bl Ifﬁﬁ
Lending Agreement, the percentage of voting rights WEBRNDBEBITEE TERANER
related to the shares of China Modern Dairy and lent HEDLLERZESG.85% °
to the Borrower was reduced to 6.85%.

TR R AR B3R A A B B 7 A R BE

é‘?‘& (BEEEPBRE - WIS
RZEMERIERE) REALE M

WMERREEAREER o

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its
financial statements, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021
=== B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Gross amounts of the associate’s RN RN )

Current assets MENEE 7,927,066 5,342,515
Non-current assets IERBEE 20,894,287 18,331,395
Current liabilities mEN B & (8,468,159) (6,065,981)
Non-current liabilities SEME B E (8,709,894) (6,493,195)
Net assets HEE 11,643,300 11,114,734
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEE IR AR R R (379,183) (249,803)

Attributable to owners of China FERERMEERKRR
Modern Dairy FEAG 11,264,117 10,864,931
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

China Modern Dalry (continued)

(a)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the

associate:

21 RBZERQATINEEw
AR B IR )
AEBREE NG MESAENOT

2022 2021
—_E—_— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARMET T
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2N 5 [ & #E B4 b 1 56.36% 56.36%
Group’s share of net assets REE DG Qa5
attributable to owners of the BABGEEEFE -
associate, excluding goodwill T\’F]%Fﬁgﬁi 6,348,456 6,123,475
Group’s share of net assets of an REEDILHEE AT
unlisted subsidiary of the associate, MIELETFRAIMNE
excluding goodwill EFE TeEmd 115,545 98,781
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEGHEE 2,121,469 2,121,469
Effect of fair value adjustments on RN A ERE
acquisition wa (598,150) (598,150)
Exchange realignment ME H A 233,512 17,492
Less: Equity-settled share-based W ANEE B R D B9 A
payment transactions not W 2w 4 “EI’JHX
shared by the Group TR 20,357 37,347
Carrying amount of the investment KERAEE 8,241,189 7,800,414
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt ARMET T
Gross amounts of the associate’s B N R ARE
Revenue WA 12,295,091 7,078,470
Profit for the year R 580,266 1,033,199
Other comprehensive income FEHEMEE K E
for the year 6,759 (2,465)
Total comprehensive income FE2HEHKRBE
for the year 587,025 1,030,734




21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea

(a)

(b)

China Modern Dalry (continued)

The Company performed an impairment assessment
of the investment in China Modern Dairy and the value
in use of China Modern Dairy was determined by
management based on a discounted cash flow
forecast. As at 31 December 2022, the assumptions
used for the discount rate and perpetual growth rate
were 11.830% (2021: 11.60%) and 3.00% (2021:
3.00%), respectively. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that, any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the value in
use is based would not cause the impairment of the
Group’s investment in China Modern Dairy.

Aggregate information of associates that are
not individually material
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21 RBERANREw

(a)

(b)

AR E IR A )

ANQ A E T BRIE R R EEITRIE
Al FEIRARMENEREESRE
EEJE$ETFHﬁﬁfﬁé/mi%ﬁi/ﬁugfi ° E/Q\
B F+ZRA=+—H FHEX
RXBIREEDFIBREZA11.80% (=
T — 44 :11.60%) %3.00% (= Z
Z—F:3.00%) c RAREERE -
RBEFAFERASENEZREZFR ﬁiﬁ&
MEEAREEH BT ERAERR
FER R E R ERE -

BRIFERBE A TRHNERER

2022 2021
=== B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T
Aggregate carrying amount of &R & BT 75 3k (8 5l 3F
individually immaterial associates BZEE R RINARKR
in the consolidated financial R
statements 2,155,156 1,843,290
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s Z!SE@ D1 % B
share of those associates NGO F L=
Profit for the year PN N D 80,449 88,222
Other comprehensive income H b 2 i - (70,359)
Total comprehensive income 2HE K= TE 80,449 17,863
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22 DEFERRED TAX 22 EEFHIE
(a) Deferred tax assets (@) EEMIEBEEE
The movements in the deferred tax assets during the FRRELEHRIBEEEZLEN T ¢

244

year are as follows:

Tax losses
available for ~ Write-down Provision for
offsetting of inventories trade  Impairment Unrealised
future tonet receivables of property, Share profit of
taxable realisable and other plant and Deferred award intragroup
Deferred tax assets arising from: BERBEERS profits value receivables  equipment Accruals  income  scheme transaction Others
WEEA% EUERR
ERBABN HAEHE AMEURE 9% BER £EARS
TEREE BE REAE RERER ELTUA RERHE i @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR  ARBTR ARMTR AR%Tn ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tn
At 1 January 2022 R=Z-—%-f-H 715,784 14,356 52,462 4 472,152 95,280 61,745 76,973 72,512 1,561,308
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 41) W8 FRE (M) 88,080 = 1,213 = 5992 2502 18317 4,703 - 120807
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFAR = = (128) (132) = = (237) - - (497)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss Banik/ (k) 57,696 (3,984) 5,926 127 (67,105) 11,237 (25,852) (19,390) 11,255 (30,090)
Charged to other comprehensive Eth2EREREE
income 4,429 58 5 = 1,016 = 494 = 3,259 9,261
Reclassffication to assets held for sale ENHEERENE
(Note 43) K (it4s) - 1,661 - - (61,589 - = - (175 (60,097)
At 31 December 2022 i S
TZA=T-H 865,989 12,001 59,478 39 350472 109,019 54,467 62,286 86,851 1,600,692
Tax losses
available for ~ Write-down  Provision for
offsetting  of inventories trade  Impairment Unrealised
future to net receivables  of property, Share profit of
taxable realisable and other plant and Deferred award intragroup
Deferred tax assets arising from: BRHBEERE profits value  receivables  equipment  Accruals income  scheme transaction Others Total
MEEAK ERERR
ERBREN  HATEE EREKZE 0E BER RE#ED  KEARS
REER TERE it REHE FERER ETRA iE RERFE A it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARMTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 W=%2=-%-HF-H 534,611 13,045 14,217 1313 420,091 77,857 81,075 70,131 64,285 1,276,625
Acquisition of subsidiaries KETFAR = = 393 = 8727 = = = 24,160 33,280
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss BaRLE/ (R 193,187 1,638 38,042 (1269) 45460 17423 (16,769) 6842 (12112 272398
Charged to other comprehensive Eth2EAEAXE
income (11,964) (827) (190) = (2,126) = (2,667) = (3821) (20,995
At 31 December 2021 R=2=—%
+=A=1+-A 715,784 14,356 52,462 44 472,152 95,280 61,745 76,973 72,512 1,561,308




22 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above tax losses
and deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
the coming years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences of RMB5,173,360,000(2021:
RMB5,153,115,000) as it is not considered probable
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the above items can be utilised in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity.

Deferred tax liabilities
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the
year are as follows:
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22 EREFIE @

(a)

(b)

BEFEEE @
EEEBHARARTER AL TIRER
FHAE - AT A AR i R I8 B 18 K
AR SR =R o

FIERIEE EY AR IEEE R AT
BE R = R A R ¥5,173,360,000

T (ZZ =Z — % . AR ¥
515311500073)6Eu/u‘ wﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TR BRI ge R A i

THE) A A9 R RFRIBFHE o
EEFEEE

FRELHBEREZIHOT

Fair value
adjustments Fair value Accelerated
arising from adjustments of depreciation
Deferred tax liabilities arising acquisition of financial  Withholding for tax
from: EEBEABERE : subsidiaries  instruments tax purposes Others
Ll SN
EEWNARE SRMIAN RO EREZ
BE ARERE AR NEFEER Hity szt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTRT AR¥Tz AR®TT AR%¥Tn AR%®T:x
At 1 January 2022 A"Z-_—F—HF—H 1,642,360 4,050 6,441 803,028 338 2,456,217
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi F 28] (M)

(Note 41) 1,061,000 25,432 = = = 1,086,432
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFATF - (17) = = - (17
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss A (28R) /8 (12,813) (11,574) 220,000 147,583 2,909 346,105
Charged to other comprehensive Hin 2 EMEN TR

income 29,650 7,192 = 859 32 37,733
At 31 December 2022 RZZE==F

+=A=+—-H 2,720,197 25,083 226,441 951,470 3,279 3,926,470




”China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4+AEGR A 7

246

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Hil 7% R EEMIGT

22 DEFERRED TAX (continueq)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

22 EEFHIE @

(b) EZEFEBEEE @

Fair value
adjustments Fair value Accelerated
arising from  adjustments of depreciation
acquisition of financial ~ Withholding for tax
Deferred tax liabilities arising from: EEHRBEARRE subsidiaries instruments tax pUrposes Others Total
¢ NG|
EENRR SRMIAH BRBEREL
BE ARERE BB MRAEER Hity @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 RZF=—%—A—8 1,815,499 10,666 3,623 449,817 — 2,279,605
Acquisition of a subsidiary ¢ SN = = = 17,875 338 18,213
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss BaER(XE)/ZE (3,728) (6,616) 2,818 335,336 - 327,810
Charged to other comprehensive income ~ H 2 EKZERLH (169,411) = = = - (169,411)
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+=R
=+-A 1,642,360 4,050 6,441 803,028 338 2,456,217

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in The
Chinese Mainland whose equity interests are directly
held by overseas parent companies in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, temporary differences relating
to the retained profits of the subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
amounted to RMB32,135,140,000 (2021:
RMB34,377,190,000) of which no deferred tax
liabilities in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these profits was provided as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that such profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

REFECEMRFTOL - R BEAREXZ
MINEEEMINEIREESTIRNR B AR
WI0%EMFH - BEERTE —FTENEF—
A—BEAR TEAR-_TTLF+=
A=1T—HRAELNERF - i+ B EI
Bl EEPAE RLAERE 2R B RBHE -
AR SR TR R - A B E A
MEDE%H10% - At - AEBARZE
KRB AEKRINF AR (RENRFE
EREERE)R_TENF-A—HEE
B A B 0 R B9 RS ET TR AR

T+ -_A=+—B B@AX&EE
RAEE (TBEEB) KN AR MRS
FEMEREERE A ARES2,135,140,000
T(ZZFE = —F : AR#¥34,377,190,000
J0) ° AR R REHIZE T2 A M A% B K
K BEEEEAERATRBERTEDIK
BB - £ 5 R A B A i R A
MR IEHRELEHIBEAE -
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Rl % ¥R 22 BfJ 51
23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23 Htt&mEE
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBET T
At fair value through other URAREBEFEREE
comprehensive income: STAHMEERE :
Hong Kong listed equity BB ETRERE
investment — YuanShengTai — RAERWMEARR
Dairy Farm Limited Al 34,625 33,945
Unlisted equity investments I LR ERE 126,858 65,181
161,483 99,126
At fair value through profit or LWARBEE=AEZS
loss: FFAER
Unlisted equity investment in ‘A BEZRIE LR
Guangze (@) = 466,726
Other unlisted equity investments — H i 3F F L E®R & 373,645 3,926
Short-term investment deposits RHRE TR (o) 5,390,522 3,259,537
5,764,167 3,7301?9_“
At amortised cost: TR BRI
Short-term entrusted loans RHZETE R (©) 7,609 239,962
Long-term entrusted loans RHZEFEE R (©) 1,403,683 3,075,637
Long-term entrusted loans due R—FRNEE 8K H
within one year ZTER (©) 1,429,267 300,755
Short-term other loans E b5 BB K = 400,000
Long-term other loans Ha RHEIE K 45(c) 130,000 100,000
Long-term receivables £ HA P& R IR 100,000 6,883
Long-term time deposits RHAE A7 K (d)y/27 18,071,469 10,950,072
21,142,028 1 5,073,3_99_“
Total other financial assets Hitv e mEERTE 27,067,678 18,902,624
Current portion mEE D 6,827,398 4,666,980
Non-current portion EMENEB A 20,240,280 14,235,644
27,067,678 18,902,624
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23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2022,

investment was derecognised as part of consideration of
acquisition of Milkground with loss on fair value change of
RMB9,083,000 (2021: RMB3,350,000) (Notes 6 and 41(a)).

(b) The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management
purposes. As at 31 December 2022, the Group held
investment deposits of RMB5,390,522,000

RMBS3,259,537,000) with principal guaranteed.

(c) The Group granted entrusted loans to certain dairy farms and

other third parties. As at 31 December 2022,

these entrusted loans, RMB700,000,000 were lent out via
COFCO Trust Company Limited, a connected party and also
a related party of the Group, while other entrusted loans
were lent out via banks. Annual interest rates of the above
entrusted loans ranged from 2.23% to 6.05%

31 December 2022 (2021: 2.23% to 6.05%).

(d) The effective interest rates of long-term time deposits as at
31 December 2022 varied from 1.70% to 4.40% (2021:
3.19% to 4.18%) per annum and would mature in two to five

years.

As at 31 December 2022, no long-term time deposits were
pledged to banking facilities, interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings (2021: RMB70,000,000).

23

HEmEEw

B 2

(@)

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLEE"
RIEHERIEERAWBEDIEZHNILD
RIE - AR EZEEERAR083,000
TL(ZZ=—%F : AR%3,350,0007T) (Kt
T6K41(a)) °

ﬂsilﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi’éammﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%
AZHEHEBEEAGER R=_T=Z=_F+=A
=+ — A Zﬁ‘%lhﬁ/\iﬁé}
5,390,522,000C (=T = —F : AR
3,259,5387,0007T) : B N & (RFEH K ETF
/TA"

AEBRETHERF=ZARHERE
KB RZTFZ=—F+-_A=+—
H ' AR ¥700,000,0007T 86+ 18 {5 £
EREARR(AEE—REEFTRFD
R—REHL)EBL  HRYBBRTHE
HeBEzE_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H " £t
M ZEFEE R F R E N F2.23%£6.05%
—T - —4F :223%%E6.05%) °

RZZZ=ZF+=—A=+—H RHTH
BRHOEBREFENT1.70%E4.40% (=
T —F:319%%4.18%) ' WHEHKME
AERNEE -

RZZZ=ZF+=-—A=+—0 HERH
T BT BB A EUR T A ~ FHEER
TREMEEBE(ZTE=-—F: AR
70,000,0007T) °
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24 INVENTORIES 24 78
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR¥T T
Raw materials R A7 # 3,840,233 2,612,171
Finished goods EEPX i 4,233,144 3,873,314
Total inventories at the lower of cost and % Ak 7 B ] B3R ) FE 1Y
net realisable value RIEEBFENTE
4a=8 8,073,377 6,485,485
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an BE_ZE__F+_A=+—HILFE"
expense was RMB238,049,000 for the vyear ended ERERAINTFTEMRSEAARE
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB183,540,000), which was 238,049,000 (=T = —F : AR
recognised in other expenses (Note 6). 183,540,0007T) * WHREME A (fizE6)
7
25 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 25 EWRAKREE
2022 2021
—s-= —E_—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBFIT
Bills receivable e EE 133,536 97,398
Trade receivables JrE U BR 3R 3,674,910 4,182,414
Loss allowance BB (148,204) (120,124)
3,660,242 4,159,688

The Group normally grants credit limits to its customers
which are adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group
closely monitors overdue balances. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivables. The trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEBMAFRRTEFPREFERE  UA
EETERATHE AKEZEERN
REEHEER - BN EXPt KA KB H &
WIEREXETRBRNNEFER B
BEXEEETRER AKELEHEE
WERBAEERNERRIEMEERT -
JRE Ui AR R I S B 7 ) B o
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25 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES coninies 25 BEWERMREEHE w
The Group sold non-recourse trade receivables to third
parties for cash proceeds. These trade receivables have
been derecognised from the consolidated statement of
financial position, because the Group transfers substantially

7N
()

all of the risks and rewards, primarily credit risk. % ©

Based on the Group’s accounting policy of financial assets,
the Group measured bills receivable at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, are as follows:

ES

AL B RFE =77 HEEBREREIRFIA
BHIREMEHE - ZFRBERERNER
BMBIMRNKKRLER  REESAKED
BEBAFIRARLEOE  TEREER

W,

REAEENEREESFTBR  A5E
RZEBE-_—_F+_A=+—BEULIARE
SEAEEFH S AHEMEE K ST EEW

RS HIR - A HIBR B 18 58 65 B B I BR 3K
REBREZBHONKREDTET

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBF T
Less than 1 year DR —F 3,574,016 4,108,722
1 to 2 years —EMF 68,377 34,305
2 to 3 years e =4 2,747 15,907
Over 3 years =FUE 15,102 754
3,660,242 4,159,688
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of KRR FUREREZEZH T ¢
trade receivables are as follows:
2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AR®EF T
At 1 January Rn—HA—H 120,124 96,522
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) BRI EEE

(Mt3E7) 362,945 269,059

Amount written off as uncollectible | & 71 AT U [B] i i £ A9
T (251,029) (174,484)
Impairment losses reversed (Note 7) WEBEREE (M) (83,836) (70,973)
At 31 December R+ZH=+—H 148,204 120,124
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25 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (oninies 25 FEWRFR E#E w
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date REHREBE - BREDITEP B EERE
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 17 UErEEBEEEE - BB EREAR
The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical SEBAMNEEBRBLERESL  CEBHA
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors FEERATE AR RALEIRIBERIE °
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk 5 =B B AR P AT 2 AN & B R X
exposure on the Group’s trade and bills receivables using REENEERBRER
the provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-Z-H+-A=+—H

Expect credit Gross carrying Expected credit

loss rate amount losses
EHEEERER BRE#E EHEEER
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
Less than 1 year DR—F 1.54% 3,630,077 56,061
1 to 2 years —EMF 43.06% 120,085 51,708
2 to 3 years ME=F 60.07% 6,880 4,133
Over 3 years =FLE 70.62% 51,404 36,302
3,808,446 148,204

As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+_A=+—H
Expect credit Gross carrying Expected credit
loss rate amount losses
EHEEBEX REAE BEEEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AREBFTT
Less than 1 year PR—F 1.47% 4,169,926 61,204
1 to 2 years —EWE 25.94% 46,319 12,014
2 to 3 years e =4 72.27% 57,358 41,451
Over 3 years =FLE 87.86% 6,209 5,455
4,279,812 120,124
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26 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 26
AND OTHER ASSETS

%ﬁ%ﬁt CHttBEWREAR EME

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTFIT
Deposits Re 51,693 32,712
Other receivables H th & R I8 2,479,821 1,301,552
Loss allowance B R (19,626) (11,441)
Financial assets measured at BRI AGTEN B
amortised cost EE 2,511,888 1,322,823
Right-of-return assets REREE 17,428 21,046
Prepayments SEENEN 978,869 1,555,844
Value-added tax recoverable Al FIIEE 812,035 766,362
Corporate income tax recoverable AR EFTER 180,852 182,651
Long-term prepayments (Note (a)) RHTEAS 3R (M 5E(a) 591,525 900,187
B 2,580,709 3,4261999_“
Total prepayments, other receivables and TR FR - HAth FE U RIE
other assets R H A& EAEE 5,092,597 4,748,913
Less: Long-term prepayments — B RETEN R —
non-current portion (Note (a)) JERNER L5
(P 5E(a)) (452,973) (463,038)
Prepayments, other receivables TERT R - E A e e
and other assets — current portion MEAMEE — BNH
B 4,639,624 4,285,875
Note: Mg aE -
(@ The Group has entered into long-term raw mik supply @ AEERREETRAEIFAFRIZLREAR

BENHEan - REZERHN  A5E
SRR E R F R HEETENFA -

contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In
accordance with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw
milk supplies for the next two to five years.
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27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS

27 BERBOTEFREMBER

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt % AR®T T ARBET T
Cash at bank and on hand RITEFHERE 5,693,433 8,091,745
Time deposits T BT K 25,143,865 14,075,188
Pledged deposits RFESFR () 284,213 203,151
31,121,511 22,370,084
Less: Pledged deposits B REEERK () (284,213) (203,151)
Less: Long-term time deposits o REIE B 23 (18,071,469) (10,950,072)
Cash and bank in the RirE MR &R IR
consolidated statement of & MIRTTE R
financial position 12,765,829 11,216,861
Less: Time deposits with original & : REIHE A =1 A
maturity of more than LA 59 E Bi 17 5K
three months (7,072,396) (8,125,116)
Cash and cash equivalents in the REiEHRESRERMNE
consolidated cash flow S RREEEY
statement 5,693,433 8,091,745
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27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS (continued)

Note:

(@)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s pledged deposits were
for the following bank facilities:

(@)

HEeERBTEEREMER @

B 3

RZBZ—F+-_A=+—H AEEN
REBESIFR

REL A T IRITRE (E L

2022 2021
—=F-— —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T

Pledged to secure bills payable (Note 28) I AESEN =&
(Bi=E28) 162,321 112,797
Pledged to secure letters of credit EIRAESEHAE 23,052 20,354
Pledged to secure bank facilities EIRABERITEERE = 50,000
Pledged to secure bank loans EHAESHRITER 98,840 20,000
284,213 203,151

At 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB11,656,920,000 (2021: RMB10,081,430,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under The Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of
between three month and five years depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest
at the respective time deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with

no recent history of default.

RZZEZ—F+-_A=+—8H ' AKEU
AREBBUNRS RETETESELDN
AR#11,656,920,0007C (Z T =—4: A
K #10,081,430,0007T) ° A R ¥ 37 3E 7]
BRI BAHME - AW - REBEFEK
Bok O SN B 5 2R M) R A B - S B R A EE
BHTE - ANEEE S REFEEITINE
¥BHIRTT BARBER BHME o

TEFRBETIZHMEET L - ERFERTY
?ﬁ?$§%@ﬁ’\]ﬂﬂﬁqfﬁfﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ}§ﬁ?:
AERENTRFRBER  AEREE
HERFEGF R - RITEFRREEFK
T2 R o B ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ(aﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ
(e
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28 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 28 ENERIFRERE
2022 2021
—s== —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREET T
Trade payables JFE1<F BR 3R 8,274,588 7,922,455
Bills payable e 2R 1,926,047 881,447
10,200,635 8,803,902

All trade and bills payables of the Group are expected to be
settled within one year or are payable on demand.

Ageing analysis
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the
Group, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AEBMARNEREZREFR—FR

BRER D T
AEEEMERREREEZHHNERER
DT -

2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Within 3 months 3@ A A 8,756,459 7,734,901
4 to 6 months 4% 61E A 1,263,731 701,704
7 to 12 months 721218 A 87,887 91,239
Over 1 year 19 LA E 92,558 276,058
10,200,635 8,803,902

The Group’s trade and bills payables are unsecured except BRTXFratEsN  AREENEMNEREE

as noted below, non-interest-bearing and payable on
demand.

Included in the above balances, bills payable with an
aggregate balance of approximately RMB654,421,000
(2021: RMB318,774,000) were secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to approximately
RMB162,321,000 (2021: RMB112,797,000) (Note 27).
Except for the above, Dbills payables were unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and payable when due within 3 to 6
months.

EREER  RENARERERERE -

FLE 8T EHRBEHARE
654,421,000 (Z B = —F : AR
318,774,00070) M FERT B AR S E A T
FERAEHHARE162,321,000 (==
——F: AR¥112,797,0007T) (Kt 5£27)
TEHRHR o Br Ll BN - BN RBEAEER K
R WHER=ZENEAREIH -
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Rl 5% SR ZE B BT
29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29 HttENRERFERER
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M7 AR¥F T AR®EF T
Refund liabilities BRRAE 55,268 34,266
Salary and welfare payables ENEHeRENE 1,644,237 1,499,582
Accrued expenses TEIRE A (@) 2,635,576 2,723,649
Payables for construction and BEREEWE WE
purchase of property, plant RAB R RS 108
and equipment 2,592,455 2,117,643
Deposits received B iz e (o) 919,718 923,590
Other tax payables H b pE - 7518 222,985 252,910
Others Hh 2,385,731 2,977,560

Financial liabilities measured at WEREATENS B

amortised cost BfE 10,455,970 10,529,200
Contract liabilities BHBE (©) 3,125,463 4,047,217
13,581,433 14,576,417
Notes: BT
(@)  Accrued expenses mainly included accruals for promotion @ HEREAFZPEHEAIRESRAIMN
expenses and advertisement expenses. TEIREA -
(o)  Deposits were received from distributors and suppliers, and () BoEEkEEREEEZES  TADEH
downstream points of sale for refrigerators deployed. IRAETRAE T AT B B o
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Notes: (continued)

(c) Movements in contract liabilities

Annual Report 2022 :E::ff_fﬁiﬁ”

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

HtEMNRERERERAw®

st ()

()

2021

—E-C—HF —T-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR T T

At 1 January n—HA—H 4,047,217 3,470,305
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result BRFAERBAYGTAE
of recognising revenue during the year HaBEHREmERE

that was included in the contract COR=RE Vs

liabilities at the beginning of the period (4,045,576) (8,475,169)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FRAWEHERSEH

receiving sales deposits during the year BB EEMN 3,125,463 4,047,217

Exchange realignment bE i F 2 (1,641) 4,864

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 3,125,463 4,047,217

Contract liabilities are short-term advances received to deliver
dairy products.

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be

settled or recognised as income within one year or payable
on demand.

A

4+

=

SRR BEREXPRMILEERE R

P E A A RIENIERE R EARN —F

st

BRERBRAKEEREE -

257



NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fil % ¥R 2E I 5E

30

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

Current nE

Short-term bank loans, BRETER
secured FER

Short-term bank loans, BRETER
unsecured i

Current portion of long-term R HASR 1T & ZENHA
bank loans — secured BH — HER

Current portion of long-term ~ RHASR 1T & ZENHA
bank loans B — mER
— unsecured

Medium-term notes FEER

Exchangeable bonds AR E S (FFE(d)
(Note (d))

US dollar bonds (Note (g)) EnfEz (HiEe)

Lease liabilities (Note 17(0) & & & (i £17(0)

Non-current ok )

Long-term bank loans, RBFTER
secured - &R

Long-term bank loans, RBFTER
unsecured — EIER

2021 convertible bonds ZE--FAR#
(Note 31) &% (HizEs1)

Exchangeable bonds ARG ES (M)
(Note (d)

US dollar bonds (Note (e)) EfEs (HEe)

RMB bonds (Note (f) ARBES (H5E0)

Lease liabllities (Note 17(0) ~ HE&E (FizE17(0)

30 FFEMITRHEMEE

2022 2021
—EBC-CE —E-—F
Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate Total Maturity rate rate Total
Ep ) BERE FHA=X st gl EEfE  FEHE &5t
2022 176,495 - 176,495
2022 2,788,556 - 2,788,556
2022 - 69,330 69,330
2022 40,631 - 40,631
2022 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
2022 190,472 - 190,472
4,196,154 69,330 4,265,484
2024-2027 698,189 5,050,883 5,749,072
2026 3,981,115 — 3981115
2023 672,273 - 672,273
2023-2030 11,497,177 — 11,497,177
2023 508,008 - 508,008
2023-2052 359,798 - 359,798
17,716,560 5,050,883 22,767,443
21,912,714 5120213 27,032,927
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30 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30 i ESHRITREMEEw
BORROWINGS (continued)
The repayment schedule of the interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMEENERBOT
other borrowings is as follows:

2022 2021
—=E=-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Within 1 year —F R 9,094,719 4,265,484
1 to 2 years —ZEMF 14,566,626 4,637,458
2 to 5 years e RF 13,112,896 16,215,645
Over 5 years AEME 2,334,364 1,914,340
Total interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEER
borrowings 48 =E 39,108,605 27,032,927
Less: Amount due within one year included & : st ARBI B EH
in current liabilities —F R E H 08 (9,094,719) (4,265,484)
30,013,886 22,767,443
Notes: B 5 -
(@)  As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-bearing bank @ RIE-_—F+-A=+—H A"EEH
and other borrowings were secured as follows: FTERITREMEEEBELOT ¢

2022 2021
—EC-CHF —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T

Secured by investment deposits, pledge NIREFER - RBEESER

deposits and long-term time deposits & & B F HAF R

(Note 27) (P 7E27) 135,000 120,556
Secured by assets of certain subsidiaries LUVEFFRAREEERR

(Note 14) (Ffif5E14) 51,882 55,939
Unsecured 2 4K 1 38,921,723 26,856,432

39,108,605 27,032,927
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30

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

30
B &E -

(o)

SFERITREMERE.

(%)

AEBEATIIEEHEN BIRITREAM
EENREENT

2022 2021

—E-C—HF T —4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARET T

HK$ BT 9,433,755 9,031,998
us$ =7 13,493,367 12,309,961
Australia Dollar VBT 573,579 465,384
Indonesia Rupiah ENfE & 51,883 484,218
RMB AR 15,519,691 4,702,549
New Zealand Dollar PR T 36,330 =
Euro BT = 38,817
39,108,605 27,032,927

The floating annual interest rates of the short-term bank loans
were determined based on the interest rates announced by
the People’s Bank of China.

The fixed annual interest rates of the short-term bank loans
varied from 1.02% to 5.12% for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: from 1.01% to 5.50%).

On 24 June 2020, the Company issued US$100,000,000
exchangeable bonds due 2023 with interest rate of 1.50%
per annum, which are exchangeable into 613,877,227
ordinary shares of China Modern Dairy at the initial notional
exchange price of HK$1.2625 per share. The Group
classified the exchangeable bonds as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. For the year ended
31 December 2022, a net fair value gain of
RMB113,817,000 (2021: RMB200,732,000) arising from the
fair value change of the exchangeable bond was recognised
in other income and gains (Note 5(b)).

These bonds are initially with maturity of either five or ten
years and interest rates of 1.875% to 4.25% per annuum.
Interests of these bonds are payable semi-annually in
arrears.

K2 HRAR 1T SR M0T B) F ek B A 4R
T RMBRFIREE -

BE_ZT-_—F+_A=+—HItFE
EHETEFRNEEFMENT1.02%=
512% (ZF=—%F : 1.01% £5.50%) °

R-ZB-TE XA -+MAE  AARIKE
FEAB0%BETHN T -_=FFHH
100,000,000 T Al R IR E F + H Al 1R R
FEERRE (BRRM1.26257%7T) 8
BAEP EIE KK E613,877,227% L A
IR - AEB D BAIRMES BAR B
SHHES ABRNEREE BHEZ
T FFTA=+T—HIEFE  AIRK
BHFEARBEZIEAN AL BRI FEA
R®113,817,000c (ZE=—F : ARK
200,732,0007T ) 7 £ 4 A % W 55 7 3R
(F7E5(0)) °

ZEBEMBRIEEEREFRTF - FF
RE1.875%54.25% ° ZEEHNFEE
FERE—R o
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(f) On 29 June 2021, the Company issued two-year bonds due
within the year ended 31 December 2023 with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB500,000,000 at 99.994% of the
face value to refinance the Company’s existing loans. The
bonds bear interest rate of 3.100% per annum, payable
annually in arrears. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Company early redeemed the bonds before the
due date.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued convertible
bonds with a nominal value of HK$4,862,600,000 to Eaglets
International Financial Products Limited (“Eaglets”), an
exempted company incorporated with limited liability
pursuant to the laws of the Cayman Islands. Selected
participants, including certain directors and employees of
the Group, are entitled to, subscribe for (by themselves or
through certain special purpose vehicles) certain financial
products from Eaglets. The incentives to be received by the
selected participants from time to time will be based on
returns on the financial products derived from the
performance of the convertible bonds. The bonds are
convertible at the option of the bondholders into ordinary
shares with the initial conversion price of HK$34.73 per
share which was subsequently adjusted to HK$34.33 per
share as from 15 June 2022. In the case of the conversion
rights having been exercised in full, a maximum of
141,642,869 new shares will be allotted and issued by the
Company. Any convertible bonds not converted will be
redeemed at its principal amount on 26 November 2026.
The bonds carry interest rate of 3.08% per annum, which is
payable in arrears on 26 May and 26 November of each
year.

The fair value of these convertible bonds was
RMB5,701,449,000 on the issuance date, which had been
split into a liability component of RMB4,000,000,000 and
share-based payment component of RMB1,701,449,000 in
accordance with IFRS2, respectively.

30

31
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Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

*/u\iﬁ?j_-& \f&{%ﬁ(@)
BT : (@)

)] RZBZ—FNAZTNB ' RARIEE
E99.994%# I THEBE-_E=-=F+=A
=+—BIEFEIHORNFES  Aef
%8 A A R #500,000,0007C @ U % AR A 7
REEREHNME - EHFRFFZE3.100%

PR IRERE - HE—T-_—_F+=-A
=+—BUHFE  ARARREHBERRSR
FEEI{ES o

AR ES

—E-—F+—A=+~H KAFMA—
MBREREHS AEFMA LN ERES
RARSFERNESMERER AR ([8
[& |) 3% 77 [ {8 4,862,600,0007% 7T 2 A] # %
BEH -  BE2HEE (BREAEEETEER
BE)AEITREBRSE THKENARRE
FENETERER EBEIJLEETRKE
SRS ERATRRESFRBITENS
MERER - EHFEAERES S -=
FRNATHBARZRVGBERESR34.73
BT (FER AR AE34.338 1) K5k
TR o B IRIEREITE - AQR)E
it 2% K 21T i % 141,642,869 B FT A% 17 » 1T
f—JffiRTﬁFE%H#EAf?f/\qz‘f’ A=+x
A ASER - EHILFFEI.08%5T L -
gﬂﬂ_“f’/\ﬁ);ﬁ"f’ )EJ__”/\E/)KE\"

AR EFRNETRHNAARAEABARE
5,701,449,0007T @ 18 15 B B2 B 7% =R &5 %E 8]

F2%H B A EIHH AR 4000000000
TC R AR X 3o AR #1,701,449,000
TEO
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31

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The benefits of the convertible bonds shall only be entitled
with the selected participants in five batches with 10%,
15%, 20%, 25% and 30% of the convertible bonds on
26 November 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026,
respectively, if and when the pre-set performance targets of
the participants are achieved.

In November 2022, the Company redeemed the first batch
of 10% of the convertible bonds with total considerations of
HK$486,260,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB434,362,000).

The movements of the liability component are as follows:

31

EH?&HQE%(@)

AMBREFEANEEES2HEHEZS W5
;?gﬁi%mﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁkﬁﬁﬁ aJ
DRRZFTZ=F - ZF=_=F - ZF9
FNZE_RAFER B NF+—AZ1+
AoAM=E08RRESHA10% - 15%
20% * 25% %30% °

—E__F+—A ARAEINLERE
486,260,000 T (HHERHDARK
434,362,0007T) & [@ 5 —#£10% &9 7 #2 i%
B% o

BERD

DR ENIAT

2022 2021
- —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Liability component at 1 January R—A—BMaERsy 3,981,115 —
Issuance 17 = 4,000,000
Interest accrual JE&THLE 132,707 11,786
Interest paid Eﬁ A A (133,783) (11,839)
Redemption fE O (434,362) =
Exchange realignment & 5 38 & 361,954 (18,832)
Liability component at 31 December RT+ZA=+—HHAE
(Note 30) f&& 5 (M13E30) 3,907,631 3,981,115
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32 fTE€®mIT A
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE =K BE afE

GUUEONVI Y RMB’000  RMB’000
AR T NSRRI

Interest rate swaps FEEBE L (@) 473,970 - 11,119 25,227
Foreign currency forward = BRSNE & 4]
contracts (b) 6,371 36,477 1,901 12,317
480,341 36,477 13,020 37,544
Portion classified as S RIERE
non-current: o
Foreign currency HINES iR B G
forward swaps a8 1,655 10,708 = 11,078
Interest rate swaps FEHEBRELD 473,970 - 11,119 25,227
Current portion mENE D
Foreign currency HINEES 3R BR 4
forward swaps aH# 4,716 25,769 1,901 1,239
Notes: Bt
(a) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (a) FREREH — BEREHH
As at 31 December 2022, two interest rate swap R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H8 KX&EHHF
agreements of the Group were in effective, in order to hedge MO MEEREHNER - AREHRAETT
the interest rate risk in relation to floating rate bank SHERZ B FRBITEROFRER - %
borrowings denominated in HK$. These agreements with EE54HEBESLEED R A2,300,000,000
notional amounts of HK$2,300,000,000 and 7 7T }.3,875,000,000/8 ¢ ' € AEE &
HK$3,875,000,000, respectively, enable the Group to receive Rz B BHE1TRZEHR S ([Hibor]) YgERZ
monthly interest of the notional amount at the Hong Kong EeHENMNE - WIRETEHEREEFH X
Interbank Offered Rate (“Hibor”) and pay interest to counter (RIS

parties at fixed rate.
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued)

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the interest rate
swaps match the interest payments and the principal
payments of the bank loan agreements. The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships
as the underlying risks of the interest rate swaps are
basically the same as the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes
in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged
risks.

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:
o The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and

hedged items

o Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of
hedged items and hedging instruments

The impacts of the hedging instruments on the statement of
financial position are as follows:

TTEE€MIT AEw
Bt - (@)

(a) FREREH — HEREEH @

B PIEE EEPTAGELERER &R
E AT EERE KWK EF SR &R
TERBZOASNRECR - XEBE R
HHAERRET  1EHREE - RE AT
G KR A8 8 R B B 2 5 R R K
EARERE - BErEE P HRE - AEBIEK
RABRBITAETAEE  WHEHPRRES
WEDRTE AR BEEBEDEIFIER AN
BEEBEITHR -

SR A SIS IREAL

. RHHFHEERBRELEHTAR
EEHREENARELSER TR

B 488
2

. EEMIRE REHMTANTRRRS

LB =

P T AR BARARNOZENT :

Change in fair
value used for
Line item in the measuring hedge

Notional Carrying  statement of financial ineffectiveness
amount amount position for the year
FRNARGE
Fapiakig i
HEE REE BBMRARIER AREE
HK$’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BETT ARETRT ARBFT
As at 31 December 2022 “E--fF+=R
=+-H
Interest rate swaps FIERFH]AEH 3,875,000 294,388 Derivative financial 357,045
instruments
(assets)
TEEMIE(EE)
Interest rate swaps FEXEHAED 2,300,000 179,582 Derivative financial 198,823
instruments
(assets)
TESBMIE(EE)
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32 fT4A€mM I Aw
(continued)
Notes: (continued) BIRE - ()
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (a) FREBREHN — HEREEHHT @
The impacts of the hedged items on the statement of HHRIE B WU R RATZENT
financial position are as follows:
Change in
fair value used for
measuring hedge
ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve
FARRTE
B RemeE
AREES $h &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTF T AREBTF T
As at 31 December 2022 RN-EBE——
+=ZA=+—8
Interest rate swaps FZEFHBEH (555,868) 473,970
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the effect of the HE-_Z-—_F+-_A=+—HItFE"
cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or loss and the REeEREWTHERREE2AKSROT
statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 2 :
Line item
Hedge in the
ineffectiveness  statement of
Gross recognised in profit
amount  Tax effect Total profit or loss or loss
REZRER
nE  TKgE i WMERER  BRXHEA

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT ARETR

Interest rate swaps FEREHEH

Total hedging loss recognised in ~ RAE M2 AR 555,868 = 555,868 - N/A
other comprehensive income Y EIRAE TEMA

Amount reclassified from other B HEt 2 AR ER (67,790) - (67,790) — Finance cost
comprehensive income to PBEEBREN MERE
profit or loss T8
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge
At 31 December 2022, the Group had the following foreign
currency swap agreements in place:

1) As at 31 December 2022, two sets of foreign currency
swap agreements were in effective, in order to hedge
the foreign currency exposure of fixed rate bonds with
face value of US$450,000,000 and US$500,000,000,
respectively, at annual rates of 3.00% and 4.25%,
respectively. These agreements enable the Group to
swap before mentioned bonds with borrowings
amounted to HK$3,487,500,000 and
HK$3,924,500,000, respectively, at annual rates of
3.18% and 3.89%~3.94%, respectively.

2) As at 31 December 2022, a set of foreign currency
swap agreements were in effective, in order to hedge
the foreign currency exposure arising from the
principal of fixed rate bond with face value of
US$450,000,000. This agreement enable the Group to
swap before mentioned bond with borrowing
amounted to HK$3,491,100,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instrument as the terms of the foreign
currency swap contracts match the terms of the bonds. The
Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contracts
are basically the same as the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes
in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged
risks.

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

o The counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items

o The impact of not separately identifying the forward
elements of forward contracts or foreign exchange
basis of financial instruments as cost of hedge

32

TTEE€MIT AEw

B 3

(b)

(&)

HNEFRAEN — RERBY
R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—H ' ' A£EA
AT ONES B i7 3%

1) RZEZZF+=—A=+—H ™
ENNEFERGEES  DRARY
h T 1 A 450,000,000% T &
500,000,000 7t /9 [ 5E | & & %
MNERR  HEMNES R A
3.00% K&4.25% - ZEHE A E
Bt EsEeES A
3,487,500,000% T &
3,924,500,0007 7T 5 Bl 4% 6 A1 %=
3.18% }23.89%~3.94% 5t B K & 7k
i

2) RZEZ_ZF+=—A=+—H ' —
EINEFRGEES  BREHRE
{8 /4450,000,0003% 7T # & 5E Fl| R
BEHAR ST ROINE R - 2
FLAEENS EMEFESEA
3,491,100,0007% 7T A 18 3R B #2 ©

B hIE R BET T AGAELERE - R
B R IMNE B A K0 1R SRR R 55 1O {0 AE
PCiE - REERBEPRFRRE - 100D
X REREREXHEMEERED Y
MRS EAER - R EHDER
M AEEFARRITETRE  THE
HnEREENET TARAABEHED
HPIRE AR ERSETLER -

HP A SIS IREL

. RSHFHNEERREE F T AR
EEHIEAN AR EEBEK TR
=
e

. TEHEONERKDHERT
L) HME B2 B8 5 7 F 23 S AR
B &



32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge (continued)

The impacts of the hedging instruments on the statement of

financial position are as follows:
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Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

TTE€EMITAw

st ()

(b) HNEEBREY — BRLREEH @
AR TEAHMBRAROTZENT :

Change in fair
value used for
Line item in the measuring hedge

Notional Carrying  statement of financial ineffectiveness
amount amount position for the year
FRNARGE
Eapiakidy o
£&A REE IR RIE B AREED
USs$000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TET ARETRT AREFT
As at 31 December 2022 N-ZE-—&
+-A=+—8
Foreign currency swaps HNEB A H) 1,450,000 (29,137) Derivative financial 213,122
instruments
(liabilities)
fTEeRMIA (AR

The impacts of the hedged items on the statement of

financial position are as follows:

EERIEB WP BERAROZENT

Change in
fair value used for
measuring hedge

ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve

FARRE
R Y RenE
AR EEE Eapaledi
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2022 A
+=—A=+—8”

Foreign currency swaps HNEE B S %Y (213,122) (53,269)
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the effects of the
cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or loss and the
statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Gross
amount

RMB’000

TTEE€MIT AEw

LS EE)

(b) IEEREN — BHEREH M@
HE_Z__F+_A=+— E¢¢
Eﬁiﬂuiéﬂ/q}i‘-ﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬁuyﬁ
2T

Hedge Line item in
ineffectiveness the statement
recognised in of profit

Tax effect Total profit or loss or loss
P 1E 5 TR A
i34 st HHEN BnRHEB

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Foreign currency swaps INE B A )
Total hedging loss recognised in - R H {th 2 W 2§ 213,122 - 213,122 - N/A
other comprehensive income TERRHY ¥R [E5 18 TEA
wwm
Amount reclassified from other B ﬁﬁﬂ%wﬁz%ﬁ (231,181) - (231,181) - Other
comprehensive income to HoBEEER expenses
profit or loss %%’ﬁ Hin & A

(c) In addition to the above hedging instruments, the Group has
also entered into various foreign currency forward contracts
and interest rate forward contracts to manage its exchange
rate and floating interest rate exposures. These forward
contracts are not designated for hedging purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A net fair value
loss on foreign currency forward contracts of
RMB31,754,000 was recognised in other expenses for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (Note 6) (2021: net fair value
gain of RMB2,140,000 (Note 5(b)).

(c)

FREA RS T EAN - RE B RG] S IHR
HINE S K R F KRS P B R EE X
MZEFERE - ZSRPEHOWIEET
B AR - WIRAREF ABRAE -
LB;WI\%A%’J/A/‘EEEE?@ AR
31,754,000t RBE=_T=-—_F+=H
=S+ HIEFERIAREMER (MEe6)
(ZZ2-—F  AAEUREFEARE
2,140,0007t (Fff5E5(0))) °
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33 DEFERRED INCOME 33 EZEWA

2022 2021
—E-= —T-—1F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
At 1 January R—A—H 477,833 420,006
Additions b 189,804 148,101
Amortisation during the year (Note 5(b)) F i (M3E5(0)) (95,505) (90,274)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 572,132 477,833
34 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 34 HthemaE
2022 2021
S8 T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T ARET T
Fair value of the put liability of FEPER IR R A 2 2 ROA
non-controlling interests BEARE
— Low temperature — KR (a) = 1,203,800
— ANI — ANI (b) 61,301 406,698
Fair value of a financial liability HEEZEBEEND
arising from the Compensation 1A
Right (©) 23,658 885,368
84,959 2,495,866
Non-current portion JEBNER Ef 55 84,959 1,292,066
Current portion BV ER 8 5 = 1,203,800
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34 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continuea) 34 HtemEEw
Notes: M EE -

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone
Asia Pte”) dated on 9 August 2013, an option was granted
to Danone Asia Pte to terminate the equity joint venture
contract and sell the entire Danone Asia Pte’s equity
interests in the joint venture to Inner Mongolia Mengniu at
the exercise price within a 15-day period at the beginning of
each biennial period from the seventh (7th) anniversary of the
relevant closing date under the amended and restated
framework agreement, subject to compliance with the then
applicable laws and regulations by the Company, including
the then relevant Listing Rules in connection with connected
transactions. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
Danone Asia Pte have exercised the put option to sell their
equity interests in the joint venture to the Company at the
consideration of RMB1,200,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company and
Augite Capital Limited (“CAGIF”), Fortune Fund L.P.
(“Fortune”) and Itochu Corporation (“ltochu”) entered into
separate agreements, according to which, put options were
granted to CAGIF, Fortune and ltochu to sell their equity
interests in ANI to the Company. During the year ended
31 December 2022, CAGIF and Fortune have exercised put
option partially to sell their equity interests in ANI to the
Company at the considerations of RMB206,505,000 and
USD23,376,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB155,697,000), respectively. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group recognised present value of the amounts payable
upon exercise of remaining option of RMB61,301,000 as a
financial liability and accounted for the change in the carrying
amount of the financial liability in profit or loss.

BRERASSEERZEDMNERA R ([EEE
TN ETZ A A—ZE—=E\ANEHY
LEQEAN ERETMER —HER
- A EEERT RERTHIER BZEERE
mEERET)EFR  ISRFHEARE
15 RARIEAEEEEH  WIRITEER
RERFHEEETNRAERANEE
B A - MEA A B A ZEE ST E B Y A
FERMBTE  BEER_EMHRIERE
BRXGMEE - HE-_T-_—_F+_-A
=+—HIFE  EEDMNETEREH
7 LA A R #1,200,000,0007T # X (B 4]
AARIHEMFEE R AIRE -

BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—HItEE -
A A 7 B Augite Capital Limited
([CAGIF]) * Fortune Fund L.P
([Fortunel) ®ltochu Corporation
(Mtochu)RT M BB &% BULE T
CAGIF ~ Fortune K Itochulal Z& A &) H & Fr
FANIRENR G HE BE-_T ==

+=—A=+—H1EFE ' CAGIF % Fortune
EBSTERGHE  DARAARE
206,505,000t % 23,376,0003 7T (X148 &
M AR 155,697,0007T) B E R A A &
HEMBANIRE R_ZT=_—F+=A
=+—B ' NEBEERIRITER SRR
e e EaEREARK61,301,000
T WEBRRTHeREENRRES
BEITEETERE ©



34 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continuea

Notes: (continued)

()

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Inner Mongolia
Mengniu,
Ms. Chai Xiu, a shareholder of Milkground. According to the
agreement, Ms. Chai Xiu agreed to fully or partially abstain
from voting in the shareholders’ meeting of Milkground at
certain circumstances for the following six years. In return,
Ms. Chai Xiu has the right to request Inner Mongolia
Mengniu to compensate with a cash consideration based on
the increased share price of 40,000,000 shares from the
fourth to the sixth year (“the Compensation Right”). The
Group initially recognised the financial liability arising from the
Compensation Right at fair value and subsequently measured
the financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. As at
31 December 2022, the Group revalued the financial liability
to RMB23,658,000, resulting a net fair value gain of
RMB861,710,000 credited to other income and gains (2021:
RMB632,700,000) (Note 5(b)).

entered into a cooperation agreement with

35 SHARE CAPITAL

(@)

Issued share capital

34
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HitbtEBME B w

MsE (@)

()

BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—HItEE -
NRSFF YA EZ MR EEE LT HE]
EERE - BEH®  EFELLRABRR
NEEETERTHERIRIHRY ]
EZRERG EMIRERE - (EARRIHR &
BAULTHERERASZFRIEZNFEERESE
7N 540,000,000 i ZIEE B IABR S
HEEDME (THERE]D - REBE MBI
ARERRARFERELANESRARZ  H
“eMmBBEARAREFEEEZETHFTAE
HEX R_TE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H"
AEESEHEBAEE ARKE23,658000
T BHRARERZFEARE
861,710,000 T5F AE MU A Kz (ZF
—— % AR#632,700,0007T) (K 5
5(b)) °

35 KA
(@)

EBRITRA

2022 2021
—E-C T —F
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
ERREA LakEA
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
TR AR%¥Tx TR ARETRT
Authorised: VETE
Ordinary shares of FHXEEO.1
HK$0.1 each 7B TT ) AR 6,000,000 565,022 6,000,000 565,022
Issued and fully paid: BEITRARE
At 31 December mn+=A
=+—H 3,955,196 359,948 3,953,179 359,774
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35 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35 HQZF(E)
(@) Issued share capital (continued) (@ BBITERAXm
Number of
ordinary
CHETCE
LEREE
Note ’000 RMB’000
B 5 T AR¥T
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 January 2022 RZE=Z=
—H—H 3,953,179 359,774
Shares issued under the equity- R 1E A B (D S 15D
settled share option scheme AT 818 1T
30} (i) 2,017 174
At 31 December 2022 RZE-__F
+—-—_A=+—H 3,955,196 359,948
Issued and fully paid: EEITRHAR
At 1 January 2021 R-ZBE_—%F
—H—H 3,948,108 359,359
Shares issued under the equity- B4 AR (D X 1~ K
settled share option scheme MR Bl 31T
3 (i) 5,071 415
At 31 December 2021 RZE=Z—F
+=—A=+—H 3,953,179 359,774
Note: ot
@) Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the 0] AR R BRI 8 RARIEZ AT 8%
share options issued under the scheme are included ITEY R IR RE ) RE IS #5175 R 2k
in Note 38 to the financial statements. fEE38 °
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35 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35 HQZK(%E)
(b) Purchase of shares for share award scheme (b) FRERBETSEERD

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2022, except
that the trustee of the share award scheme of the
Company adopted on 26 March 2013 (the “Share
Award Scheme”), pursuant to the rules of the Share
Award Scheme, purchased on the open market a total
of 8,175,000 shares of the Company at a total
consideration of approximately RMB253,946,000
(approximately equivalent to HK$292,257,000). Details

BRAANBR-_ZE—=F=AF=—+,"H
Ke k=@ 8 ([IRE LB
g MEZFEARBRERBF B AR
A LR E X A R 253,946,000
7T (}BE 1 49292,257,00078 7T ) fE A
FTH 15 B8 A 4 $£8,175,0000% & A 7
RN+ AR EHEEMFRRNE
EE-—F+_A=+—HIEFE
AEBEARQREW ETES - 5
BT

as follows:

Number of Highest price Lowest price
shares paid per paid per Aggregate
repurchased share share price paid

SRXf BRXM
BERGEE BEE REE XHAE
Month/year HK$ HK$ HK$’000
%/R BT BT BETT
May 2022 “ZT-"FFA 2,644,000 39.59 38.45 102,551
June 2022 “E-—FRA 3,310,000 38.84 35.04 122,156
November 2022 —T__F+—H 2,221,000 32.67 28.37 67,550
8,175,000 292,257

36 OTHER RESERVES 36 HhfE#E

AEENFEIRAFEMBEFENRE
e FNMHERROFABEEEHRA

The movements of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

RETFEEBERIEAROBRE  F
AR BIARERAEHEZENEN10% (RES
HEs 2RI BOEREE) BREEAER
BE  REBETEAREARIERAEET
RHMRE AEABSAIHAEEER
FHBE(WA) -

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
the PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after income tax, as determined under the
PRC accounting standards and financial regulations, to the
statutory common reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as
set out in the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
statutory common reserve may be used to offset against the
accumulated losses, if any.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions (a)
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB542,311,000 and
RMB542,311,000. respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for plant and equipment (2021:
RMB169,797,000 and RMB169,797,000, respectively).

37 37 HRAHLSHERME
FEXRERS
BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILEHF
B AEERBERREHAELTH
FIAERMERcFERREERTEE
B E» R A ARKS542,311,0007T &
AER#542 311,000 (B = —4 :
o Bl A AR #169,797,0007T & A R
#169,797,0007T) °
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows

HERERBRMWEw
R E AR EES

37

(b)

TEUSARERAREEDNE K
SHHE - BERSRIRLED -
KEMEEDHREARS HERF

XAEREFNAKREHZERERE

274

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash
flows from financing activities.

RPN REARMERHELENRERE
WafE-

2022
—E--
Corporate  Exchangeable  Convertible Lease
Bank loans bonds Bonds bonds liabilities Total
RITER DEES ARBESF  TRRES HESE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARETR AR®TR AR®Tn AR%TR AR%TR
(Notes (Notes
(Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) 30/31) 17(b)/30)
(i
(K&E30) GEE) (W&k30)  (R¥&E80/31) 17(b)/30)
At 1 January 2022 gt -3
-A-H 8,824,084 13,005,185 672,273 3,981,115 550,270 27,032,927
Changes from financing cash B EBR£HEH
flows 8,666,808 (508,008) = (434,362) (216,182) 7,508,256
Interest paid as financing HBEED XN
activiies fle (51,326) - - - (31,376) (82,702)
New leases MERE - - - - 542,311 542,311
Differences between interest REREBZAH
paid as operating activities S EF 8%
and interest expense ZERNES 51,326 - - (1,076) 31,376 81,626
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEFAR 1,243,522 - - - 313,140 1,556,662
Net fair value gain on RBEFZ DA
exchangeable bonds e = = (113,817) = - (113,817)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAA = = = = (3,319) (3,319)
Early termination AL = = - = (1,900) (1,900)
Exchange realignment 5 AR 2,076,902 90,836 57,187 361,954 1,682 2,588,561
At 31 December 2022 R=%=Z%
+=A=t+-H 20,811,316 12,588,013 615,643 3,907,631 1,186,002 39,108,605
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37 RERERBRMTEw
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continueq)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REMEEZHNEEZ2B @
activities (continued)
2021
—ZE_-F
Corporate  Exchangeable Convertible
Bank loans bonds Bonds bonds  Lease liabilties Total
FITER NEESH ORAEs  TRRES RERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETT  ARETR
(Notes (Notes
(Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) 30/31) 17(b)/30)
(MizE
(F13£30) (GER) (Hti30)  (M&E30/31) 17(6)/30)
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE--%
=Ji=[ 4,767,206 12,681,205 1,014,361 - 481,453 18,944,225
Changes from financing cash B EBRLHE D
flows 3,512,745 500,000 - 4,000,000 (281,854) 7,730,891
Interest paid as financing RREEDIAH
actiities 7l - - - - (25,462) (25,462)
New leases MERE = = = = 335,731 335,731
Differences between interest SR EBZ IR
paid as operating activities BHFIER% M
and interest expense M= = 132,258 = 12,415 25,462 170,135
Acquisition of subsidiaries WETAF 668,653 = = 63,757 23,025 755,435
Net fair value gain on RBERZARE
exchangeable bonds eyt = = (200,732) = = (200,732)
Exercise of exchangeable TR B ES
bonds - - (117,328) - - (117,328)
Early termination RAIE = = — — (7,854) (7,854)
Conversion of convertiole BRRRER
notes S - - (64,386) - (64,386)
Exchange realignment 7 AR (124,520) (308,278) (24,028) (30,671) (231) (487,728)
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-%
+=A=1-A 8824084 13,005,185 672273 39BLM5 550210 27,082927
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continueq)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

RERERERMEw

(c) HERSRHARE
FIRRERDHRROBER SR
R

2022 2021

—E-—F - —4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBFTTT

Within operating activities RIEEZETER 281,530 191,077
Within investing activities RIEE XK 90,251 71,169
Within financing activities RBEEBA 247,558 307,316
619,339 569,562

38 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 38
The Company operated share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Schemes include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or
services to the Group, customers and any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological
support to the Group.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later
than five years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’'s (the “Stock
Exchange”) closing price of the Company’s shares on the
offer date of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.

B ESHE

ZANNETIE SV ol -3 g O -3 ¢
) BNARBYHAREEEBKINIEL
BRI AER2EE  YRREELRE -
BREMESNEEREZ2EERREAR
AEF(BREMIFNTES)  AKEHZ
HtES AEEZERARBHER -
BEPUARANEEREHT - R REAM
SEHNEFAALHER -

ERAARZARES B TREAR N
BEREEZZ REBRENTENHES
CRE TEHBER-FBHRES RE
TERFEHBERERZZAAF ZAKLE -

BRETFEERESET - T ER)A
RABORELEREEZZCBERSH
AERZARAR ([BRFT]) BT A B m
BN AR RONEEEZF L BEATR
EEEBEBIMAHRHFEERME: &
(RO EERSE °
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38 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 38

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

6 RAT LM IR 15

Particulars of outstanding share options:

Date of grant

Exercise period of share options
(both dates inclusive)

Weighted
average fair value
per share

option at the
date of grant

Exercise price
per share option

REEH B
BHERE BHBREN
RHAH BRENTEDE (EEEERA) MTEE METHARE
(HK$) (HKS)
(B7L) (&)
13 July 2017 13 July 2018 to 12 July 2022 14.812 3.99
(Note (a))
—E—+F+H+=H —E-\FtAT=HE
—ZE-—F+ A+ HKE@E)
7 May 2018 7 May 2019 to 6 May 2023 (Note (a)) 26.05 7.98
—Z-NERAtH —E-NERAtRE
—ZE_=%FAxA (ME@)
24 December 2018 1 April 2019 to 23 December 2023 23.93 7.16
(Note (b))
—E-N\F+-A=-+mHMAE —E-NENMA—RE
—E-=F+-A=+=08 (b))
1 April 2020 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2025 26.54 6.42
(Note (c))
—E-TFNMA—H T —FWHA-RZE
—ZEZ-RE=A=1+—H (=)
11 May 2022 11 May 2023 to 10 May 2027 40.58 6.92
(Note (d))
—_E__FRAt+—H —TZ=FRA+—HE
“Et+FRA+TB (MFEE)
30 December 2022 1 April 2024 to 29 December 2025 35.54 8.14

—E--F#+=-A=1H

(Note (g))
—E-NFNA—HZE
“E-RAF+ZA=t+hB (fiEE)
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38 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Particulars of outstanding share options: (continued)

Notes:

(@)

278

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the first and
second anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, all the
share options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of both the Group and the participants
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share
options will lapse. The share options have a contractual life
of five years.

The share options will be vested in four batches with 70% of
the share options vesting by three equal batches equally on
1 April 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively, and the
remaining 30% of the share options vesting on 1 April
2022. In addition, all the share options will only be vested if
and when the pre-set performance targets of both the
Group and the participants are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse. The share
options have a contractual life of five years.

627,283 share options will be vested in two batches with 70%
of the share options granted vesting on 1 April 2021, and
the remaining 30% of the share options granted vesting on
1 April 2022. 389,604 share options will be vested in their
entirety on 1 April 2021. In addition, all the share options will
only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of both the Group and the participants are achieved. Unless
all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse. The
share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in four equal batches equally
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
date of grant. In addition, all the share options will only be
vested if and when the pre-set performance targets of both
the Group and the participants are achieved. Unless all of
these targets are met, the share options will lapse. The
share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in two batches on 1 April
2024 and 1 April 2025, respectively. In addition, all the share
options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of both the Group and the participants
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share
options will lapse. The share options have a contractual life
of three years.

The exercise price per share options was the average closing
share price for the five business days immediately preceding
the grant date or the closing price of the shares on the
grant date.

BRE S W
o RATEBREFE | @

B &E -

(@)

BREEIR-_ENRE  50%CRHE
BRENBRHEBHESE - R _ERFH
JB o b - EEIAEE R 2EENTR
EXRRBE R BERERESERE - i
AgEH LA 2B R - QA BEBRER
R BRIEZ ROMRBRE -

BIRER D RO - 70%BIRER —
TNEF —ZETER T —FNH
— B =FNRE - EMR30%BERER =
T _FA—BARE - U WEEE
AEERZEENAERRAE  MAE
BRESTERE - MARER LA 2EE
1% QA BBARAE R R - B HE 2 2240
HAHAEF -

627,283 IR IER D AN EE * 70%
EREERER_S-_—FMWA—B%
B ES0%ERHBRER-_ZT_—F
WA —BRE - 389,604 EAAER N —
T —FA—HE2MEB - LI HE
EIAEER2EENTETREEZ 8
FEREBRERRRE - fMARfES e
EHEIZ - RGBS AN - BBiREY
LA AF -

ﬁ%ﬁx’fiiﬁ‘”‘ MERER  RRH AR
F— = ZRkEEBFFE - I - i
EEIAEER2EENAERRBE
AP A BRE R E - REER Lt
2R ER - RIE BB AR - BB RE
RO RHAE -

BRESSRMNEE  DHR_T=0
FOA—BR-_Z_AFNA—BEB-
BEAh - fEER AR E R 2 EENEER
HER AFEBRETERR - MRk
EB b2 E R BIA R K
Mo BRIEZROBMBI=4 -

BOBRENTERENEERL BHMEA
{82 2 B 8P B n W (B 3% B HR
Bty Ui B
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38 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea) 38 BRETTE W
Movements of outstanding share options: HARTHEBRESE

Number of share options

BREYA

As at Lapsed/ As at  Exercisable at

1 January Granted Exercised forfeited during 31 December 31 December

Date of grant REAH 2022 during the year during the year the year 2022 2022

R-8=Z%

-z +ZA

£R +ZA Sr=[E

5%/%K 17

13 July 2017 —Z—+&tA+=H 1,888,103 = (1,865,008) (23,100) = =

7 May 2018 —Z-\¥RAtH 2,331,621 = (101,782) (60,107) 2,169,732 2,169,732

24 December 2018 —T-N\E

+-A=1+mA 19,872,960 = (50,000) (51) 19,822,909 19,822,909

1 April 2020 —Z-ZEMA-R 620,211 = = = 620,211 620,211

11 May 2022 ZECFRAT-H = 31,782,688 = (3,069,580) 28,713,108 =

30 December 2022 ZZZZF+-R=1H - 13,195,225 - - 13,195,225 -

Total @i 24,712,895 44,977,913 (2,016,785) (3,152,838) 64,521,185 22,612,852

Number of share options
RRES A

Asat  Exercisable at

As at Granted Exercised during Lapsed/forfeited 31 December 31 December

Date of grant RLAH 1 January 2021  during the year the year  during the year 2021 2021

RIB--F

RIB--F +ZA

RIB--F +ZA =t+-A

—R—H FRE ERTE ERRR/RK =t-H B3

13 July 2017 ZE+ELAt=H 2,223,903 - (335,800) - 1,888,103 1,888,103

7 May 2018 “Z-\ERAtH 3,029,141 = (697,520) = 2,331,621 2,331,621
24 December 2018 “Z-\£+ZHR

ZTEA 23,636,303 - (3,654,012) (109,331) 19,872,960 11,245,920

1 April 2020 “Z-ZEMA-R 1,016,887 - (383,331) (13,345) 620,211 432,213

Total @t 29,906,234 - (5,070,663) (122,676) 24,712,895 15,897,857
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38 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 38 Eﬁﬂﬁ*&ﬁ%(@)
Movements of outstanding share options: (continued) HARITEBRESE @
The fair values of equity-settled share options granted REBEZZE-__F+-A=1T—HLEFE
during the year ended 31 December 2022 was estimated B AR A R BE IR i 2 X (B T %
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into HAHER B ERAETES BB
account the terms and conditions upon which the options EREEERE D EREGESH - T&K
were granted. The following table lists the significant inputs BIFTRAER 2 B K A\ BUR
to the model used:
30 December
2022
—E=-=
+=HA=tH
Dividend yield (%) %2 (%) 0.73 1.15
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R B) % (%) 28.46 29.83
Historical volatility (%) JE 52K B 2 (%) 28.46 29.83
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1 3 B 1 2 (%) 2.69 4.07
Option life (years) fEIREF S (F) 5 3
Spot price (HK$ per share) BRE BT/ 8K)) 38.85 35.40
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE BT/ Z) 40.58 35.54

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The 2,016,785 share options (2021: 5,070,663) exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2022, which resulted in
the issuance of 2,016,785 (2021: 5,070,663) ordinary
shares of the Company and increase of new share capital
of RMB174,000 (2021: RMB415,000) and share premium of
RMB26,860,000 (2021: RMB98,418,000), respectively, as
further detailed in Note 35(a) to the financial statements,
and share option reserve of RMB7,366,000 (2021:
RMB30,874,000) transferred to share premium.

BN B R RRE LR E A B ARE
ZHRR BT —ERERER -

2,016,785 (—Z ——% : 5,070,66319 ) i
BERBE—_E-_—F+=-_A=+—81t
FETE AME #E172,016,785% (==
——4% :5,070,663%) AR F LB - 95
300 AE AR AR #174,000T (Z & = —
F: AR¥415,00070) &5 = E A RE
26,860,000 (== —F : AR
98,418,000 ) * #F 15 # 7 B 75 3k &= M &
35(a) + M B % 1 & B A R #7,366,0007T
—Z= - —4F: AR®30,874,0007T) E &
ERMGEE o
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39 SHARE AWARD SCHEME 39 RERBFE
The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by XAl ERBFENR=_ZT—=F=H
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The “t+RB(RABHDEZEEERA - K
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an EREESERBDLEEEERLER
incentive to encourage the participants for the continual e REREL AR -
operation and development of the Group.
Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the BEREREFEGRAE LETRA  EF
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to eNERAENEERATIELEL  H
any eligible person whom it may in its absolute discretion EEBATRBRENBEREMNESTZAT
select to accept the grant of an award over such a number RENWFEKRMHER 2 BE([28EE]) -
of shares as it may determine (the “Participants”). Existing R E BTSN BL A ([XFEALD B
shares of the Company will be purchased by an AEBHEMNHEERAMS EEERARIR
independent trustee (the “Trustee”) of the share award BIG - RAGFEEARIEELR2EERR -
scheme from the market out of cash contributed by the BEEZERMDBEREREEMNESH
Group and be held in trust for the relevant Participants until BRABBELEAL EREERBIFEAR
such shares are vested with the relevant Participants in EEERBNARRIRNBAETRG -
accordance with the provisions of the share award scheme. & EFRODERARF —RE@RK -
The shares of the Company granted and held by the
trustee until vesting are referred to as the treasury shares
and each treasury share shall represent one ordinary share
of the Company.
Particulars and movements of the share award RERBTEFERED
scheme
Number of share award
EREMHA
Lapsed/
As at Granted Vested forfeited As at
Fair value 1 January during the during the during the 31 December
Date of grant R AH per share 2022 year year year 2022
R-E-Z%
R-B-Z% R +=A
BRARGE =Ji|=[ KA/ B Er=F
(HKS)
(B7)
22 May 2020 t Sl 72
RA=-1+=H 27.30 3,367,754 = (3,276,800) (90,954) =
15 April 2021 T —#NmA+HA 44.35 4,125,571 = (1,874,565) (468,752) 1,782,254
11 May 2022 - ) e =! 38.85 = 5,533,245 = (782,447) 4,750,798

7,493,325 5,533,245 (5,151,365)  (1,342,153) 6,533,052
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39 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (ontinueq) 39 RERBE W

282

Particulars and movements of the share award
scheme (continued)

REZBHBFHEREH

Number of share award

RRERH A
Lapsed/

As at Granted Vested forfeited As at
Fair value 1 January during the during the during the 31 December
Date of grant i A 8 per share 2021 year year year 2021
R-Z=——F
R-ZZ_—% FR +=A
BRARE —A—H FRRE FRNEE  KBORK =+—-H

(HKS)

(B)
5 June 2019 ZT-NEXAEA 28.80 3,045,528 - (3,004,789) (40,739 -

22 May 2020 ZTZTF
AA=+=H 27.30 7,552,397 - (3,648,751) (535,892) 3,367,754
15 April 2021 —E-—%NA+AA 44.35 = 4,503,205 = (377,634) 4,125,571
10,597,925 4,503,205 (6,653,540) (954,265) 7,493,325
Notes: B &E

All granted shares would vest in two equal batches on the first and
second anniversaries of the date of grant in accordance with
certain vesting conditions.

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on the
market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
dates. No dividend was be considered.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 5,151,365 (2021:
6,653,540) shares with a total amount of RMB107,489,000 (2021:
RMB27,672,000) were vested and exercised under the share award
scheme, resulting in the transfer out of RMB154,891,000 (2021:
RMB167,168,000) from the share award reserve, with the
difference of RMB47,402,000 (2021: RMB139,496,000) debited to
the share premium account.

EERENBNEAS R _SNEE  REST
BEGTAREAAEE K _ABFHES -

ERHBRONRABERARARNRER L
BHWmERE  BEF TS REE -

BE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE  #EA
R #¥107,489,000 L (Z T = —F : AR
27,672,0007T) 5,151,365 (=& = — & :
6,653,5400%) B 1D B R IE AR 2 48 BT 8153 B o 1T
F BHEROHEBREEEARE
154,891,000 (B - —F : AR
167,168,0007T) * Z= &8 A R #47,402,0007T (=
T——14F: AR 139,496,00070) & B &N HE
BRIBR o



Annual Report 2022 :E::ﬂiﬁiiﬁ”
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl % ¥R 22 BfJ 51
40 A SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 40 EEERFERRREZN TR
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS Gl
Details of the Group’s subsidiary, Yashili, that has material REEHEEERFERBREERD T A A
non-controlling interests are set out below: HELTHEFBOT -
2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AREBFTT
Percentage of equity interest held by FEEBRBRRERITERN
non-controlling interests fR#ER S 48.96% 48.96%
Loss for the year allocated to non- FE 2 AR AR R A 25 0 [ Y
controlling interests REEE (115,667) (42,544)
Other comprehensive income H b2 mE iz 9,186 —
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RIS B EA R AR R
interest at the reporting dates = i) BEH S5 3,663,549 3,770,030
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40 A SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL

40

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continuea

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed

are before any inter-company eliminations:

BEERFERRREEZNTFA
ﬁ.l(%)

TR LT ARMMBSRHER - F
WEMS FEAREH T EEN AR AE -

Yashili Yashili
i3 ML
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Revenue ON 3,738,212 4,434,700
Total expenses X % (3,968,929) (4,516,063)
Loss for the year WISy (230,717) (81,363)
Other comprehensive income for the year AREHAM P E W= 18,393 (114,335)
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEKEERE (212,324) (195,698)
Current assets MENE E 3,999,433 3,649,386
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,088,489 3,629,947
Current liabilities mEaE (1,656,097) (1,710,945)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (115,817) (40,329)
Net cash flows used in operating activities A& EEFTA IR TR
=55 (495,355) (264,402)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEEBEEL(FTRA)
investing activities MRS M= T8 492,766 (65,648)
Net cash flows generated from financing BEEHEENE SR
activities = 558 173,705 53,681
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash X HIFE MRS
and cash equivalents LEMNTE 6,802 (11,988)
Cash and bank balance classified as held PEREAEGFENHESE
for sale KiR1T4#ETF (59,209) —
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RehBHeEEYE
equivalents /R F58 118,709 (288,357)




41 BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a)

Acquisition of Milkground

On 30 November 2022, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a
major subsidiary of the Company, acquired additional
5.01% equity interest in Milkground, in which the
Group previously held 30.00% equity interest and
classified as the Group’s investments in associates,
and held 42.88% equity interest with put options in
Guangze, a subsidiary of Milkground, and classified as
the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 23(a)). After the acquisition, Inner
Mongolia Mengniu held 35.01% equity interest in
Milkground. Considering the contractual arrangement
with the other vote holders of Milkground, voting
rights held by Inner Mongolia Mengniu and potential
voting rights, the directors of the Group are of opinion
that Inner Mongolia Mengniu obtained control over
Milkground since 30 November 2022.

Milkground is mainly engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of cheese products of Milkground brand.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share of cheese
products.

Since the date of acquisition, Milkground has
contributed revenue of RMB383,189,000 and net
profit of RMB67,676,000 to the Group’s results,
respectively. If the acquisition had occurred on
1 January 2022, management estimates that
consolidated revenue would have been
RMB97,039,671,000 and consolidated profit for the
year would have been RMB5,265,999,000,
respectively. In determining these amounts,
management have assumed that the fair value
adjustments that arose on the acquisition date would
have been the same if the acquisition had occurred
on 1 January 2022.
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41 EBEH

(a)

WY ATE S
:%::¢+*HZ+E AREEE
BFRAINRZFWEY & 25N
5m%%“ REBWAFEY A&
%30.00% & 25 - "*EI%ZIS% B 7 B
BRARNEE  WHEYAIEZNT
N M RO HARE 19 42.88% 1%
o DEAEAEERARENABR
WS REE (M5E23() - WiEE - i
SEFEAYAE235.01%5% -
EEE YA S H M RIRERE A

MEMNZHE  ARRTEFRRER
BERIE AEEEEA/ARR
FEZF_ S+ A=THERE
B ] B 2 H 45 4 o

wa ENEYAES MR
Euui%&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% HEITWRE IO

RAREBRAENRERMSNEL
W o

B UkEE B EILAZR - WRIEZ DR AR
ESEEXEZEBRKAARE
383,189,000 & /FFH A R &
67,676,0007T ° 1huﬂzﬁ§EEA_$::
FE—H—H%4  BEEEMGTFERNLE
BRAREBEENBES B AARE
97,039,671,0007T & A R #&
5,265,999,000T - ET 2 & 3
B BEEERER  WEKBER=-Z
::¢ B—B%4  RKREBHE
EMR R BEFAZERR -
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41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(@) Acquisition of Milkground (continued)
(i) Consideration transferred
The following table summarises the
acquisition-date fair value of each major class of
consideration transferred.

41 EBEBw

(@) WHYEZ @

i

22 (L 1E

TRUAEETBERIMERR
BHRBRAAAE-

RMB’000
AR¥MTR

Cash consideration ReRE 798,095
Fair value of the 30.00% equity interest in P Al & £ 30.00% A% ##
Milkground as at 30 November 2022 RZE=——F+—H=+H
(Note) B A B (i 5E) 6,573,535
Fair value of equity interests in Guangze NE B P R AR
held by the Group as at 30 November R-ZE—_—_F+—HA=+H
2022 (Note 23(a)) # A7t 8 (FtE23() 457,643
7,829,273
Note: Upon the competition of this transaction, the B & RRZBTEHKE AR A
Company remeasured its previously-held equity BB E AR B AT
interest in Milkground to its acquisition-date fair BENYAESRIEETE
value and recognised the difference between FEtE WA R EEER
the fair value and the carrying amount as loss EE 2 ERNEERERAE
on re-measurement of investment in an E-_ZT=-_=—F+=A
associate upon a business combination of =+ —HIEFEEKEH
RMB12,639,000 for the year ended R EHTENREE QAN
31 December 2022 (Note 6). REHNEBRARTE
12,639,0007T (FizE6) °
(i) __Acquisition-related costs i g::
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of REBELERBRBAKTAR
RMB1,650,000. These costs have been included #1,650,0007T ° % EKANE &
in “administrative expenses” in the consolidated ANREBmROITHRER] -

statements of profit or loss.
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41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Acquisition of Milkground (continued)

(@)

(iii)

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and

liabilities assumed
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41 EBE6w

Rl 5 ¥R S= B X

RMB’000
AR®T R

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R&E 1,117,966
Construction in progress EEITRE 573,337
Right-of-use assets FREEE 376,730
Other intangible assets EMEpEE 4,289,693
Deferred tax assets RIEFTAE E 120,807
Other financial assets EtemEE 1,969,990
Inventories & 736,112
Trade and bills receivables R R EiE 131,813
Prepayments, other receivables and TART A - B b FEUGRIE K&

other assets Hm&EE 627,756
Cash and bank balances He RMIRITHET 1,204,116
Trade and bills payables EREREREEE (254,112)
Other payables and accruals H A fER IR R TEIRE A (541,086)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B2 1T R HEMEE (1,556,662)
Deferred income IRIEUW A (38,235)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE (1,086,432)
Total fair value of identifiable net assets FriErl s R FEE 2

acquired BARE 7,671,793
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41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Acquisition of Milkground (continued) (@) WHYEZ @
Measurement of fair value

Assets acquired

B EE

41 EBEBw

i

bl

iv) ARAEF

Valuation technique

fl (B 52 1l

Intangible assets

BEE

Property, plant and
equipment

ME - BB NRE
Construction in progress

FERIE
Right-of-use assets

ERREE

Inventory

EE
Other financial assets

Hh S REE

Income capitalization approach: The valuation model considers the
present value of net cash flows expected to be generated by the
intangible assets.

W BREE  ZAERAEZRENVEERPELNR S INEERN
IRME o

Replacement cost: The valuation model considers market prices for
similar items available, and depreciation adjusted for physical
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.

BEXRA : ZHERXZEAABANUEENTE  UHERIEREL
RIIRE A B R FETE -

Replacement cost: The valuation model considers all the costs
required for the reconstruction of the project.

BENA : ZMEEXZRBEEEEMTHN TR -

The fair values were derived by the present value of the remaining
lease payments.

ARERFNAGHENRORESD -

The fair values were derived by multiplying their quantities with their
corresponding market prices and minus the corresponding taxes
and fees.

ARnBERBERAEERTESREZHETEARERSGL -

The fair value were derived by various valuation models. The
significant unobservable inputs are expected volatility and lack of
marketability discount.

ARBEESBHEENSGLH RETATBERHASEATEKE
K RIRZ 5 mE T & o

The fair value measurement falls into level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The trade and bills receivables and
prepayments, other receivables and other assets
comprise gross contractual amounts of
RMB759,569,000 which was expected to be
collectible at the acquisition date.

ZANEFEBRRAAERER
BWE=/ -

FE WRR R & | R DA K B 3R
IH - H Mg GRIA R E & E
BEANBRE AR
759,569,0007T ¢ 78 H Al 1A Y B
HH U -



41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(@) Acquisition of Milkground (continued)
v) __Goodwill
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been
recognised as follows:
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41 EKEbw
WEE Y TE % @)

=
WREELNHEDHERNT

RMB’000
AR®T R

Consideration transferred Fres (B 7,829,273
Non-controlling interest, based on their MR R ERNESHE

proportionate interest in the recognised BRNEERABGBESENL

amounts of the assets and liabilities 191 % 2% 4,708,204
Fair value of identifiable net assets AHAEEFENARE (7,671,793)
Goodwill = 4,865,684

The goodwill is mainly attributable to the
synergies with existing business of the Group.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

(vi) __Analysis of the net cash inflow in respect of
the acquisition

ZEEIEZRANAKEREA
E T H) 1 B e o FREFTRERR
MRS EAENRAE -

RMB’000
AR®T R

Cash consideration HeRE (798,095)
Add: cash and bank balances acquired m: pERE RIRTER 1,204,116
Net cash inflow in respect of the BRAWERNIRESRAFE

acquisition 406,021
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41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(b)

41 E¥BEHtw

Acquisition of Changsha Mengniu Ice Cream (b) WEBRARFKEMEEBRA
Sales Co., Ltd. Gl
On 29 July 2022, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Fangding :?:iitﬂ AR = IR VNS
Industrial Management Co., Ltd. (“Fangding’), a REIARERFTREXEEARR
subsidiary of the Company, acquired additional %E\EQET ([F&SDHWEERLPSFKHE
20.00% equity interest in Changsha Mengniu Ice WSHE AR A R (TR AKEM ) B
Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (“Changsha lce Cream”), in 20.00% = - AEE L ETEFE R K
which the Group previously held 40.00% equity HM40.00% w3 - WK H DI AER
interest and classified as the Group’s Investments in SERBERFMNIEE - H&ﬁﬁ{é yil
associates. After the acquisition, Fangding held 81 A & KEMN60.00% 7 7=
60.00% equity interest in Changsha Ice Cream and EXAS 3 R 7 KR M A 122 Il R o
obtained control over Changsha Ice Cream.
Since the date of acquisition, Changsha Ice Cream B YHE B HADAZR - R AEIREY A
has contributed revenue of RMB5,773,000 and loss of BEfA RBS5,773,0000T ' BAE
RMB952,000 to the Group’s results, respectively. If FETREEAR952,0007T © fif
the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022, EE@H&ZE%E@:%::E—H—EIL'
management estimates that consolidated revenue EBERFTERNEGEESRARGE
would have been RMB92,632,519,000 and %IJ/FEJH?"BIJ%/\EM% 632,519,000
consolidated profit for the year would have been T & A R#5,193,702,0007 ° i &
RMBS5,193,702,000, respectively. In determining these EZECHER  BEEEBRRMEER
amounts, management have assumed that the fair BR T —F—F—HZEE BRI
value adjustments that arose on the acquisition date BHHAEEAZ AR EBERAERNDAR
would have been the same if the acquisition had @ o
occurred on 1 January 2022.
(i) ___Consideration transferred fi ZC1E
RMB’000
AR® T
Cash consideration REeRE 75




41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
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41 EBE6w

(b)

Acquisition of Changsha Mengniu Ice Cream
Sales CO., Ltd. (continued)

(ii) __Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

(b) WBRASRFKEMFEERERA

) &)

assumed
RMB’000
AR% T

Property, plant and equipment W - BB k&G 2,400
Inventories FE 2,849
Trade and bills receivables i S E 1,166
Prepayments, other receivables and other — JEftFRIE - H b fE U 008 K &

assets & &= 5,245
Trade and bills payables FENBER R ERE (9,704)
Other payables and accruals BT RIBERTERE R (5,300)
Total fair value of identifiable net liabilities FrIAER#AFaBEZARE

assumed FEk (3,344)

(iii) __Measurement of fair value

Assets acquired

FrREEE fl B 5 1l

Valuation technique

Property, plant and
equipment

Replacement cost: The valuation model considers market prices for
similar items available, and depreciation adjusted for physical

deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.

ME - BB ERE

EERA  HERAEETRARUNROME ARERBEEER

RINGEMEEREMBBHITE -

Inventory

The fair values were derived by multiplying their quantities with their

corresponding market prices and minus the corresponding taxes

and fees.

ﬁ'f

Mg

\

The fair value measurement falls into level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The trade and bills receivables and
prepayments, other receivables and other assets
comprise gross contractual amounts due of
RMB6,411,000 which was expected to be
collectible at the acquisition date.

AAREEBHEHBERNARTE/REABERERSH -

ARAEAEBRAAREBESFTHRE
=&

JiE U BR 3R & ZE 4R e FE A FOE
HiEWRBEREMEERIE
ERADTRBRIEARE
6,411,000t * T8 B Y b B Bf
A LA [E] o
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41 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 41 ¥¥E50w
(b) Acquisition of Changsha Mengniu Ice Cream (b) WEBRARFKEMEEBRA
Sales CO., Ltd. (continued) 7 (@)
iv) Goodwill iv, =
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been WIHEESAOHHEDWRAT
recognised as follows:
RMB’000
AR¥T
Consideration transferred FrigE R (E 75
Non-controlling interest, based on their IR ARNESHE
proportionate interest in the recognised BRANEERBESENL
amounts of the assets and liabilities 151 4 25 (1,338)
Fair value of identifiable net liabilities ABAFREZAAE 3,344
Goodwill P 2,081

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the
synergies expected to be achieved from
integrating the investees into the Group’s
existing business. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for tax

ZEBIEZRBNEEHRK
BRENEAKERABERBHEA
2= ) 19 [F) e - TR AT AT RERR
MRBEAFENRAE

purposes.
(v) __Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of v, g1 % i M F R 2 5
the acquisition ¥
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash consideration HeRE (75)
Add: cash and bank balances acquired o RER e RIRTTETT =
Net cash outflow in respect of the BRWERNR SR FE
acquisition (75)

292



42

43

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 15 March 2022, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into an equity transfer agreement with
China Modern Dairy, an associate of the Group. Pursuant to
the equity transfer agreement, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
disposed 48.66% equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, at a consideration of RMB186,711,100,
which resulted a gain of RMB241,460,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (Note 5(b)). The transaction was
completed in June 2022. Upon completion, Inner Mongolia
Mengniu holds 25.00% equity interest in Aiyangniu, which
was subsequently accounted for as an associate. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the consideration have
been fully settled and the net inflow in respect of the
disposal of a subsidiary is RMB162,784,000.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR
SALE

On 6 May 2022, the Group entered into a series of
agreements with certain subsidiaries of Danone S.A.
(together referred to as “Danone”). Pursuant to which,
Danone will dispose 20% interest in all chilled business
companies jointly held by Danone and the Group to the
Group (the “Chilled Business JVs Acquisition”), the Group
will dispose 100% equity interest in Dumex Baby Food Co.,
Ltd. (“Dumex China”) to Danone (the “Dumex China
Disposal”), and Danone will dispose 25% equity interest of
Yashili to the Company (the “25% Yashili Acquisition”).

42

43
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HE—B+2F
R-E-_—F=ZA+HB  A&EBTRA

SREERNEERBE QR PR HE
R R EEE R REREEZ R
ARZHEUREARE186,711,100 T HE
F2ETFRIRNETHEEFREERAA
([BESF])48.66%KE EFHE_-F
T+ -A=t+-—BHUEFEKRFEAAR
#241,460,0007T (I 5E5(0)) - ZBRX S E
REZBZZFRNARK  RPTKE AR
SERBETEF25.00%E  EEFHE
EABERNAAR HE-_T-_—F+=
A=+—HIFE REDLBHLENT  HE
FRRIMNFRALREAAR 162,784,000
o

FEGENEERER

— T - 49 FHANNH " K& B EDanone
SA AT F2AR (5[ Danonel) 7] 77 — &
Ht5% » 151t - Danoneis H B K &£ B 4 [F)
BERATA KB XA R F20% & HE
TAREBE([EAXBEERRIKER]) -
ANEE A Danone M EZ X B BN TR M
ABRAR ([ZE2ZFE])100% 898 ([Z
X% EEESR]) - A KDanoneAIA A &
H & HE 1= F125% B9 AR 48 ([ 25% #E - F1) Uk &

EDR
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43 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR 43 FEGENEEREBEEw

SALE (continued)

Since the Dumex China Disposal had not been completed
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the assets and
liabilities of Dumex China are separately presented as
assets and liabilities held for sale in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2022, and

HRZESRPEHERREE T =
+Z—A=+—HLEFEHKRTRK  HZFE
R EMEEREBER-_SE-_—_F+=A
=+ —HNRAMBERARAWEBRT A
HESENEERAGE  AYEREZZ

294

no impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated B CF T A=+ —HRGEERRE

statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December R EEE -

2022.

2022
—E=-=
RMB’000
AR%T
Property, plant and equipment e N 69,678
Right-of-use assets EREEE 34,647
Other Intangible assets HEthsmpEE 83,157
Goodwill EES 189,000
Deferred tax assets FIEFTEE B 60,097
Inventories FE 25,678
Trade and bills receivables FEWER R R = 156
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets  FE{fFkIE - H th FE UL FRIE &
Hih&E 53

Cash and bank balances B NIBITEF 59,209
Assets held for sale BEFENEE 521,675
Trade and bills payables EREREER (15,997)
Other payables and accruals HibESRIBERIERE A (3,957)
Income tax payable B ET1S L (3,896)
Liabilities held for sale REGENEE (23,850)




44 COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction
of property, plant and equipment as at the end of the
reporting period:
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44 FEIE
RIFERK  AEBEEBERERYE -
B R BB REEEAAENT :

2022 2021
—EB-—fF —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Contracted, but not provided for B 5] 418 K B 5 1,846,786 1,352,384
45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. BN LR S
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances which are (@) BMRZEVBBRREMEBEERENR

disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with
its associates and other related parties.

Note
B 5

Sales of liquid milk products,
other products and services to
associates

Sales of ice cream products to
associates

Sales of other dairy products to
associates

Sales of products to subsidiaries
and associates of a
shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

Purchases of raw materials from
subsidiaries and associates of
a shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

QEIPNCIF:SE—
TRREHNEE
H A 2E an N BR 5

A B & 2 A H
TKEEE

[ B 2 2 A H
Hib ¥ 5 m

M ARRFBEEKR
TEIN—BRK
REFRaE K
ERAHEEM

MEARRAFBEEKR
FEIN—F
BREFRE R
BEQRBER

s

5 REEHRIN

AEBBREBENAR

HMEABMATET NIEARS °

2022 2021
—E_— T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
81,001 108,941
26,512 27,432
2,881 3,470
6,701 1,199
600,131 568,159
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45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)
In addition to the transactions and balances which are
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with
its associates and other related parties. (continued)

(a)

45. BBA TR I w

(@) BRZEFHBHRREMEE
7K

REERIN -

BHR

AEBEABENA R

HbBAE A TETTINERRS - @)

Notes

By &t

Lease of right-of-use assets from
subsidiaries of a shareholder
with significant influence over
the Company

Purchase of advertising services
from subsidiaries of a
shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

Purchases of raw materials and
products from associates

Purchases of investment
deposits from a subsidiary of a
shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

Redemption of investment
deposits from a subsidiary of a
shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

Loans to an entity controlled by
members of key management
personnel (Note 45(c))

Notes:

U)

(i)

EEaRN/NEIFR="N
FENN—BR
BT RARIHEE
FERAEEE

EESR NP R=-N
FENN—BRK
HETAREER
B & BR

Bk NG 3=
MR R E &

BYHAQATHEAN
HENN—BR
BT AREE
BEFR

EEaRN/NEIFR="N
FENN—BR
RAFARED
JEFR

ERTHEREEA
BB
T8 (MIE45(c))

The considerations were determined with reference to

the prevailing market prices/rates

charged to third parties.

and the prices

Annual interest rate of the investment deposits is
5.00% (31 December 2021: 5.00%).

(it

2022
—E-_F

RMB’000

ARBT T

478

12,264

12,174,431

220,000

195,000

30,000

GEX

(i

2021
—E-—4F
RMB’000
ARET T

E°9°

14,158

10,146,976

50,000

100,000

REZE2EEEMHEER BXR
WEE=ZFERETE °

REGFRFFEAE5.00% (ZF=—
F+=-_A=+—H :5.00%) °



i,
Annual Report 2022 Zg:iiﬁiiﬁ”
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl % ¥R 22 BfJ 51
45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contnees 45. A TR F @
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) EEEEAENRM
Key management personnel are Group’s directors and FTEEBAERAEREZERSRE
senior executives. Remuneration paid or payable to BAB - BEfNSENESOFMHEE
the directors was disclosed in Note 9, and was R DHFEMEZESREBEEAR
determined by the Remuneration Committee according REFE BENENSREREAEN
to individual performance. Cash remuneration paid or BeFHmaT
payable to senior executives is as follows:
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Salaries and other benefits e REMBT 27,179 26,050
Performance related incentive payment 1B AR B B ROR 25,914 28,680
Retirement benefits scheme contribution RORAE FIET S (5K 367 365
53,460 55,095
Note: Bt 5
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total share HE-_Z-—_F+-_A=+—HItFE"
option benefits relating to the share options scheme (Note RTIafEBABE@ERESS (i
38), share award scheme (Note 39) and convertible bond 38) - AR @) ET & (P 5E39) & Al # iR
arrangement (Note 31) granted to senior executives were &% % Bk (P 7381) A 5 AR Al 2= 48 58
approximately RMB30,490,000, RMB7,636,000, and 2 B4 A A R #30,490,0007T « AR
RMB156,145,000, respectively (2021: RMB5,961,000, 7,636,0007T & A R #156,145,0007T (=
RMB26,188,000 and RMB15,023,000, respectively). T - —4&F: ARK¥5061,0007T * AR

26,188,000t & A R#15,023,0007T) °
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45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (ontinuesy  45.

(c) Year-end balances arising from related party

transactions are as follows:

Trade and bills receivables from:

(c)

BBALRZ w
BBATRSEENFREBNT :

FEU AR R e R4

2022 2021

—E-CF T4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®E T AR®ET T

Associates E /N 19,774 23,104
Subsidiaries and associates of a HARRARBEKNY
shareholder with significant influence 2R —BRE
over the Company BT A ) & B

A A] 2,568 2,392

22,342 25,496

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets AN - AR GIE R EtmEE :
from:
2022 2021
—E_— T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETTT
Associates M 4,719 4,600
Subsidiaries and associates of shareholder ¥ 7RA A1 B A
with significant influence over the 2N REF
Company (Note (i) NSV AN
(BT (7)) 777,602 750,027
An entity controlled by key management FAREEABES
personnel (Note (i) B0 B8 (PR (i) 130,000 100,000
912,321 854,627
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45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (ontines 45. BBEA TR Z w0

(c) Year-end balances arising from related party (c) BMATIRZIEEMNEREHKNOT :
transactions are as follows: (continued) (&)
Trade and bills payables to: EREREREER
2022 2021
=S —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Associates R /NEE] 1,107,152 981,657
Subsidiaries and associates of shareholder ¥I AR &]H &K
with significant influence over the 2N KRR F
Company UNCIDSE AN 89,831 60,117
1,196,983 1,041,774
Other payables and accruals to: HENRERERER :
2022 2021
—E-= —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Associates i El/NE]| 2,279 932

Guarantees provided to: RIEER

2022 2021
S8 —E -4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT

Guarantees provided to Eaglet (Noteiii) ) B 12 1 HE IR
(Bt 22 i) ) 2,700,000 3,000,000
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45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(c) Year-end balances arising from related party

transactions are as follows: (continued)
Notes:

45. BBA TR I w

FBRMATRZELENFEREHUT :
()
BT

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2022, entrusted loans of
RMB700,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB700,000,000) was lent out through COFCO Trust
Company Limited, a subsidiary of a shareholder with
significant influence over the Company of the Group.
Annual interest rate of the entrusted loans is 6.05%
(2021: 6.05%).

As at 31 December 2022, short-term investment
deposits of RMB75,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB50,000,000) was purchased from COFCO Trust
Company Limited, a subsidiary of a shareholder with
significant influence over the Company of the Group.
Annual interest rate of the investment deposits is
5.00% (2021: 5.00%).

As at 31 December 2022, RMB130,000,000 were lent
out to Tianjin Wanhong Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd., a company controlled by key
management personnel of the Group, which was
unsecured with a fixed interest rate of 4.65% per
annum (2021: RMB100,000,000) (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provide guarantee
to Eaglets regarding a loan of RMB2,700,000,000
(2021: RMBS3,000,000,000) from China Merchants
Bank.

As at 31 December 2022, all balances above are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
credit terms similar to those offered to or by
independent third parties.

U

(i)

(il

(iv)

HE-T-_—_F+-A=+—8H"
BMBBAAEE —ZHUARARBE
FENRENTFARFRELE
BREFARBLHELERARE
700,000,0007c (ZE=—4%+=4
=+—H: AR%700,000,000
TT) ° % BB R FFEE6.06%
ZT=—% :6.05%)

HE-T-_—_F+-A=+—8H"
BMMAERE —BHARARARBFEKR
FENNRENTARTIRERE
BRETARBERHREERAAR
#75,000,000C (== —F +=
A=+—H8: AR¥50,000,000
TT) c WEFREFE K5.00% (=
T =—14F :5.00%) °

HE-T-_—_F+-A=+—8H"
BHRAEEEEEEABEG®
ARAREBLACEEEZANEGRA
A {8 i A R #130,000,0007T * #%
BREEE - & F X A4.65%
—T=—% : AR¥100,000,000
7t) (fsE23) °

BE_Z-_—S+-fA=+—8"
AEERBEBTHNERARE
2,700,000,0007C (ZZF = —%F : A
R #3,000,000,0007T ) ) 5 & 42
ER -

BHE-_ZT-_—_F#+=-—A=+—8"
A e BERT - Tt B IR
UL TREEBLE = FNEER

S (ke e
HEE -



46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities and movements in its
own equity share price. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks
and they are summarised below. Generally, the Group
adopts prudent strategies on its risk management.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, bills receivable and derivative financial
assets is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from refundable rental
deposits is considered to be low, taking into account
() the landlords’ credit rating and (i) the remaining
lease term and the period covered by the rental
deposits.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in Note 45(c), the Group provide
guarantees to the Group’s suppliers for bank loans
which would expose the Group to credit risk. The
maximum expose to credit risk in respect of these
financial guarantees as are 31 December 2022 is
RMB3,212,244,000 (2021: RMBS3,003,931,000). The
directors do not consider that a claim will be made
against the Group under the guarantee.
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BHEEARBEERESMTANAR
BE

AEELFXEBBRELEE  RIPE-
MEREEERR AKETAZARER
HMBEBNRERENB SRAREE
MELANKRAERER EFERSRE
BABTHBETER 2MAKEMER
FIRRR - 3 HIEAAE RIS - Bl
RTEX > REE—REAFENOREEE
R o

(@ FERR

FERBRIERS HERSHEMLER
AEBEITHELNER - NEE
MNEERREZERERIKER - A&
EREHEeMESEEY  BRER
ETECREENEERBRER )
HRRSH AAEEREEERBRE
ERRIT R S RgE - ZE2()E=E
MEEFHLMHFSERALAEZRS
FIREmHR  AEERARE IR
BEHERESNEERBRERIE -

B B 5E 45(c) Fr &t 2N & B 1R 4 A0 B S
IRAN + 2N 52 B [m) AN 62 (B8] ) 45 P 42
IRITERER  MEASEARLHEER
B e HE—_ZE-_—F+-_HA=+—
B FHEZSYBERNZAEER
% & B A AR #3,212,244,0007T (=
T - —%: AR%3,003,931,000
L) BEERABTESREBEERAANESE
EREER-
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on a
cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to
distributors, who wish to trade on credit terms, with
an appropriate credit history which is subject to
periodic reviews. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
90 to 180 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 12 months past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise time deposits, entrusted loans and
other receivables, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these assets.

46. I EREERESRMIANAR
BEEw

(@)

FERE @

AEEBRBORHEE RN SEEE
1T REBEEHBRABRE R
ETHEEEEELHETEENARE
FERETR PR HEE  YHEEE
LECETTEHNER o o - NEE
—ERBERBEWFENES A%

JE W AR
AEBEFITEERRERBCR - 4
ERE—CEEESENEPHEI TS
BEEFL ZEFHFIRNEFB
1 2 B39 SR80 40 8% N & BT AY 219 e
N WEREFHARBERRERL
ERTELEIRBIEERNER o IR
HRFAAEEZ HEI0E180A N E!
29 - s ER121E A A L ESABLE
FEsE A ERE—THNEE -
SE—RIefEPREERR -

B BN & B R YR R T 2 E RS
ERBHEME(CEIE  WERMB
WARMIFE25 -

AEEEMEMEE(BRERF
F o RREERREMERE) OE
ERBRARZTEAOMEL  &AE
ERRBEEENAFEEMNREE -
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. BIBEBREERESRIANOA

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEw

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) RENERE B
The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by AEBTETHREBETERSS MEHR
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its B TSRS AN & B B S AR A
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics, bt RSB R UETRT RE
market conditions, business strategies and changes in HEEWRRABRRNEEAEERE
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current wBNER K IEBNHAER o - DABSIE M EN 4
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio [B 2 o EAN - ANE B TRFE B A NE
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group HEE T A RRE—ERNRBEERE
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility EUNBRESHEEEREFE -

through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINAAEEFTESHBERLT
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the EEBMBERREHROFEIRE D
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative IR DEREGHRURAER (B
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual FBEREAONE(WAZBF X - BIE
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments R EBARNRITHE) G ERHE
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based RE)RAEZRAEBZINHNER
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) B :

and the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay:

2022
—E-CE
Within
1 year Carrying
or on [ LICRGED amount at

demand 5 years Total 31 December

Rt=A

—FHR =t-A

HRERE —-Z21fF RBENE @it NEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRE AR%TR AR¥TRT AR¥ETRT AR¥TR

Lease liabilities HEAR 285,115 714,499 286,832 1,286,446 1,186,002
Interest-bearing bank and other AERTREMEE

borrowings (excluding lease (FREHREERE)

liabilities) 9,214,281 29,479,412 2,218,035 40,911,728 37,922,603
Trade and bills payables A ES 10,200,635 - — 10,200,635 10,200,635
Financial liabilities measured at REBRM AT 2R AR

amortised cost included in other 1 FE < 500 R T 32

payables and accruals BRAMEBMAR 10,455,970 - - 10,455,970 10,455,970
Total st 30,156,001 30,193,911 2,504,867 62,854,779 59,765,210
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(b)

46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. I EKREEREMIANAA
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEw
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk (continueq) (b) TREDE R B )
2021
—E-—F
Within
1 year Carrying
or on More than 5 amount at
demand 1 to 5 years years Total 31 December
R+ZA
—FEP AR =+—H
EoRE —ZRF AFLE FCE HEREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTR AREFTT ARETT ARETT
Lease liabilities HEAE 210,304 367,657 21,004 598,965 550,270
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTREMEE
borrowings (excluding lease (TREHREAR)
liabilities) 4,134,663 22,146,964 2,301,823 28,583,450 26,482,657
Trade and bills payables S 8,303,902 - — 8,803,902 8,803,902
Financial liabiliies measured at R A B AR
amortised cost included in other it JE 1 5008 R T 4R
payables and accruals ERNERERE 10,529,200 = — 10,529,200 10,529,200
Total st 23,678,069 22,514,621 2,322,827 48,515,517 46,366,029

As disclosed in Note 46(a), the maximum exposure in
respect of this financial guarantee provided by the
Group at 31 December 2022 is RMBS3,212,244,000

(2021:

RMB3,003,931,000).

The directors of the

Group are of the opinion that the likelihood that a
claim is to be made against the Group is remote at

31 December 2022.

B 46 HE  HE T — =

+TZA=+—H K BAREERENG
BEREBONTARKREEAARE
3,212,244,0007L (ZZE=—F : AR
#£3,003,931,0007T) - AEBEER
B HE_E-__F+=-RA=1+—
B AEEWHRELREROAEER

/N o



46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group
closely monitors its interest rate risk by performing
periodic reviews and evaluations of its debt portfolio
and gearing ratio. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of the bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group are disclosed in Note 30. The Group
enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable rate interest
amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon
notional principal amount. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has no significant interest rate
risk.

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decrease/increase the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits for the year by approximately
RMB19,257,000 (2021: RMB6,137,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not be
affected by the general increase/decrease in interest
rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) is estimated as an annualized impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2021.
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BEEw
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AR @b
AEBEAZHMSNXEBER T E
BRAASENTREE - AEEEH
BAMFEEEBESRERBELL
T HEMERRRETEIER - A
5 BRIRTT R EL A B SRR 3R N 08 SRR
RHIES0WE - AEREFT LMK #H
AR B ARERBEREE B
B ZRBELREATSEAENE
ERFHMNECENZEETHE -
EERR AEEHLEERNHNX
g o

R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 - &7
KRR T NES0EEER - MATA
HiBHRBAENBRT @ EatAR
SEARFENHREFBRREFEE
B # A R #19,257,0007T
—T——4: AR¥6,137,0007T) °
IRAERIEMARK D T &2 B A
RER A THROZE-

S UM T BN RER M R B 3
EEBREHR  LERAREFAER
SERHERRTANEAEE @S
AABENERERNERTA A%
BT AE (RRE B B 2
B MAKERRE ARG AHZED
MEIEPTE T AMELENBR S RN X
RamE  AEREREMNE(RFEE
GEEEIEEZ SEE E A FiES o
BN BRI RBRANFILTE - %
DT L2021 FHER A ELEHETT -
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
businesses are principally located in the Chinese
Mainland and substantially all transactions are
conducted in RMB. The following table details
the Group’s significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate at
the year end date. Differences resulting from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign

46.

MEEREEREMIANQR
EBEw

(d) FhEER B

(i)

S B ]

HE-T-_—_F+=-A=+—
B AEBEFESMRF
Bl KRE - BRIHRHHUA
REBAMNERE - TRFLA
EERBERHREAETE 6
BEEIINEEGTENHABR
BREAENKBBEMELENEAXN
EERRK - BETEY BB
SHUARKEIR  FRELE
EHMENHERRE - 2 E K
BRBINEBNI B RRRE
AEAEBERYEE -

operations into the Group’s presentation
currency.
Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SRR (AARESIR)
Philippine
2022 g e ;3 RMB uUs$ peso Euro
AR¥ En FEEHLER BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR AR%¥Tn AR%TxR
Cash and cash RekBeE
equivalents EY 14,384 84,784 17,702 17,153
Interest-bearing bank and T ER1T R E b
other borrowings =i - (278,584) - -
Exposure arising from ERREERER
recognised assets EENRR
and liabilities 14,384 (193,800) 17,702 17,153




46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(d)

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, substantially all of the
Group’s assets and liabilities were denominated in
RMB except for the cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB796,254,000, RMB134,117,000,
RMB81,885,000, RMB66,274,000, RMB30,683,000,
RMB10,993,000, RMB5,165,000, RMB3,361,000,
RMB3,298,000, RMB2,512,000, RMB863,000 and
RMB26,000 which were denominated in HKS,
US$, Australian dollars, Indonesian Rupiah, New
Zealand dollar, Singapore dollar, Philippine peso,
Euro, Vietnamese dong, Danish Krone, Great
Britain pound, and Malaysian Ringgit,
respectively. And the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately
RMB12,309,961,000, RMB9,031,998,000,
RMB484,218,000, RMB465,384,000 and
RMB38,817,000 which were denominated in
US$, HK$, Indonesian Rupiah, Australian dollars
and Euro, respectively. In addition, the Group
has currency exposures from its interest-bearing
bank borrowings. The Group has used currency
forward contracts and currency forward swaps
to reduce the exposure to US$ arising from the
bonds.
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(d) SRR @

(i)

S 2 E ] ()

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—
H BRTHEESRERBOER
#“ N R #796,254,0007T
AR®134,117,0007T * AR #E
81,885,0007T * AR#66,274,000
7T AR#30,683,0007C * AR
#10,993,0007T + AR#E5,165,000
7T - AR#3,361,0007T « AR
3,298,0007T + A R ¥2,512,000
7T AR #863,0007T M A R #
26,0007t 2 B BAE T ~ T -
BT ENEJE - AR T~
T FERERLER BT -
Mg FERR EERSE
REAEMERFFTE 2N AE
BREAXDEERABBRHUA
R ABEMN- Bt 8RBT RE
& B 8 A R K
12,309,961,0007T * A R ¥
9,031,998,0007t * A R #&
484,218,0007C + A R &
465,384,000 b A R &
38,817,0007T 7 Al A £ TT ~ 7
T ENEJE Bt R BT Et
B gtoh NREERAGF BIERIT
BEXEEREERR - ANEE
AEBINES D RINERIAE
BEHNRBESFEHHET
B Bz o
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. IBEREEREMIANAR

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEEw

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) HPEEREER

(i) __Sensitivity analysis (i) BRIt R ¥

The following table indicates the instantaneous NRIRERZ AT H it R b 2
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and HHEFIENERT  A&EE
retained profits) and other components of AR E BRE ¥ &= AR R B & Hh
consolidated equity that would arise if foreign BEXRNZBHES SN
exchange rates to which the Group has SEREANE (KRB &
significant exposure at the end of the reporting 4RE RE 2 Y E b 4H AR 2B 0 Y B
period had changed at that date, assuming all MEF -RUtmE  BRE2AET
other risk variables remained constant. In this 53%%2?5%%%@[1%$J:
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate IEETHEMEEHERSE
between the Hong Kong dollar and the United BT E o

States dollar would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against other currencies.

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
RMB rate before tax in equity

ARBER Bt A 7 B R
£ (FR)  #mCAL) B/ (8D)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARWTR

2022 —E—— 5 (6,270) (5,319)
(5) 6,270 5,319
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)
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46. IBEREEREMIAN AR
EBEw

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of
equity securities decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual equity investments classified as
equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Note 23) as at 31 December
2022.

Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) SRR @
(i) __Sensitivity analysis (continued) (i) BUBRIE S ¥ @
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
RMB rate before tax in equity
ARHEE X IRl E
EA TR i 0RO
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFTT ARBTT
2021 —E-—F 5 (37,521) (797,762)
5) 37,521 797,762
Equity price risk (e) MAERLER:

A& A (B 4% 2L e 4 A% 22 45 Sk K & B
BHEBEEHERRAEFLFALET
BRORKR R_T__F+=A
=+—H AEEAHHBRAELR
fBrkE AN AR EEBHEE)
FAEMEERENBRARE (i
23) K E B IR A& & o
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. IR BREEREMIAN AR
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEEw
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Equity price risk (continued) () MARERLRELE @
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to TRETEEMAMEAZERERT
every 5% change in the fair values of the equity FHHARFTARAREHZENBTRLT -
investments, with all other variables held constant and BRAEERRE ARG RE AR
before any impact on tax, based on their carrying HE REAREARETEHS%KH
amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the BRE - A2 HTmME - KRR
purpose of this analysis, for the equity investments, B - RANeREESHREEENY
the impact is deemed to be on the financial assets 2 WEGRAIEFEFREERRD
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors EZx= - flnREE -
such as impairment which might impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2022 — g investments equity
% 75 3% & 19
BREE % 7 48 B
RMB RMB
ARET R AR®T
Listed equity investments ERAEE 34,625 1,731
Carrying amount
of equity
2021 —E-—%F investments Change in equity
N =N
REE PN
RMB RMB
ARETT ARETT
Listed equity investments EHERAEE 33,945 1,697
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46. IBEREEREMIAN AR
EBEw

(f)  Fair value measurement H BrEFE
(i) __Financial assets and liabilities measured at () UAREFEHTHEERE
fair value &
Fair value hierarchy DNAEER

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of

TREINAEE LT MR R
THRREAAEHESRTA
REE LIHBERT RS
EHFEABRAAL B ENTEE
DER=EEHR - AAEFE
MERDBEHIZETIGET
ARAEENAERREERE
ZEMmE

the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

e |evel 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date

EFEAE —RBAZEGIEREENBENGE BEERT IS ARLH
BRE)FENAAE

£—MEE

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available
EAE _RBARE (BIRERESE —RRENATBEENEARE - BX
KAEATAHESEABB)AENAAE TABEHARBRETS
IR I A BB

£ MIEE

e |evel 3 valuations:

E=MAEME :

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

EREATAERGARBITENRIAE
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. BIBEBREERESRIANAA

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEw
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
() Fair value measurement (continued) H DBAREFEw@
(i) __ Financial assets and liabilities measured at URAREGEN HEERE
fair value (continued) @
Fair value hierarchy (continued) R EER &

Fair value measurements as at

31 December 2022 categorised into
BE-E--F+-A=+—-HLK

AREFESE

Fair value at

31 December
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

R=-T=-—

+t=A=t-~H
WARE £-8 g E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARMTRE ARMTR ARMT:

Recurring fair value KEMARETE
measurement
Financial assets: TREE
Listed equity investments EmRERE 34,625 34,625 - -
Unlisted equity investments FEEMRRERE 500,503 - - 500,503
Short-term investment deposits 58 B & 17 X 5,390,522 - - 5,390,522
Derivative financial instruments MTESEMIA 480,341 - 480,341 -
Bills receivable e 133,536 = 133,536 -
6,539,527 34,625 613,877 5,891,025
Financial liabilities: SRAE
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA 36,477 - 36,477 -
Exchangeable bonds ARM]ER 615,643 - 615,643 -
Put liability of non-controlling FHERR R 2R
interest — ANI SHET — ANI 61,301 - - 61,301
Financial liability arising from the — F#{EEE £/ &/
Compensation Right =L 23,658 - - 23,658
737,079 = 652,120 84,959
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46. I EREERERMIANAR
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEEw
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at ()  URAREFEHNELHEERE

fair value (continued) ZE (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) R EER &

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into
BE-_Z_—F+-A=+—BLt

MRRBEFESHE
Fair value at
31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZZB_—%
+=ZRA=+—H
NARE E—& F_H F=H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
Recurring fair value REMAABGE
measurement
Financial assets: SREE:
Listed equity investments EmkERE 33,945 33,945 — -
Unlisted equity investments FEEMRIERE 69,107 = = 69,107
Unlisted equity investment in BfsRRh B R B
Guangze with put options I ETRERE 466,726 = = 466,726
Short-term investment deposits MEIR BT 3,259,537 = = 3,259,537
Derivative financial instruments PTHESMIA 13,020 = 13,020 =
Bills receivable [EU R 1% 97,398 = 97,398 =
3,939,733 33,945 110,418 3,795,370
Financial liabilities: SRAE
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA 37,544 = 37,544 —
Exchangeable bonds ARBES 672,273 = 672,273 —
Put liability of non-controlling R R AE R 2 R
interest — Low temperature HEME — KR 1,208,800 = = 1,203,800
Put liability of non-controlling R R AE R 2 R
interest — ANI SHEE — ANI 406,698 = = 406,698
Financial liability arising from the — E#ERELNSR
Compensation Right =N 885,368 = = 885,368
3,205,683 — 709,817 2,495,866
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

(f)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2022, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 2 fair value
measurements

The Group enters into derivative financial
instruments with various counterparties,
principally established commodity trading
exchanges or financial institutions with good
credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments,
including interest rate swaps, forward currency
contracts and interest rate forward contracts,
are measured using quoted prices from financial
institutions with which the interest rate swaps,
forward currency contracts and interest rate
forward contracts are entered into. The carrying
amounts of interest rate swaps, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward
contracts are the same as their fair values.

The fair value of bills receivable approximates to
their carrying amounts due to the short-term
maturities.

The fair value of exchangeable bonds is
measured using binomial lattice model and by
reference to quoted prices.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

The valuation model of the fair value of unlisted
equity securities is based on market multiples
derived from quoted prices of companies
comparable to the investee, adjusted for the
effect of the non-marketability of the equity
securities.

MEEREEREMTIANDR

=

==

()

+7H_+ Eii? AV

B ERBEES —

MEAE —

2 REEAS=HX
BE=ZREH -AKENBER

R ERER

Rz EHHER -

AAREBERE

BBE RN B EHEF

AEBBEZEHFHALITE
ERMIR FEAKAMNEA
EEFRRINBARESIRS
ke mEE - MEXEHRE
# - BEHIMER RN XER

& tEiE

TRIE - JifER

HETVABAMEEHREL
EHINEAURMEEREHN
S BEENRETE - M=
EBAH  EBMINES K RF
KEHAEHOMEEEREAAE

AR -

R EREERE RN E
BHEAREEREERS

AXBEFNAAREBEINER
EAHEFERAL2ERE

8

BBE=RA7 B EHEH

FLETREREAR
BEADRBEITESERRET
AL RARRENTIHEH (S
BiEEFRZ TS RBIENT

EFELAR)

FH -

ErfhE



46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

I N STR U M E NTS (continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)
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BEEREEREBMIAENAR

BEw

H AAREFEw
Financial assets and liabilities measured at ] HURAAEGTER T FE =]
fair value (continued) ZE (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value BEEE =R B EREF
measurements (continued) (%)
The following table shows the valuation TRIINEECEPIRETRIK
techniques used in the determination of fair Hibhs raﬂi% BAR Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 9 1
values of short-term investment deposits and TE&TTT (BRAABEEBRMNE=
other financial liabilities which fall within level 3 &) KAk {EFT A E’JEKT B
of the fair value hierarchy, as well as the i ABUE ©
significant unobservable inputs used in the
valuation.
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EAFABE
BRI WARE &E BABBHALENEE
Short-term Discounted cash flow  Expected yield 1.60% to 10% increase/decrease in expected yield would
investment method R & 4.40% result in increase/decrease in fair value by
deposits NRBESNE 1.60% % RMB3,042,000
RHARAGER 4.40% BERRERE N, FO10%HEHAA BRI/
A ARES,042,0007T
Discount rate 1.60% to 10% increase/decrease in discount rate would
H % 4.40% result in decrease/increase in fair value by
1.60% % RMB1,336,000 and RMB1,337,000,
4.40% respectively
FREEM,/HO10%HEBRLESRIFHD/
0 AR #1,336,0007T 2 A R #1,337,000
T
Put liability of Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 10.00% 10% increase/decrease in discount rate would
non-controlling method R = result in decrease/increase in fair value by
interests — ANI TREEREE RMB11,357,000 and RMB14,667,000,
BB RER respectively
SHEE — ANI FEREEN,FA10%EERRABABHL/
i*bu/\E%ﬂ,ss?,ooofz&)\EM
14,667,0007C
Financial liability Binomial lattice Expected 7.06% 10% increase/decrease in volatility would result
arising from the model volatility in increase/decrease in fair value by
Compensation ZIEAMEELS BHR B RMB5,870,000 and RMB5,463,000,
Right respectively
REEEELENSR BHREEM/ R 10%EERA K ER B
BfE 0/ m> AR#5,870,0007 R AR K

5,463,0007C
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 46.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

I N STR U M E NTS (continued)

() Fair value measurement (continued)

() Financial assets and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements (continued)

The movement during the year in the balance of
Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

BEEREEREBMIANAR

BEw

EHEZRAA R BHER

(%)

—Z=-=
RMB’000
AR¥ TR

Unlisted equity investments: EETRERE :
At 1 January Hn—H—H 69,107 250,410
Business combination (Note 41) XA G (MI=E41) 227,295 (225,132)
Capitalisation of entrusted loans R ERER 141,153 —
Investment "E 61,677 45,155
Changes in fair value recognised in profit & AR B 2E K FERH

or loss during the year NRAEEE 1,271 (1,326)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 500,503 69,107
Unlisted equity investments in Guangze Bt A5 500 ERRE A 1A

with put options: BERIE LT

®E

At 1 January n—HA—AH 466,726 470,076
Changes in fair value recognised in profit AR 1Bz & R A

or loss during the year NAEEE (9,083) (3,350)
Derecognised as part of consideration of  #X |F &R AU EE T

acquisition a subsidiary NAIE D KE (457,643) —
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H” — 466,726
Investment deposits: TEFR
At 1 January “—HA—8 3,259,537 6,858,012
Business combination (Note 41) ¥%E 0 (Fiaka1) 1,742,695 —
Purchases #e 23,991,900 19,259,538
Changes in fair value recognised in profit — FRNIEZERERL

or loss during the year N EE 30,655 =
Exchange realignment EH AR 2,605 =
Disposal HE (23,636,870) (22,858,013)
At 31 December Rt=A=+—~ 5,390,522 3,259,537
Put liability of non-controlling interest PR AR R 2 2 3R

— Low temperature HEE — KR
At 1 January w—A—H 1,203,800 1,600,200
Changes in fair value recognised in other 4 P £ 7% & FE R

reserves during the year NAREE (3,800) (396,400)
Redemption fE g (1,200,000) =
At 31 December R+=A=+—H = 1,203,800




46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
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fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

& )

)

() HUAAEFBHEHEERE
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46. NBEAREEREMIANAR

BBE=RA7 B EHNEH

()

2022 2021
—E-= —T - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AREF T
Put liability of non-controlling interest FEFERRAR R 2 2 3R
— ANI HEMFE — ANI
At 1 January Kn—H—H 406,698 —
Recognised as part of acquisition of RAEWETRAMN
subsidiaries — 5 = 407,443
Changes in fair value recognised in other 4 AR E i # FER
reserves during the year KRR EEE) 16,805 =
Redemption e (362,202) (745)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 61,301 406,698
Financial liability arising from the AfEEEENSR
Compensation Right: afE:
At 1 January Rn—HA—H 885,368 —
Recognised as part of acquisition of R ABWEREE D
investment in associates A2 RER—HH = 1,518,068
Changes in fair value recognised in profit FERRIERERH LD
or loss during the year REEE (861,710) (632,700)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 23,658 885,368
Total gains for the year included in profit A& FERT AEBZ
or loss for assets and liabilities held at HATRHEEREE
the end of the reporting year F AW BT 884,553 631,374
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46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f)

(9)

Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) __Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
were not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2022.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021.

46.

BEEREEREBMIANAR

=

==

(f)

(9)

()

NREFEw®

(i) R AEUIEIF B R %
BEEREEHAL
7N 2 B DABK AN 3 B8R K AN 51 BR
MeMTARBE BERZ
- —F+-A=+—H8k=
E-__F+-_A=+—HHAR
REVESEAEE -

EXREE
AEBERAEENERNBRDERA
SEBBELENRENERIERENE
AR UXHHEEBRESRRE
8o

AEEEBREENERE  WHELHE
RIEMEC REREEENRRIFRIE
HAAE - BBFRAREAEE &
EEAESFHBIRMT FRENRE
RERAE RO R ETHR - HEZ
E__&+-_A=t+—HERZ=ZZT=—
F+-_A=+—HLEFE FEER
EERMBEE BRBEFIEE -



46 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(9)

Capital management (continueq)

=

==

(9)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than convertible bonds), trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, and other
financial liabilities, less cash and bank balances and

long-term time deposits,
groups. Capital

and excludes disposal
represents convertible bonds and

equity attributable to owners of the Company. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods

were as follows:
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46. NBEAREEREMIANAR

()

EXEE @
AEBUERBBELREZEER &
AEELERFE ERAERLRE N
EFEEZM - FABEBETEIRT
FEMEE (TEETBRRES) « &
HERF R EE - R RIBERTER
B UAEMEmEE  BRREK
RITHEFEARATHER X E1E
BEM - EXRERRESKARF
B ANEEEZ -  RFREHRHER
BELERNT

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than convertible
bonds)

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accruals

Other financial liabilities — current
Other financial liabilities

— non-current
Less: Cash and bank balances
Less: Long-term time deposits

AFRRITREMER
(T EEATBRRES)

R R RIS
B A7 14 BOR R TR 1R
B

K SWEE — 78
K% M AR

— 3R

A RERRITET
B R R

2022 2021
—=E== —EB=-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
35,200,974 23,051,812
10,200,635 8,803,902
13,581,433 14,576,417
= 1,203,800

84,959 1,292,066
(12,765,829) (11,216,861)

(18,071,469)

(10,950,072)

Net debt FAE 28,230,703 26,761,064
Equity attributable to owners of ZAYNGIE: £33
the Company G R 40,098,540 36,825,784
Convertible bonds AR AR E 5 3,907,631 3,981,115
_Adjusted capital KRR A R 44,006,171 40,806,899
_ Capital and net debt AR FEE (F 72,236,874 67,567,963
Gearing ratio BARBFEE 39.08% 39.61%
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47 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 47. SEHIREE

320

PERIOD

The Dumex China Disposal as detailed in Note 43 was
completed on 2 March 2023 in accordance with the equity
transfer agreement. Upon the completion of the disposal,
the Company has ceased to hold any interest in Dumex
China, and Dumex China has ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Company. Accordingly, the financial results of Dumex
China will no longer be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Following the completion
of the Dumex China Disposal, Inner Mongolia Mengniu had
paid RMB200,000,000 to Danone in accordance with the
relevant master equity transfer agreement for the Chilled
Business JVs Acquisition.

The 25% Yashili Acquisition has completed on 9 March
2023. As a result, as of the date of this report, the
Company holds an approximately 76.04% interest in Yashili.

Mo sE43FTRF il ) % 202 B & RARIE AR
EEEGEN T _=F=A-HEMK-
HERTKE  ARARTBEAZEETD
BTz 22 4PBRTBAEEAR A
HFAR) - At - ZEZF RIS EES
TEHALAEENGEMBREK - ZE%
PFERHERERE  AEHRFERER
BEEALATNERNEERESZR
1% A1 Danone X 15F A R % 200,000,000 7T ©

5% HELEFWBEBRA_ZE_=F=ANH
SR e Bt BHEAREBH C AQREFE
W+ F 4)76.04% % 1 o
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48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48 KRN FHBEMRREK
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E—= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R 34 47
Investments in subsidiaries RTFRRRRE 19,404,866 19,658,902
Investments in associates REEZ N AR E 2,700,305 2,502,702
Derivative financial instruments fTE€mI A 474,718 11,119
Other financial assets Hih & mEE 34,625 33,945
Loans to subsidiaries EXFTAF 6,093,226 3,145,152
Total non-current assets RERBEE 28,707,774 25,351,867
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TR - E R UCRIE K
other assets H fth & e 1,424,078 960,619
Loans to subsidiaries = G /NG 2,483,401 3,480,422
Cash and bank balances Be RRTER 709,233 796,875
Total current assets BREEE 4,616,712 5,237,916
Current liabilities nEEE
Loans from subsidiaries KEFRARNER 61,335 4,045
Other payables and accruals Hoth & 15 5118 KR T 1R
EH 83,951 126,193
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STEBRAREMEER 3,051,337 1,000,000
Derivative financial instruments TEemITE 20,083 —
Total current liabilities BRBEE 3,216,706 1,130,238
Net current assets REEETFHE 1,400,006 4,107,678
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 30,107,780 29,459,545
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48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48 QTR R K
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STESBRTREMBEE 22,130,430 21,086,593
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE = 6,441
Derivative financial instruments TEemTHE 9,801 36,305
Total non-current liabilities BERBEE 22,140,231 21,129,339
Net assets FEE 7,967,549 8,330,206
Equity EE
Share capital %N 359,948 359,774
Treasury shares held under the share award REREE T RHARE
scheme 1D (175,701) (29,244)
Reserves fFf 7,783,302 7,999,676
Total equity MR 7,967,549 8,330,206
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors LEEERN_ZE-_=F=A =+ NhBH#E
on 29 March 2023. KBTI o
Chen Lang Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
PR BA E 8k
Director Director
EBE -
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OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

48 AQXTFMBEMRRER @

CEX
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Fair value
reserve of

financial assets
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Foreign at fair value
currency through other Share option
Share  Contributed translation comprehensive  Accumulated reserve/share Hedging
premium surplus  differences income losses award reserve reserve
BAREFA
Ap2EUEN
SREEL BRERSE/
R EE BHBH% EWREZE  DRERK ZHEE  RERBRG HARRE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR  ARMTR  AR®Tn  ARETn  AR%Trn  ARETR  AR%TR  ARETR
Note (a)
M)
A1 Janvary 2022 W-E--&-f-A 10,455,076 3757 (657192 (5451  (1,970,584) 169,571 (49318 7,999,676
Loss for the year FERR = = = = (780,403) = = (780,403)
Changes in fair value of equity investments BEANALEHEELEY
designated at fair value through other FARB2ERENRA
comprehensive income, net of tax REMALERY Nk
HA = ] = 680 CJ o S 680
Exchange differences on exchanges NEFEEE - - 934,769 - - - - 934,769
Effective portion of changes in fair value of REAFHRIEARERD
hedging instruments arising during the year HERSH S - 15,942 - - - 454,077 470,019
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEENEEE S S 950,711 680 (780,403) = 454077 625,065
Fair value amortisation of share-based payment MRREFIRAARRNX
component of the convertiole bonds e £ = = = - - 555,083 - 555,083
Transfer upon lapse of share-based payment TRREFNARGBERNS
component of the convertiole bonds BERIEFS il = = = = 1,268 (1,268) = =
Shares issued under equity-settled share option BEARGZANERER
arrangements Bkt 26,860 - - - - - - 26,360
Fair value amortisation of equity-Settled share MRAX A OBREZENA
option arrangements AERH = = - - - 58,844 - 58,844
Transfer of share option reserve upon exercise of 1T BRIEE S BRIERE
share options 7,366 = = = = (7,366) = =
Fair value amortisation of share award scheme RELBHENHALERE - - - - - 131,932 - 131,932
Shares vested under share award scheme RERZ R ESRORN 47,402 - - - - (154,891) - (107,489)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERARAEEARNRE (1,506,669) - = = = = = (1,506,669)
(1,425,041) - - - 1268 5823 - ()
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=A=1-R 9,030,035 387,574 293,519 (334,771) (2,749,719) 751,905 404,759 7,783,302
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48 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

48 AP B MBEAR R T

fisE - ()

Fair value reserve
of financlal
assets at fair
value through

Foreign currency other Share option
Share Contributed translation ~ comprehensive  Accumulated  reserve/share
premium surplus differences income losses  award reserve Hedging reserve Total
BAREHA
A2 ARG
SHAEZ BIRERE/
RIAEE ERRG EXREEE  DiERE ZithE RO RBEE Hinkt @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETT  ARETT ARETT  ARETR
Note (a)
Kii(a)
At 1 January 2021 W=2=-%5-f-A 11,396,786 387,574 (443,793) (260,651) (1,640,653) 191,431 (58,874) 9,571,820
Loss for the year TFER - - - - (329,931) - - (329,931)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: REEMRESE
Changes in fair value of equity investments BEANMAEHEELEY
designated at fair value through other AR EREHRE
comprehensive income, net of tax RENAREED 1R
BE = = = (74,800) = = = 74,800
Exchange differences between functional MR ERREREHNES
currency and presentation currency 28 - = (213,178) - - - = (213,178)
Cash flow hedges, net of tax ReREHH  NRHE = = (221) = = = 9,55 9,335
Total comprehensive income for the year FREANELE = = (213,399) (74,800) (329,931) = 9,55 (608,574)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option BEARDZAOERERH
amangements Bkt 98,418 = = = = 8,519 - 106,937
Fair value amortisation of equity-settled share MRAX A NBRERENA
option arrangements AERH = = = = = 49 - 495
Transfer of share option reserve upon exercise of T BRIER S BRERE
share options 30,874 - - - - (30,874) - -
Fair value amortisation of the share award BRELBHEAO AL EHE
scheme - - - - - - - -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BRAATEFARARE (1,071,002) = = = = = = (1,071,002)
©41,710) = = = = (21,860) - 963570)
At 31 December 2021 WoB-—4+-A=+-E 10,455,076 387,574 @719 (%5451 (1970584 169,571 (#9318 7990676
Note: B &

(@) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation
and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued

in exchange therefor.

@) ARRNEHBHEREEBEHEMKE
FRAANERAHEEFERLARFRB
B a6 EEFEMETRONEER
BEHR ©
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49 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 49 HEZE-—ZE-_—f+=-A=+—H
NEW STANDARDS AND I FEEBEMGEERERNE
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT Al FEARRENEERE
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEZSUBHRETIZEH  BHEeE
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standard, AEEgCMMEZIEFE LSBT LR
which are not yet effective for the year ended BREE_TE-_—_F+-_A=+—HIF
31 December 2022 and which have not been adopted in ERARENBAEBEWENZERBEHRE
these financial statements. These developments include the RN - BRAZE R BTG B AN & E ME e
following which may be relevant to the Group. ATN&IE !
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
KA BEsk 2 &
FE B & 5T B3 A R
IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
BlR  is sk EERISE179R - (REE A 4T —E-=%—H—H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of 1 January 2024
liabilities as current or non-current
Bl @t R F1RAER]  HBEHEXNES - 7B nE LI TEE E —ENFE—HA—H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and IFRS Practice 1 January 2023

Statement 2, Making maz‘er/a//z‘y Judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies
R EBE1RAMEE] A BFHLNZ5REREMBREENEBERES 2% —T_=F—H—H
EHIE /ﬁﬁ%ﬁ/&f#]&f CBATHE B E

Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and 1 January 2023
errors: Definition of accounting estimates

BER s ERIESKMIER] - BFEHE - B A EHRER B 1G5 0EE —ZT-_=F—H—H

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 1 January 2023
arising from a single transaction

REFTERFE12EER]  MEH  HE—XGELNEERE EH B L) EL —E-=%—H—H
wE
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49

50

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (continuea)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2023.

49

50

BE_F—_—Ht-H=t+—H
IF 5 5 B F A 18 R A R A0S
A MEARRENEEREw

NEEEEFHZSETHORRAEM
WIEHRE - BRIALLNEHRE © FRZS
BRI EHRANBRREEEAY
@,

#EFHRE

BEegRN-_E-_=FE=A-t+hBHtE
K13 4 T B B TS Rk o



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Rl if53 IR &8

The following is a summary of the published audited financial
statements of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries for the respective years.

RESULTS

Revenue ON

Profit before tax BRI

Income tax expense PR

Profit for the year REE

Attributable to: A& e :
Owners of the Company ARAERRR
Non-controlling interests FEVERR R R A 2R

Proposed dividend BIRRE

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary AAREBBRERRR
equity holders of the Company (RMB) EiEERAF
(Note () (ARE) ()

For profit for the year KERE
— Basic - &R
— Diluted o

2022
o=

—_—

RMB’000
ARBTTR

92,593,322
6,502,353
(1,317,549)
5,184,804

5,302,972
(118,168)
1,589,989

1.342
1.336

Annual Report 2022 Zg:iiﬁiiﬁ”

TIHRFEASFAXEARARA ([ARF]) REF
RANTINSFEEEMOEELZIFHRERME -

E 4

Year ended

BEZLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018
% —TZZF —T-NE —T-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETT
88,141,475 76,034,844 79,029,856 68,977,066
5,868,168 4,154,786 5,605,447 3,852,722
(904,510) (653,193) (1,309,532) (649,001)
4,963,658 3,501,593 4,295,915 3,203,721
5,025,537 3,525,044 4,105,437 3,043,030
(61,879) (23,451) 190,478 160,691
1,506,161 1,058,093 712,238 710,915
1.274 0.897 1.049 0.779
1.267 0.892 1.046 0.778
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il 75 181 &
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE -BERER
At 31 December
R+=A=+-AH
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
it T —Z-ZF —T-HE —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

INSLERH ARETR ARBTR ARETRE ARET:R

Total assets BEE 98,101,344 80,146,240 78,537,405 66,457,257
Total liabilities BaE 56,101,912 42,898,681 45,190,068 35,992,978
Equity attributable to owners AARERRREGE R
of the Company 36,825,784 32,982,642 29132284  25212,364
Non-controlling interests FEERIR R 5,173,648 4,264,917 4,215,053 5,251,915
Note: M aE -

0] The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to (i) AATEBRERRRENSRAFNGTEREE
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in Note 13 to the BRI E M RERME1S -
consolidated financial statements.
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